Public Document Pack
Agenda for Cabinet
Wednesday, 30th September, 2020, 6.00 pm
Members of Cabinet
Councillors M Armstrong, P Arnott (Chairman), P Hayward
(Vice-Chairman), J Bailey, G Jung, D Ledger,
P Millar, M Rixson, J Rowland and J Loudoun

Venue:

Online via the Zoom App

East Devon District Council
Blackdown House
Border Road
Heathpark Industrial Estate
Honiton
EX14 1EJ
DX 48808 HONITON

Contact:

Debbie Meakin, Democratic Services Officer
01395 517540 or email
dmeakin@eastdevon.gov.uk

Tel: 01404 515616
www.eastdevon.gov.uk

(or group number 01395 517546)
Reissued Tuesday, 22 September 2020
Important - this meeting will be conducted online and recorded by Zoom only.
Please do not attend Blackdown House.
Members are asked to follow the Protocol for Remote Meetings
This meeting is being recorded by EDDC for subsequent publication on the Council’s
website and will be streamed live to the Council’s Youtube Channel at
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw
Public speakers are now required to register to speak – for more information please use
the following link: https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-atmeetings/all-other-virtual-public-meetings/#article-content
1

Public speaking
Information on public speaking is available online

2

Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 14)

3

Apologies

4

Declarations of interest
Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making
declarations of interest

5

Late items

Mark Williams, Chief Executive

page 1

Late items have been submitted, and included on the agenda with the approval
of the Leader.
These are:
 Minutes from the Overview Committee of 24 September 2020, listed
under item 24;
 Report on the Acquisition of Ocean Blue, The Esplanade, Exmouth – Process


6

followed and business case for acquisition, listed under item 25;
Minutes from the Housing Review Board of 17 September 2020, listed under
item 26.

Confidential/exempt item(s)
To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the Press) have
been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt
with in this way.

7

Forward Plan (Pages 15 - 16)

8

Minutes of Scrutiny Committee held on 21 May 2020 (Pages 17 - 21)

9

Minutes of Community Grant Panel held on 1 September 2020 (Pages 22 - 23)

10

Minutes of Strata Joint Scrutiny Committee held on 8 September 2020 (Pages
24 - 33)

11

Minutes of Budget Setting and Capital Allocation Panel held on 16 September
2020 (Pages 34 - 36)

Matters for Decision - Key Decisions
12

Exeter & East Devon Enterprise Zone (Pages 37 - 47)
To provide an updated on the financial position of the Enterprise Zone and seek
approval for additional borrowing against future ring fenced business rate
income. The additional borrowing will allow further investment in supporting
delivery of new commercial space and jobs in the Enterprise Zone, supporting
recovery from Covid 19 and providing opportunities for green growth.

13

COVID-19 Recovery planning (Pages 48 - 54)
This report outlines the work that has and is being progressed to produce a
cohesive approach to East Devon DC’s recovery planning as the district
emerges from the Response stage of Covid-19.

14

Towards Zero Carbon Development in the West End (Pages 55 - 62)
To set out the key issues associated with achieving large scale zero carbon
development in the West End of the District. To provide an overview of the
results of a recently completed feasibility study and to seek endorsement for the
principle of submitting a funding application to the Heat Network Investment
Programme.

page 2

15

Nature Recovery Networks & Re-Wilding projects (Pages 63 - 76)
This report promotes the wider coverage of nature recovery networks and rewilding projects, building on the work undertaken already in some of our green
spaces. It takes the form of a review document with a series of
recommendations to form a policy on nature recovery networks and re-wilding
activity.

Matters for Decision
16

Financial Strategy 2021 - 2031 (Pages 77 - 98)

17

Revenue and Capital Outturn Report 2019-2020 (Pages 99 - 107)
During 2019/20 budget monitoring reports have informed members of budget
variations and the anticipated year-end financial position. This report contains
the final position for the year and compares this outturn position against the
budgets set.

18

Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21 (Pages 108 - 113)
This report gives a summary of the Council’s overall financial position for
2020/21 at the end of month five (31 August 2020).

19

Exeter Airport (Pages 114 - 122)
This report provides an overview of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the
operation of Exeter Airport and sets out a package of support for the Airport.

20

Member Champions (Pages 123 - 129)
For members to consider the possibility of the reintroduction of a small number
of Member Champions.

21

Complaints to the Ombudsman during 2019/20 (Pages 130 - 133)
This report provides information on complaints referred to and decided by the
Local Government and Housing Ombudsman during 2019/20.

22

Protocol for Members Advisory Panels on Planning Matters update (Pages 134
- 138)
The report seeks to review the protocol for Members Advisory Panels on planning
matters to ensure that the protocol is up to date and reflects good practice.

23

Leader's annual report on urgent executive decisions
There were no urgent key decisions taken in the last year.

page 3

24

Minutes of the Overview Committee 24 September 2020 (Pages 139 - 143)
Recommendations from the Overview Committee of 24 September 2020 are
detailed below.
Minute 64 Update on referral of the Cabinet meeting 21 July 2020 (Local
Authority Mental Health Challenge and the Healthy Weight Declaration)
RECOMMENDATIONS:
1. That Cabinet notes that our Public Health Strategic Plan already recognises the
importance of mental as well as physical health
2. That during the Covid-recovery phase we continue to work with our partners
within existing parameters
3. That Cabinet notes that specialist skill sets are required for mental health
interventions; this is the role of the Devon Partnership Trust and other agencies.
EDDC does not have dedicated or experienced officer resource for mental
health
4. As an interim measure to ensure that Members and Officers are signposted to
appropriate support if necessary
5. That surveys are sent to Members and Officers to capture information on the
current state of mental health
6. That Cabinet is requested to consider appointing a lead Officer for mental health
in the organisation in conjunction with the request for a mental health Officer
from the housing service and that Cabinet agrees the recommendation to
appoint a Member Champion for mental health
7. That bespoke training for Members and Officers be provided on mental health.
8. That Cabinet notes the contribution that our activities identified in our Public
Health Strategic Plan make towards encouraging healthy weight
9. That during the Covid-recovery phase we continue to work with our partners
within existing parameters
10. That Cabinet recognises that our partners’ priorities are also changing in
response to Covid-recovery
11. That Cabinet notes that our current priorities do not offer us the scope to afford
additional resourcing at this time, but that this is reviewed after six months

25

Acquisition of Ocean Blue, The Esplanade, Exmouth - Process Followed and
Business Case for Acquisition (Pages 144 - 151)

26

Minutes of the Housing Review Board 17 September 2020 (Pages 152 - 161)
Recommendations summary and full minutes.

Decision making and equalities

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic
Services Team on 01395 517546

page 4

Agenda Item 2
EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held at Online via the Zoom app. on
21 July 2020
Attendance list at end of document
The meeting started at 5.00 pm and ended at 8.40 pm
176 Public speaking
There were no members of the public who had registered to speak.
177

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes of Cabinet held on 18 June 2020 were confirmed as a true record.

178

Declarations of interest
Minute 183 Minutes of Overview Committee held on 27 February 2020.
Councillor Andrew Moulding, Personal, Patron of ARC an organisation in Axminster that
supports people tackling bereavement and mental health.
Minute 183 Minutes of Overview Committee held on 27 February 2020.
Councillor Ian Hall, Personal, Vice-chairman of ARC, a Devon County Councillor and a
mental health champion for DCC.
Minute 189 Pavement Licences - Business and Planning Act 2020.
Councillor Steve Gazzard, Personal, has booked an event in the Strand, Exmouth in
September 2020.
Minute 191 Panels, Forums, Joint Bodies and Outside Bodies.
Councillor Steve Gazzard, Personal, is the Mayor of Exmouth.
Minute 193 Newton Poppleford & Harpford Neighbourhood Plan Submission.
Councillor Paul Hayward, Personal, is the clerk to Newton Poppleford and Harpford
parish council and has been involved with the creation of this plan.

179

Matters of urgency
None

180

Confidential/exempt item(s)
There were no items that officers recommended should be dealt with in this way.

181

Forward Plan
Members agreed the contents of the Forward Plan for key decisions for the period
1 August to 30 November 2020.

182

Minutes of Arts and Culture Forum held on 26 February 2020
Members received and noted the Minutes of Arts and Culture Forum held on 26 February
2020.
page 5

Cabinet 21 July 2020

183

Minutes of Overview Committee held on 27 February 2020
Members received and noted the Minutes of Overview Committee held on 27 February
2020.
RESOLVED that the following recommendations be agreed:
Minute 57 Motions referred to Overview under Procedural Rule 10.4
1. Cabinet recognises the importance of mental health and healthy weight but
considers that the Overview Committee should consider the matter further having
fully scoped the issues (including areas of responsibility, relevant powers,
resourcing and funding) and on the basis of officer reports before making further
recommendations to Cabinet.
2. The Democracy and Transparency Portfolio Holder to review the role of Lead
Members / Member Champions which should include consideration of a role in
relation to mental health.

184

Minutes of Scrutiny Committee held on 5 March 2020
Members received and noted the Minutes of Scrutiny Committee held on 5 March 2020.
There was a discussion on Queen’s Drive Exmouth and it was agreed a report would be
sent to Cabinet in October to update and reflect the present position and how to move
forward due to the change of circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 situation.

185

Minutes from Strata Joint Executive Committee held on 16 June
2020
Members received and noted the Minutes from Strata Joint Executive Committee held on
16 June 2020.
RESOLVED that the following be RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
Minute 21 Strata Business Plan 2020/21 and beyond
the three councils formally ratify the Strata Business Plan 2020/21 and beyond.

186

Programme of meetings September 2020 to May 2021- DRAFT
The Cabinet considered the proposed timetable of meetings for the next Council year.
The Portfolio Holder Democracy and Transparency wished for it to be noted that the
principle of meetings should not be held in the school holidays with regular breaks for
councillors.
Councillor Steve Gazzard; supported whole-heartedly by the Chairman and rest of the
Members, wished to show their gratitude and thanks to all staff of the Council for the
extraordinary amount of work they were doing and had been since March, in these
unique and difficult times.

page 6

Cabinet 21 July 2020

RESOLVED
that the meeting programme be followed and also forwarded to Council for it to note and
agree.
187

Financial implications of COVID-19 on the Council's budget
The Strategic Lead Finance presented the report that followed on from the briefing note
issued to all members in April on the financial implications of Covid-19.
An update to that position provided including consideration of the Governments recent
announcement of additional funding to local authorities.
The Chairman thanked Simon Davey and Councillor Jack Rowland for their hard efforts
in working together to get to this improved financial position.
The Portfolio Holder Finance stated the Council’s income stream had improved sooner
than expected with additional funding from Government to cover lost income as well as
income from car parks and green waste collections.
Discussions included the following:
 A £1m deficit was still a big gap in the budget to fill
 Suez was working hard to cover extra workloads with StreetScene providing all
services and more
 More toilets needed to be open to assist in the recovery of businesses in the area
RESOLVED that Cabinet:
1. note the updated position on the Council’s finances
2. note a further report will be brought to Cabinet in September with
recommendations to address the current year budget deficit, reflect on any priority
spend changes by the new administration and consider the financial shortfall in
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.
REASON:
The Council has an overspend in 2020/21 due to the implications of Covid-19. Members
had to understand the position and consider actions needed to address the issue.

188

New Feniton Flood Alleviation Scheme
The Strategic Lead Housing, Health and Environment presented the report which set out
to confirm the delay of the implementation of Phase 3 until a possession window is
available in 2021. Although this risks further delay to the project, it gave time to get all
funding signed off and other cost savings investigated. The aim then was to have a fully
funded project before committing significant funds towards a part completion.
Councillor Susie Bond wished to thank Tom Buxton-Smith for his tenacity in seeing this
through to the end as well as Councillor Geoff Jung for his support in this matter.
RESOLVED that Cabinet:
1. confirm the decision to postpone the delivery of Phase 3 of the flood alleviation
scheme (being the newly proposed October 2020 undertrack crossing) until the whole
project including phase 4 is fully funded, on the basis of an emerging cost basis
contract subject to the Environment Agency confirming the availability of the
additional funding as detailed in the report,
page 7

Cabinet 21 July 2020

2. delegate authority to the Strategic Lead (Housing, Health and Environment) in
consultation with the Strategic Lead (Governance and Licensing) to negotiate and
enter into the emerging costs basis contract with Network Rail and its contractor to
deliver Phase 3 once additional funding has been secured,
3. agree that Phase 4 of the flood alleviation scheme (being the linking up and
completing the project) be scheduled for delivery in 2021/22, to allow sufficient time to
apply for further Government grants and plan and procure the project for a summer
construction. A further report would detail the precise delivery date,
4. a section of phase 4 could be built this autumn to reduce some flood risk to Feniton;
should the plan be viable and not incur significant additional project cost or risk.
REASON:
As it stands, the project budget was only sufficient to complete Phase 3 (under track
crossing) but insufficient to complete Phase 4, without further applications for Central
Government grant money. The application for the additional funds to realise Phase 4
would not be submitted or approved prior to the last mobilisation date (03 July 2020) for
Network Rail to deliver the Phase 3 under track crossing this year (and thus EDDC be
committing to completing phase 4, should it complete phase 3). Indications from the
Environment Agency have been positive that more funding should be available to allow
Phase 4 to proceed.
Much time and effort had gone into securing the May 2020 under track crossing,
however this was postponed due to the unknowns surrounding the Covid-19 pandemic. It
was understood there were no further possession windows planned in 2020, however
Network Rail recently identified an October 2020 possession. This possession window
would not delay our project and still allow for a 2021 construction of Phase 4. Network
Rail had advised they had no further planned possessions in financial year 2020/21 so
we would be looking at financial year 2021/22 for the next available date. There was a
good chance this would likely lead to a significant delay to Phase 4.
The project would benefit more than 70 properties in Feniton as well as providing relief
from the anxiety of the ever present flood risk. It was understood that the project was
eligible for further Central Government Grant money, however this was not yet formally
signed off. The risk to EDDC was that Phase 3 was built and if Phase 4 was not funded,
the project had wasted £770k for an unconnected culvert under the railway and offering
no flood risk reduction to Feniton. Or alternately EDDC would therefore need to find
another £1.5m to complete the project. The top section of Phase 4, an attenuation pond
could be built in advance of Phase 3 to offer a small reduction of flood risk to Feniton,
whilst waiting for full funding to be agreed however this comes with various risks.
189

Pavement Licences - Business and Planning Act 2020
The Strategic Lead Governance and Licensing informed Members of the changes to the
issuing of pavement licences that would be brought in as part of Business and Planning
Act 2020 (when enacted) as part of the Government’s economic recovery and growth
agenda in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. The Act would pass the responsibility of
consulting and issuing pavement licences on the public highway to District Councils in
England requiring a decision within a very tight timeframe (14 days from application to
decision). The Council needed to put in place authority for dealing with these
applications.
page 8

Cabinet 21 July 2020

Members were informed that it looked like the Act would prevent this from being the
responsibility of the Cabinet, which wasn’t the case when the report was written.
Members were therefore asked to resolve an alternative position in case it needed to be
considered by the Licensing & Enforcement Committee. In addition there were
amendments to conditions in Appendix 1 to include Devon County Council in No.9 and
that revocation of a licence would not benefit from any refund in No.30.
Councillor Joe Whibley wished to commend officers for their hard work over the last
week as it had not been easy for all concerned in a licensing issue in Exmouth.
RESOLVED that Cabinet:
Recommendation A
That in the event the issuing of a pavement licence is an Executive Function then
Cabinet;
1. Notes the content of the report, in particular the process that District Councils will
have to adopt in issuing pavement licences to businesses within the District, which
is 14 days (10 working days) to include the statutory consultation period and the
granting or rejection of the licence application.
2. Agrees the application process that East Devon will follow to determine these
applications including the consultations that will take place and the local
conditions (Appendix 1 with Conditions 9 & 30 amended as detailed) that will be
imposed on any grant.
3. Gives delegated authority to the Strategic Lead (Governance and Licensing) to
determine pavement licence applications under the Business and Planning Act
2020 together with imposing such additional conditions as may be deemed
necessary as well as to take enforcement action including revocation of licences
where considered appropriate to do so.
4. Agrees that the Council will charge the maximum fee of £100 for the consideration
of each application for a licence.
5. Agrees the recruitment of a Grade 5 post on a fixed term (6 month) basis to
support the administration of this new service.
6. Gives authority to the Strategic Lead (Governance and Licensing) in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder for Coast, County and Environment to make any
necessary amendments to the process and local conditions which arise.
Recommendation B
That in the event the Act precludes the issuing of a pavement licence from being an
Executive Function then Cabinet;
1. Notes the content of the report, in particular the process that District Councils will
have to adopt in issuing pavement licences to businesses within the District, which
is 14 days (10 working days) to include the statutory consultation period and the
granting or rejection of the licence application.
recommends to the Licensing & Enforcement Committee to;
2. Agree the application process that East Devon will follow to determine these
applications including the consultations that will take place and the local
conditions (Appendix 1 with Conditions 9 & 30 amended as detailed) that will be
imposed on any grant.
3. Give delegated authority to the Strategic Lead (Governance and Licensing) to
determine pavement licence applications under the Business and Planning Act
2020 together with imposing such additional conditions as may be deemed
necessary as well as to take enforcement action including revocation of licences
where considered appropriate to do so.
page 9

Cabinet 21 July 2020

4. Agree that the Council will charge the maximum fee of £100 for the consideration
of each application for a licence.
5. Agree the recruitment of a Grade 5 post on a fixed term (6 month) basis to support
the administration of this new service.
6. Give authority to the Strategic Lead (Governance and Licensing) in consultation
with the Chairman of the Licensing & Enforcement Committee and the Portfolio
Holder for Coast, County and Environment to make any necessary amendments
to the process and local conditions which arise.
REASON:
Efficient and time critical administration of a new service which a District Council must
provide.
190

Sitting-out licences
The Service Lead, Place Assets & Commercialisation informed Members that as part of
the Business and Planning Act 2020 which was expected to be enacted towards the end
of July, the Council would take on responsibility for administering Pavement Licences to
allow hospitality businesses to place tables and chairs and other furniture on the highway
adjacent to their premises. Members had considered a separate report outlining the
proposed processes.
RESOLVED that Cabinet agree to:
1. the approach to requests for sitting-out licences on Council owned land follow the
same broad process to that for pavement licences,
2. the fee for such licences would be £100, and
3. Streetscene administer these licences using the standard form licence provided
by Legal Services.
REASON:
To ensure an efficient and consistent approach to applications for use of outdoor space
which would allow businesses to continue trading whilst complying with government
guidance.

191

Panels, Forums, Joint Bodies and Outside Bodies
The Monitoring Officer advised that following the Extraordinary General Meeting of
Council on 24 June 2020 and the related decisions taken at the meeting. The next stage
of the appointments process was to nominate and appoint to the Panels, Forums, Joint
Bodies and Outside Bodies.
There were a few amendments to these appointments;
 The CIL working group’s Chairman was now the Vice-chairman of the Strategic
Planning Committee.
 The Finance Panel had its name changed to the Budget Setting and Capital
Allocations Panel.
 The East Devon Traveller Forum the Vice-chairman of the Planning Committee
was not an automatic member but rather this be an elected position.
 In the Exmouth Queen’s Drive Delivery Group to remove the Sustainable Homes
and Communities portfolio holder and increase the ward member representation
for Littleham Ward and Town Ward from one to two.
 The South East Devon Habitats Regulations Executive Committee to change the
portfolio holder from Strategic Planning to the Portfolio Holder Coast, Country and
page 10

Cabinet 21 July 2020

Environment. The substitute now being the Vice-chairman of Strategic Planning
Committee.
RESOLVED that Cabinet;
1. agree the proposed makeup of Panels, Forums and Joint Bodies (Appendix 1)
and Outside Bodies (Appendix 2) and, where relevant, recommend them to
Council to agree,
2. confirm Cllr Ledger and Cllr Armstrong continuing as the Chairs of the Housing
Company TaFF and Poverty Working Panel and to grant delegated authority to
the Monitoring Officer to agree the membership of the TaFF and Panel to, as far
as reasonably practicable, reflect the political balance of the Council.
REASON:
This would ensure that the makeup of the bodies that had been set up by the Cabinet
were agreed ahead of Council agreeing the makeup and making the appointments. It
also enables the Housing Company TaFF and Poverty Working Panel which Cabinet
established to be re-set to reflect the current political makeup of the Council.
192

Otterton Neighbourhood Plan Referendum
The report provided feedback and set out proposed changes following the examination of
the Otterton Neighbourhood Plan.
There was a discussion concerning the possible delay for a date for the referendum. The
Service Lead Planning Strategy and Development Management assured members that
the Plan still carried significant weight in the decision-making process.
RESOLVED that Cabinet;
1. Members endorse the Examiner’s recommendations on the Otterton
Neighbourhood Plan (the Plan),
2. Members agree that a ‘referendum version’ of the Plan (incorporating the
Examiner’s modifications) should proceed to referendum and a decision notice to
this effect be published,
3. Members congratulated the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group on their hard
work.
REASON:
The legislation required a decision notice to be produced at this stage in the process.
The Plan was the product of extensive local consultation and had been recommended to
proceed to referendum by the Examiner subject to modifications which were accepted by
the Parish Council.

193

Newton Poppleford & Harpford Neighbourhood Plan Submission
The report was produced to formally agree the response by the Council to the Regulation
16 submission consultation for the Newton Poppleford & Harpford Neighbourhood Plan.
RESOLVED that Cabinet;
1. Members note the formal submission of the Newton Poppleford & Harpford
Neighbourhood Plan and congratulate the producers of the plan on the dedicated
hard work and commitment in producing the document,
page 11

Cabinet 21 July 2020

2. make the proposed representation set out at paragraph 5.2 in the report in
response to the consultation.
REASON:
To ensure that the view of the Council was recorded and informed the consideration of
the Neighbourhood Plan by the independent Examiner.
194

Exemption from Standing Orders - Future Place and Garden
Communities programme
The Service Lead Growth, Development and Prosperity notified Members of the use of
an Exemption from Standing Orders to enable the appointment of a team comprising
LDA, Hilton Barnfield and David Hawes Urban Design to undertake a visioning exercise
for future strategic development in the north-west quadrant of the District in conjunction
with the Garden Communities programme.
RESOLVED that Cabinet;
note the use of an Exemption from Standing Orders to enable the appointment of the
LDA/Hilton Barnfield/David Hawes Urban Design team.
REASON:
To enable the appointment of the LDA/Hilton Barnfield/David Hawes Urban Design team
in conjunction with support from the Garden Communities programme.

195

Re-opening High Streets Safely Programme
The Service Lead Place, Assets & Commercialisation presented the report which
provided further information to members on the Re-opening High Streets Safely Fund
(RHSS) programme that had recently been announced by central Government. The
report also included the responses that had been received from Town and Parish
Councils to questionnaires that were issued.
RESOLVED that Cabinet;
approves option 2 (hybrid approach) Subject to the Council entering into a grant funding
agreement with the Reopening High Streets Safely Fund for the activities to be claimed:
1. Service Level Agreements were entered into with Town and Parishes as delivery
partners in the project where relevant and as required by the funding where they
were seeking to recover costs already incurred,
2. to engage with those towns that had responded and had requested assistance,
3. to engage with those remaining towns that had not responded but where East
Devon District Council’s own risk assessments had identified areas for action.
4. That a small element of the funding (£10,000 in the first instance) was retained by
East Devon District Council to lead on the measures identified as needed from the
risk assessments (signage and stencilling), working alongside the towns and
parishes that had responded,
5. where possible and with the support of the Town or Parish, elements of delivery
(signage and stencilling) were undertaken by East Devon District Council using
the funding allowance retained by East Devon District Council,
6. activities focus upon temporary public realm changes to ensure that reopening of
local economies could be managed successfully and safely,
7. in consultation with the towns and parishes seek to identify if there was a need for
business-facing awareness raising activities to ensure that reopening of local
page 12

Cabinet 21 July 2020

economies could be managed successfully and safely and small scale public
facing safety messaging in the Action Plan areas, and
8. if further activities were identified that the Council could usefully implement that
would take expenditure in excess of £10,000, that delegated authority was given
to the Service Lead for Place, Assets and Commercialisation in consultation with
the Strategic Lead for Finance and the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Assets to
approve such an uplift.
REASON:
Following the responses received from a number of towns and parishes and the
Council’s own town risk assessments, there was an emerging programme of works. The
Council could put in place the necessary formalities required to facilitate the processing
of financial claims, publicity requirements and record keeping to support those towns and
parishes that were progressing with works.
The Council could offer assistance to those towns that had requested this and approach
those remaining towns that had not responded to the questionnaire and offer assistance.
Where issues had been identified work with towns and parishes to implement small scale
measures (signage and stencilling) that East Devon District Council could claim directly
for (without the need for formal Service Level Agreements).
Local Authorities in receipt of RHSS funding allocations (East Devon District Council)
must had financial management and control procedures put in place for the RHSS Fund
activity together with a process that any Delivery Partners (potentially other tier
authorities) must also follow.

Attendance List
Present:
Portfolio Holders
M Armstrong
P Arnott
P Hayward
J Bailey
G Jung
D Ledger
P Millar
M Rixson
J Rowland
J Loudoun

Portfolio Holder Sustainable Homes and Communities
Leader
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder Economy and Assets
Portfolio Holder Corporate Services and COVID-19
Response and Recovery
Portfolio Holder Coast, Country and Environment
Portfolio Holder Strategic Planning
Portfolio Holder Democracy and Transparency
Portfolio Holder Climate Action
Portfolio Holder Finance
Portfolio Holder Policy Co-ordination and Regional
Engagement

Also present (for some or all the meeting)
Councillor Kevin Blakey
Councillor Kim Bloxham
Councillor Susie Bond
Councillor Bruce De Saram
Councillor Alan Dent
page 13

Cabinet 21 July 2020

Councillor Peter Faithfull
Councillor Steve Gazzard
Councillor Ian Hall
Councillor Sam Hawkins
Councillor Nick Hookway
Councillor Mike Howe
Councillor Ben Ingham
Councillor Sarah Jackson
Councillor Paul Jarvis
Councillor Vicky Johns
Councillor Fabian King
Councillor Tony McCollum
Councillor Kathy McLauchlan
Councillor Andrew Moulding
Councillor Helen Parr
Councillor Geoff Pook
Councillor Val Ranger
Councillor Eleanor Rylance
Councillor Ian Thomas
Councillor Joe Whibley
Councillor Eileen Wragg
Councillor Tom Wright
Also present:
Officers:
Amanda Coombes, Democratic Services Officer
Tim Child, Service Lead - Place, Assets & Commercialisation
Simon Davey, Strategic Lead Finance
Ed Freeman, Service Lead Strategic Planning and Development Management
John Golding, Strategic Lead Housing, Health and Environment
Henry Gordon Lennox, Strategic Lead Governance and Licensing
Andrew Hancock, Service Lead StreetScene
Susan Howl, Democratic Services Manager
Anita Williams, Principal Solicitor (and Deputy Monitoring Officer)
Mark Williams, Chief Executive
Andrew Wood, Service Lead - Growth Development and Prosperity
Linda Perry, Regeneration Officer

Chairman

Date:

page 14

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
Forward Plan of Key Decisions - For the 4 month period: 1 October 2020 to 31 January 2020
This plan contains all the Key Decisions that the Council’s Cabinet expects to make during the 4-month period referred to above. The
plan is rolled forward every month.
Key Decisions are defined by law as “an executive decision which is likely:–
(a)
(b)

to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s
budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or
to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Council’s
area.”

In accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000, in determining the meaning of “significant” in (a) and (b) above regard
shall be had to any guidance for the time being issued by the Secretary of State.

page 15

A public notice period of 28 clear days is required when a Key Decision is to be taken by the Council’s Cabinet even if the
meeting is wholly or partly to be in private.
The Cabinet may only take Key Decisions in accordance with the requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the
Constitution and the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to information) (England) Regulations 2012. A
minute of each Key Decision is published within 2 days of it having been made. This is available for public inspection on the Council’s
website http://www.eastdevon.gov.uk, and at the Council Offices, Blackdown House, Border Road, Heathpark Industrial Estate, Honiton.
The law and the Council’s constitution permit urgent Key Decisions to be made without 28 clear days’ notice of the proposed decisions
having been published provided certain procedures are followed. A decision notice will be published for these in exactly the same way.
This plan also identifies Key Decisions which are to be considered in the private part of the meeting (Part B) and the reason why. Any
written representations that a particular decision should be moved to the public part of the meeting (Part A) should be sent to the
Democratic Services Team (address as above) as soon as possible. Members of the public have the opportunity to speak on the
relevant decision at the meeting in accordance with the Council’s public speaking rules.

Agenda Item 7

Obtaining documents
Committee reports in respect of Key Decisions include links to the relevant background documents. If a printed copy of all or part of any
report or background document is required please contact Democratic Services (address as above) or by calling 01395 517546.

Key Decision

Portfolio
(Lead Officer)

Documents to
be considered
before Cabinet
take decision

Whether other
documents will be
considered before
decision taken [Y/N]

Other
meetings
where matter
is to be
debated /
considered

Part A = Public
meeting

Date of Cabinet
meeting

Part B = private
meeting
[with reasons]

October 2020

Part A

November 2020

Part A

page 16

Support for LED

Coast, Country
and Environment
(Mark Williams)

Y

Affordable Housing
SPD

Strategic Planning
(Ed Freeman)

Y

Toilet review

Coast, Country
and Environment
(Andrew Hancock)

Y

December 2020

Part A

Setting the Council
Tax Base

Finance
(Simon Davey)

Y

December 2020

Part A

Strategic
Planning
Committee

Members of the public who wish to make any representations or comments concerning any of the Key Decisions referred to in this
Forward Plan may do so by writing to the Leader of the Council c/o Democratic Services (as above).

September 2020

Agenda Item 8
EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
Minutes of the meeting of Scrutiny Committee held at On line via the Zoom
App. All Councillors and registered speakers will have been sent an
appointment with the meeting link. on 21 May 2020
Attendance list at end of document
The meeting started at 10.00 am and ended at 12.00 pm

70

Public speaking
There were no members of the public who wished to speak.

71

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2020 were agreed and signed as a true
record.
Members noted that the recommendation to Council on the Queens Drive Development
Project call-in would be considered at the next available meeting of Cabinet.

72

Declarations of interest
Councillor Iain Chubb, Minute 8, Member of Devon County Council
Councillor Eleanor Rylance, Minute 8, received a Government Grant for her holiday let
business.
Councillor Vicky Johns, Minute 8, Member of Ottery St Mary Volunteer Group
Councillor Tony McCollum, Minute 8. Member of Honiton Volunteer Group
Councillor Val Ranger, Minute 8, Volunteer Shielder

73

Matters of urgency
There were no matters of urgency.

74

Confidential/exempt item(s)
There were no confidential/exempt items.

75

Decisions made by Cabinet called in by Members for scrutiny in
accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
There were no items called in.

76

Update on the COVID-19 response by East Devon District Council
Members received a verbal update on the COVID-19 response by the Chief Executive,
Mark Williams, Topics of specific interest covered included aspects of housing, the
Council Tax Reduction Scheme, the process of obtaining food parcels, and need for
Food Bank support, and other COVID-19 related matters such as staffing issues, and
future finances, since the impact of residents, businesses and the Council as a whole
has been significant.
page 17

Scrutiny Committee 21 May 2020

Mark Williams reported that there had been three key areas for Local Government.
1. Supporting adult care – this was led by Devon County Council.
2. Supporting the economy.
3. Impact of lockdown and the Council.
With regard to the economy, Mark Williams reported that COVID-19 had a big impact on
the local economy. From April there had been a substantial increase in Universal Credit
claims. The Council was also the advocate for a grant scheme introduced by the
Government to support small and medium sized businesses. There had been a fund of
£50M and this had been distributed with help from the Revenues and Benefits and
Economy teams.
The vast majority of businesses had been pleased to get the money quickly and 87% of
all the money allocated to East Devon had been distributed. It was hoped to be able to
run down the scheme by the end of May. However, there had been feedback from a
number of businesses that had not benefited from the scheme. The government had
responded with a new discretionary scheme to be implemented by the Council, that had
a fund of £2.5M, grants to individual business were likely to be significantly lower than
the first round of grants. Although grants were discretionary, the Council would contact
businesses to inform them of the availability of this grant aid.
With regard to protecting the vulnerable the initial priority was to protect those who were
thought to be particularly vulnerable. This was a national scheme provided through the
NHS and unitary authorities. It was acknowledged that the quality of data on those who
needed to be shielded provided by the government had been particularly poor.
With regard to those who had were less vulnerable. The Council had been asked to set
up a Community Hub and to act as facilitator and provide guidance for community effort.
Some staff had been re-allocated to form a team of ‘hubsters’. They had received 40-50
calls a day requesting advice and help. This had been reasonably successful, helped by
the low infection rate to date in Devon & Cornwall. There had also been a number of
other grant schemes set up, including, the Foodbank fund and a COVID hardship fund.
It was hoped to be able to keep the Community Hub going and there had been central
government funding for this purpose. So far central government had provided £1.5M of
funding to EDDC. There was lobbying of central government to provide further funding. If
central government funding had not been provided then there would be a number of local
authorities that would struggle to provide services to their communities. The work of the
Housing Team had included housing the homeless and all homeless people in East
Devon had been provided with accommodation.
Karen Simpkin, Strategic Lead – Organisational Development & Transformation reported
on the information dashboard developed with Strata. This was operational and a report
on the number of telephone calls received had been provided. However, there would be
a need for further licences to be provided for other users to access. Many of the calls
received had been regarding prescriptions and shopping.
With regard to lockdown and the impact on the Council. Exmouth Town Hall had closed,
but Blackdown House had been kept open for staff albeit closed to the public, as had
Streetscene depots. But a large percentage of Council staff had been able to work from
home. Staff sickness had improved immeasurably. The current sickness target was an
average of 8.5 days and for 2019/2020 the final figures showed an average 8.6 days per
person. In April 2020, the first month of the year the outturn sickness figure was 0.46
average days. This may be the consequence of staff adjusting to the new working from
page 18

Scrutiny Committee 21 May 2020

home. It was also noted that managers had been tasked with keeping in touch with their
staff.
Karen Simpkin, Strategic Lead Organisational Development & Transformation reported
that HR had stepped up the level of communications. Worksmart principles had been
amended to allow staff to work from Blackdown House where they want to and social
distancing requirements and use of the office would be closely monitored. But the new
‘normal’ would be working from home until further notice.
During discussions the following questions or points were noted:
 Air BnB’s were eligible to apply for grant aid, provided they paid business rates
and this made a substantial number of second homes in East Devon able to apply
for grant aid.
 There had been 3,369 grants made to small and medium sized businesses so far.
 Importance of ensuring that there was clarity between the national support
scheme and ours and that people had the appropriate support.
 The demand for foodbanks was increasing, particularly for young families and this
would be likely to continue in future months as the furlough scheme was wound
down and the economic effects of the pandemic was felt.
 The Community Hub had helped voluntary groups in the district, enabled different
groups to connect with each other and helped to sustain and reinforce the need
for key workers.
 How many conversations had been held with local MP’s and how was their
understanding of the District Council’s financial crisis? Mark Williams, Chief
Executive reported that he had weekly calls and regular contact with MP’s Neil
Parrish and Simon Jupp and they were well acquainted with the acute need for
the Council to continue to deliver services. There had been a consistent message
to both MP’s who had been effective in lobbying the government to provide
additional funding for EDDC.
 The District Council had been the facilitator for further discussion ensuring that
community groups worked together to assist the voluntary response.
 Importance of finding a way of providing feedback from our hub so we have a
clear picture of what was going on.
 How was EDDC going to support families at a time of crisis? This raised an issue
of EDDC’s ability to deal with wider societal issues.
 Reopening of schools in East Devon would be done on a voluntary basis, decided
by the schools governors.
 Language Schools had not so far been able to qualify for business rate relief.
Libby Jarrett, Service Lead – Revenues & Benefits would look into this.
 There had been a substantial increase in Universal Credit applications in East
Devon from 3793 in February to 6779 in April.
 Committee members wanted to send a message to all staff thanking them for their
efforts in adapting to the new working environment.
 Working with Devon County Council and other partners in the Community Hub
had been very good with weekly meetings held.
 Devon had been a voluntary area for the local outreach plan and was waiting to
hear if it had been accepted for test, trace and contact.
 Contact with care homes in the district would be through Devon County Council,
with EDDC helping where it was asked.
RESOLVED that the Council lobby the government on the following issues –
1. So that future grant schemes do not include second homes.
page 19

Scrutiny Committee 21 May 2020

2. To devolve the response and funding required for dealing with the current
public health crisis to the lowest appropriate tier of government.
77

Update on the Car Parking Task & Finish Forum (TAFF)
Members noted that the Car Parking TAFF had met on four occasions prior to lockdown
and agreed its Terms of Reference at the first meeting on 7 November 2019, when an
approach was adopted to consider issues in each of the main towns of the District before
proceeding further.
Links had been provided in the agenda to previous meetings so members could view
progress to date and consider the original Terms of Reference and priority themes in the
context of the more recently agreed climate emergency action plan. Members considered
whether a different approach was now required for the future, given the Council’s
commitment to climate change and the way in which EDDC car parking policy could
influence future driver behaviour and potentially fund projects such as delivering electric
vehicle charging infrastructure.
It was noted that following the anticipated appointment of a new Leader and Cabinet at
forthcoming Council meetings; the membership of the TAFF would need to be amended
and so further consideration of car parking issues should wait until the appointment of
the new TAFF membership.
Councillor Maddy Chapman reported her concerns about a potential influx of campers
and caravans to the district. Officers reported that they were well aware of this issue and
that government guidance was that people travelling should not stay overnight. This
would be enforced in the district where appropriate.

Attendance List
Councillors present:
T McCollum (Vice-Chairman)
V Ranger
E Rylance
M Chapman
I Chubb
B De Saram
C Gardner (Chairman)
A Colman
V Johns
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting)
M Armstrong
P Arnott
J Bailey
S Bond
P Hayward
N Hookway
G Jung
D Ledger
A Moulding
H Parr
page 20

Scrutiny Committee 21 May 2020

G Pook
M Rixson
E Wragg
O Davey
A Dent
P Faithfull
M Howe
S Jackson
F King
K Simpkin
Officers in attendance:
Simon Davey, Strategic Lead Finance
John Golding, Strategic Lead Housing, Health and Environment
Henry Gordon Lennox, Strategic Lead Governance and Licensing
Susan Howl, Democratic Services Manager
Sarah Jenkins, Democratic Services Officer
Christopher Lane, Democratic Services Officer
Anita Williams, Principal Solicitor (and Deputy Monitoring Officer)
Mark Williams, Chief Executive
Libby Jarrett, Service Lead Revenues and Benefits
Giles Salter, Solicitor
Councillor apologies:
C Brown
K Bloxham
K McLauchlan
J Rowland
P Jarvis

Chairman

Date:

page 21

Agenda Item 9
EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
Minutes of the meeting of Community Grant Panel held onlineviathe Zoom
app on 1 September 2020
Attendance list at end of document
The meeting started at 10.30 am and ended at 10.50 am

20

Public speaking
Bill McDermott, Chair of Budleigh Salterton Trust reported that the project to purchase
Budleigh Salterton Fire Station needed additional funding. When they knew that the fire
station would become available they tried to purchase it on behalf of the community. The
building would be going to auction with a guide price of £120,000. But there had been
considerable interest shown in it and it was likely to achieve a much higher figure.
£200 000 had already been raised and £25,000 pledged from Budleigh Salterton Town
Council towards maintenance; but this would not be enough. They were hoping to
acquire the Fire Station for the benefit of the community as a centre for community
activities. A large number of people were behind the project and the Trust were seeking
a donation of £10,000 towards the purchase of the Fire Station for the community
benefit.
Mike Ferguson, Member of Coleridge Memorial Trust reported that they were seeking
funding towards a life sized bronze statue of Samuel Taylor Coleridge at St Marys
Church in Ottery St Mary. It was an important memorial for one of England’s most
important romantic poets. The statue would help remind and educate people on his
legacy.

21

Minutes of previous meeting
The minutes of the meeting held on 18 December 2019 were agreed as a true record.

22

Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.

23

Matters of urgency
There were no matters of urgency.

24

Confidential/exempt items
There were no items that officers recommended should be dealt with requiring exclusion
of the public or press.

25

Crowdfund East Devon - Budleigh Salterton Community Workshop
Bid
Jamie Buckley, Engagement & Funding Officer reported that the Budliegh Salterton
Community Workshop project on Crowdfunder has now raised more than 25% of their
Crowdfunder total. It was noted that they had now sent back answers to a few questions
page 22

Community Grant Panel 1 September 2020

that were asked and were now eligible to be considered for a Crowdfund East Devon
pledge.
It was reported that they now had raised £45,133 of a £50,000 campaign. The maximum
available Crowdfund East Devon pledge was therefore £4,867.
RECOMMENDED that a maximum grant of £4,867 be made towards the project from the
Crowdfund East Devon pledge.

26

Crowdfund East Devon - Coleridge Memorial Statue Bid
Jamie Buckley Engagement & Funding Officer reported that the Coleridge Memorial
Trust crowdfunding campaign project on Crowdfunder has now raised more than 25% of
their Crowdfunder total. It was noted that they had now sent back answers to a few
supplementary questions that were asked and were now eligible to be considered for a
Crowdfund East Devon pledge.
It was reported that they now had raised £14,840 of a £20,000 campaign. The maximum
available Crowdfund East Devon pledge was therefore £5,160.
RECOMMENDED that a maximum grant of £5,160 be made towards the project from the
Crowdfund East Devon pledge.
Attendance List
Councillors present:
P Millar
H Parr
J Rowland
Officers in attendance:
Jamie Buckley, Community Engagement and Funding Officer
Wendy Harris, Democratic Services Officer
Christopher Lane, Democratic Services Officer
Councillor apologies:
J Bailey
D Key
J Loudoun
G Pook

Chairman

Date:

page 23

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 10

STRATA - JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
TUESDAY, 8 SEPTEMBER 2020
Present:
Councillors Clarance, Hookway, King, Nuttall, Oliver, Sparkes, Twiss and Atkinson
Members Attendance:
Councillors Millar and Wrigley
Apologies:
Councillors Orme
Officers in Attendance:
Simon Davey, Strata Board Director
David Hodgson, Strata Service Director
Laurence Whitlock, Strata IT Director
Robin Barlow, Head of Security & Compliance
Martin Millmow, Head of Document Centres
David Sercombe, Head of Business Systems & Business Intelligence
Adrian Smith, Head of Infrastructure & Support
Peter Johns, Head of IT Solution Delivery

12.

ELECTION OF CHAIR
Based on the existing annual rotation for the position of Chair, Councillor Twiss
proposed that Councillor Atkinson representing Exeter City Council be elected
Chair for the 2020/21 Municipal Year. This was seconded by Councillor Sparks,
and
RESOLVED That Councillor Atkinson be elected Chair

13.

MINUTES
The Minutes of the meeting held on 13 January, 2020 were approved as a correct
record. The minutes would be signed at a future date when practicable.

14.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

15.

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC UNDER PROCEDURAL RULES

1

1

page 24

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

None.
16.

QUESTION FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCILS UNDER PROCEDURE
RULES
The following questions have been submitted by Councillor Millar of East Devon
District Council. Answers were provided and circulated prior to the meeting.
Question 1
To ask the Committee, to confirm the total cost of purchasing Member iPads at
East Devon District Council including maintenance and repairs, and to share all
relevant papers containing the business case with Councillors.
Answer
In March 2018, Strata submitted a discussion document to the three authorities to
present options for the support of councillor IT (attached).
Previously councillors provided their own IT, and there was an expectation that
Strata would be able to support this privately owned IT.
One option that was presented was for the authority to provide councillors with a
portable device enabling councillors to access emails, calendars, documents and
the Modern Gov environment in a more consistent and supported manner. This
enabled TDC and EDDC councillors to operate in a similar way to ECC councillors
who had been using authority provisioned tablet devices for five years.
After internal debate within EDDC and TDC, Strata were advised to proceed with
the purchase of portable devices for councillors and a project was initiated to
procure, build, test and deploy Apple iPad devices to councillors.
EDDC made a decision to purchase the Apple iPad 12.9 inch Pro WiFi 64Gb for
each councillor (see attached invoice)
TDC decided to purchase a smaller iPad device for each councillor, at a cheaper
price.
The total cost for EDDC based on a five year usage of the Apple iPad devices is :
Total five year cost = £ 48,104
This cost is made up of :
 Application licensing included in Strata Core Licensing and base budgets.
 Councillor support provided as part of the Strata Service Desk service
 Councillor training provided as part of the Strata IT Training service.
 Initial iPad cost £ 47,089
 Current repair costs of £1,015

2

2

page 25

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

The costs for the devices were included and approved in the 2019/2020 budget
process, ultimately by council in February 2019.
After deployment of the devices some councillors raised concern that they needed
to be able to access emails, calendars from private devices (in addition to the iPad
devices provide by the authority). To provide this functionality and to deliver access
in a secure manner, Strata needed to purchase additional Microsoft O365 licences
and Mimecast email security filtering.
The cost of this additional functionality over five years for the councillors who
requested (36) this level of access is:
Total five year cost = £ 40,960


EMS E3 Add-on (EDDC Cllrs) = £42.00 per user per year



Mimecast Additional Email Security Filter (1st year free) £8,350 per Annum

These figures were presented to EDDC and they authorised Strata to proceed.
Strata believe that the provision of iPads to the councillors across all three
authorities has:













Enabled the authorities to provide a consistent delivery of Cllr content via a
single supported device
Helped to reduce print and paper usage, which has had a positive impact on
the environment and costs.
Provided improved levels of security for council data
Improved levels of IT support for councillors
Provided access to IT training (should it be required) via the Strata trainer.
Provided a platform for the deployment of the Modern Gov application
making it easier for Dem Services to support councillors
Provided councillors with a lightweight device which can be used for all
council related work and can be access remotely or whilst on council
premises.
Supported the secure deployment of the Zoom platform and enabled officers
and councillors to operate effectively during the Covid19 crisis.
Enabled councillors to access emails and content securely not just from the
provided device but also from privately owned devices.
In using Strata for the deployment and support of the devices there has been
no additional charge made to the three authorities.
Enabled Strata to offer a higher degree of support to Councillors than
previously has been available.
Using a single device has removed the previous high level of support burden
on Strata, meaning that we have been able to keep support costs under
control and delivered savings in excess of the original expectations.

3

3

page 26

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

Question 2
To ask the Committee, what progress they are making in assessing the potential for
hybrid meetings.
Answer
Strata has submitted a paper on a handful of technical solutions to run hybrid
meetings to the Democratic Services teams of all three Councils.
The paper also highlighted some challenges that we will come with running hybrid
meetings, including the anticipated number of participants for meetings. The
recommended solution would change if there were 10 people in attendance to if
there were 20, for example.
Strata have recommend waiting to see how Teignbridge District Council’s Hybrid
meeting approach performs, which we are anticipating will begin initial testing later
in September. TDC purchased a solution prior to Covid19 using the Public-I
solution, though the implementation was delayed because of it. The three
Democratic Services teams have worked well together through the pandemic,
sharing knowledge and thinking, and we are encouraging that EDDC and ECC are
involved with the testing of TDC’s new solution as a way of helping to assess the
viability within their own councils.
EDDC Democratic Services have accepted Strata’s recommendation of reviewing
the TDC hybrid project.
Question 3
To ask the Committee, have any town and parish Councils in the District
approached STRATA or support since the Coronavirus Act 2020.
Answer
Strata have not received any requests from either town or parish councils within
EDDC since the Coronavirus Act 2020.
In August 2020, we did receive a request from Dawlish Town Council regarding GIS
data and in Sept 2020, we received a request from the Devon Association of Local
Councils as to whether we could assist with the provision of training services.
In previous years, Strata have received enquiries from Seaton Town Council (2017)
and Dawlish Town Council (2019).
Question 4
To ask the Committee, does it remain the policy to wind up the STRATA Joint
Scrutiny Committee and has this been assessed in terms of transparency and
Member/democratic oversight?

Answer
The operation of Strata has been subject to scrutiny since the formation of the
organisation in 2014 / 2015.
4

4

page 27

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

Currently there are multiple levels of governance of Strata, these include the Strata
Management Team, the Strata Board, the individual IRB’s of each authority, the
Joint Scrutiny Committee and the Joint Executive Committee. There are also
external audit controls in place to monitor the organisation both in terms of financial
and process / performance, these are provided by Francis Clarke (financial
auditors) and the Devon Audit Partnership.
Strata produce a highly detailed monthly report for the three authorities along with
an annual Business Plan, these documents are circulated widely and are discussed
at a Strata Board and individual IRB level.
After five years of the successful operation of Strata which has seen considerable
achievement against the original objectives of Reduced Risk, Reduced Cost and
the provision of an IT service which has capacity and capability.
Financial performance is strong with Strata delivering in excess of £1m of savings
in the financial year 2019/20, this added to the savings from previous years shows
the original saving targets can not only be met and exceeded.
Devon Audit Partnership has shown Strata to be of a ‘Good’ standard and offers
substantial assurance of the IT service.
Adding all existing governance commitments together, it shows that there is already
considerable scrutiny of Strata and it’s operation at multiple levels by all three
authorities both individually and jointly.
We feel that given the success of the Strata business the time has come to simplify
the governance structure, whilst ensuring that each authority still has the ability to
scrutinise Strata through individual scrutiny committees, rather than having one
Strata scrutiny committee.
Our plans prior to Covid were to review the existing governance structure and to
reduce the governance burden on Strata, allowing Strata to focus on the delivery of
exceptional IT service.
In October 2019, Strata produced a discussion document entitled ‘Governance
Framework’, and this was subsequently presented to the JSC and JEC and
discussed with a recommendation that we undertook a review of the Shareholder
Agreement and worked to put into place the required changes.
However, unfortunately this has not been progressed further at this stage due to
the demands put on Strata and the management team during the Covid 19 crisis
and this has had to be a priority.
Moving forward once the current level of demand drops, it is the intention of the
Strata Board to re-commence the work to make the change to the governance
framework of Strata.

5

5

page 28

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

Supplementary Questions
Councillor Millar asked supplementary questions in relation to his questions 1 and 4
above as follows:
1. The cost of the provision of Ipads and remote o365 to EDD Councillors
excedded £80,000. How open was the decision between Members and Strata?
In response the Strata Director confirmed that this was a proposal that Strata put to
the authorities in 2018 to improve the support for Councillors’ IT. The options were
discussed by both this Committee and Strata Joint Executive. The EDDC Strata
Director confirmed the above adding that the minutes of the Joint Executive were
ratified by EDDC’s Cabinet, both initially and again when it approved the financial
implications for the option in the budget. EDDC Overview and Scrutiny Committee
would have also approved the budget which included the financial implications.
2. Can there be a reconsideration of this issue because now is not the time to
reduce the scrutiny role given the changing environment in which we are now
working and the scrutiny work of the committee has been good.
In response the Strata Director referred to this matter being discussed at the
Committee at its last meeting during the Strata governance update. It was referred
for consideration to the Strata Joint Executive in June. Teignbridge District Council
provide legal support to Strata, and have been engaged to look at Strata’s
stakeholder agreement and constitution in relation to changing the governance
structure. The Covid situation has meant Strata’s focus has been on the delivery of
the IT service rather than on the governance framework which has been delayed.
The Strata Director for EDDC confirmed that the matter would need to back to all
three Councils for agreement to the constitutional changes.
The Chair referred to Minute 8 of the meeting of the Committee 13 January 2020,
when the matter was discussed, and asked that it be included on the next agenda.

17.

STRATA IT DIRECTOR & MANAGER'S REPORT 1 MAY TO 31 JULY 2020
The Strata IT Director referred to the report circulated with the agenda. The Covid
pandemic and consequential unprecedented working environment had resulted in
Strata focusing on providing and delivering the IT service and support to officers
and councillors in an exemplary way, and which has enabled Strata to demonstrate
its true value. Strata had to increase its skills base to provide the support needed,
and had achieved much over the last few months in adapting to the needs of the
authorities. This included the creation of community hubs, support with virtual
councillor meetings, and moving from office to remote working for officers in a
period of about two weeks. This was testament to the standard of infrastructure
provided to the authorities and procurement processes to achieve the provision of
hardware to enable remote working in a secure way.
In addition, the Committee noted the following: the savings delivered last year were
in excess of forecasts set out in the Business Plan at over £1million; the delivery of
hybrid meetings was being investigated; the availability and standard of Strata
6

6

page 29

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

systems has been maintained during the pandemic for most of the time, being
stable, reliable, flexible and adaptable to the environment; the majority of staff were
still successfully working mainly remotely, with staff migrating back into the office;
employee broadband issues were out of Strata’s control; demand for IT services
had significantly increased; these had been dealt through the implementation of a
new service desk system; and customers were happy with the service delivery
based on customer satisfaction survey; support had been given to the Councils’
Members during remote meetings working with democratic services; hybrid
meetings were being tested at TDC before investing in other solutions at EDDC
and ECC; agile working for TDC was facilitated with the roll out of laptops and
docking stations and the purchase of new software to support remote working;
digital mailroom was being developed and had increased to deal with remote
working which enabled post to be circulated the day of delivery; ECC had brought
its leisure centres back in house and Strata were assisting the authority in
implementating technology to allow the leisure premises to open again over the
next couple of months; the importance of investment in staff resources and IT
backup, and security or data, with about 40% of incoming emails being rejected;
Strata are currently in the processes of undertaking the annual IT Health Check to
enable PSN certification; cyber security training would be rolled out for all
authorities; the IT Solutions Delivery was keeping projects on track and helped with
delivery; Strata staff had adapted to the Covid situation well, supported Strata
visions, were accepting of the need for continuous improvements and development,
and have an exceptional low sickness rate; the Board would be considering
governance at its next meeting and how the Councils would like Strata to be
governed; the 2020-21 Business Plan had been agreed by ECC and EDDC and
would be considered by TDC at the end of the month; and the 2021-22 Business
Plan was being prepared and would be considered by the three Councils in due
course.
In response to questions the Committee were advised on password security; that
internet connection of Councillors and remote meetings running on private internet
feeds were outside the control of Strata. Strata had no influence or access to the
networks to resolve these issues but have given advice and guidance as to how
home broadband provision could be improved; an issue with Global Desktop had
been identified and was in the process of being resolved but which required
software to be loaded onto all council devices of which there were some 2000; and
the importance of investing in security systems.

RESOLVED
That the report be noted.

18.

STRATA BUDGET MONITORING QUATER 1 2020/21
The Strata Director for Finance referred to the agenda report relating to the
financial position of Strata. Strata was given £6.6million to run the services for
2020/21. The Covid pandemic had resulted in all Councils looking for savings.
Additional Strata savings have been identified at £330K due to for example,

7

7

page 30

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

delaying staff appointments, and procurement adjustments, resulting in a forecast
£1m refund to the 3 Councils this year. In addition, the Statement of Accounts
2019/20 which had been signed off by the Auditors. The Director explained the
differences between a company and a Council in terms of financial management
and practices, which enables Strata to return a refund to the Councils at year end.
RESOLVED
The report be noted.
19.

STRATA ICT AUDIT SUMMARY 2019/20 DEVON AUDIT PARTNERSHIP
The Strata Director referred to the Devon Audit Partnership, an organisation which
works with Strata. An audit plan is produced at the beginning of the year in relation
to Strata services which measures performance and effectiveness, particularly
project management and delivery and cyber security. The Audit concluded that the
three Councils has substantial assurance that Strata can fulfil its role as the IT
service provider with an adequate internal control framework.
RESOLVED
That the report be noted.

20.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

INFORMATION)

ACT

1985

-

RESOLVED
That, under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item particular on the grounds
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act.
21.

BUSINESS CASE FOR THE NEW FINANCE SYSTEM
The Committee referred to the agenda report. The strata Manager reported on the
business case following its presentation to the Joint Executive Committee in June
2020.
RECOMMENDED
1. The Business Case for the Financial Management Convergence Project is
approved.
2. A formal tender exercise for a common Financial Management System for all 3
authorities is approved and proceeded with.

8

8

page 31

Strata - Joint Scrutiny Committee (8.9.2020)

CLLR Y ATKINSON
Chairman

9

9

page 32

This page is intentionally left blank

page 33

Agenda Item 11
EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
Minutes of the meeting of Budget Setting and Capital Allocations Panel held at Online via
the Zoom App on 16 September 2020
Attendance list at end of document

1

Welcome from the Chairman

2

Apologies
Apologies received from Councillor Andrew Moulding.

3

Declarations of interest
Councillor Paul Hayward; personal interest; that amendments to the Council budget may
impact on the three parish councils he represents.

4

Terms of reference for the Panel
The Chairman outlined the terms of reference for the Panel:
 To explore suggestions of addressing any budget shortfall that are put forward by
the Senior Management Team and other Officers
 To bring forward ideas from the Panel for addressing any budget shortfall
 To consider the justification of spend to save/generate income proposals
 To recommend the pursuit of further investigation to the Cabinet on specific
budget items identified.
 To approve a method of allocation and bid prioritisation. Bids are then reviewed
against available resources using an agreed allocation framework.
 To undertake regular monitoring of the Council's capital projects.

5

Draft Financial Strategy 2021 - 2031
The Draft Financial Strategy 2021 – 2031 outlined how the Council will structure and
manage its finances over the next ten years to deliver services, and the objectives set
out in the Council Plan.
The Strategy set out the previous position with background on the approach for
delivering balanced budgets through careful financial management and forward planning.
Direction was required on the right approach going forward, in balancing future budgets
determined by the new Council administration, but also dealing with and recovery from
Covid-19.
The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) was explained, and key calculations
highlighted included:
 Service budgets, adjusted where there are known demand changes, but not
including any growth in service or staffing to the current level with a few
exceptions. This includes the commitment to a carbon reduction programme, but
the ongoing £323k per annum, although significant, will not meet the requirements
alone. External funding will be required and/or reduction of other services to meet
the requirement fully;
page 34

Budget Setting and Capital Allocations Panel 16 September 2020







Government Funding, with the announcement that a full review of local authority
funding is due to be undertaken with effect for 2021/22, as well as the pending
white paper on recovery and devolution. The MTFP assumes a fall to baseline
funding from 2022/23; taking away any growth in business rates and the end of
New Homes Bonus (NHB);
Business Rate Income, assumed under the existing scheme of 50% retention;
Council Tax, retaining the annual increase of £5;
NHB, ending in its current form with the final year providing £0.9m in 2022/23.

The MTFP shows a projected deficit for 2021/22 of £0.694m, which increases annually,
reaching £5.653m in 2030/31 as the annual shortfall in budget if no actions are taken to
reduce expenditure and or increase income.
The Capital expenditure programme contains only rolling items, or early requests for
items. Any additional schemes that come forward must be appraised by the Panel.
In discussing the Draft Financial Strategy, the Panel discussed a general approach, and
some specific areas of service delivery and income generation. In concluding that
discussion, agreement on the areas for progression were:
 Referring suggestions for improvement to car park tariffs to the Task and Finish
Forum already set up to review that income stream, it was thought some options
could be considered for the 2021/22 budget to generate additional income whilst
safeguarding residents from increases;
 Progress existing reviews already identified by officers to provide savings and/or
income generation;
 Consider a consultation exercise to raise awareness of the financial pressures of
the Council and obtain feedback from residents on their priorities, and their
appetite for a formal referendum on a Council Tax increase above the permitted
level;
 Look at examples of other authorities where leisure facilities had been brought
back in-house;
 Temporary accommodation solutions, such as investing in accommodation, to be
investigated;
 Instigate further work into the commercialisation approach, with the introduction of
Task and Finish Forum, to include specifically consideration of the Council’s
approach to asset transfer to town and parish councils. The intention was not to
shift liability, but to assess the value of such assets to determine if there was a
more economical and social benefit in each transfer. There was some appetite
from local councils to take on some assets and services;
 Investigate the extent and impact of the perceived loophole exploitation of small
business rate relief on second homes.
RECOMMENDATION to Cabinet
1. that the debate by the Budget Setting and Capital Allocations Panel on the Draft
Financial Strategy 2021 – 2031 is taken into account prior to the strategy being
presented to Council;
2. That a Task and Finish Forum be set up on the topic of Commercialisation, to
include specifically the issue of asset transfer to town and parish councils.

page 35

Budget Setting and Capital Allocations Panel 16 September 2020

6

Consideration of how to balance budget for 2021 - 2022
The Panel had discussed in detail the savings and income generation elements listed, in
the previous agenda item. The elements were agreed to go forward for further work by
officers, and the Panel would be kept informed of progress.

Attendance List
Councillors present:
J Rowland (Chairman)
M Armstrong
P Arnott
J Bailey
D Barrow
K Blakey
P Hayward
S Jackson
G Jung
F King
J Loudoun
P Millar
G Pook
M Rixson
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting)
B De Saram
Officers in attendance:
John Symes, Finance Manager
Simon Davey, Strategic Lead Finance
Debbie Meakin, Democratic Services Officer
Councillor apologies:
A Moulding

Chairman

Date:

page 36

Agenda Item 12
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Exeter & East Devon Enterprise Zone

Purpose of report:

To provide an update on the financial position with regard to the
Enterprise Zone (EZ) programme and seek approval for additional
borrowing against future ring-fenced business rate income. The
additional borrowing will allow further investment in enabling delivery of
new commercial space and jobs in the Enterprise Zone, supporting
recovery from Covid 19 and providing opportunities for clean and
inclusive growth.

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet:
1. Notes the progress made within the Enterprise Zone
designation
2. Agrees the principle of increasing borrowing up to £20m
against ring fenced business rate income to fund the delivery
of capital projects and makes this recommendation to
Council
3. Agrees the principle of a £1m fund to enable the continuation
of an Enterprise Zone Business Rate Relief programme
4. Receives further papers setting out detailed investment
proposals

Reason for
recommendation:

Cabinet last received a paper on the financial position of the EZ in March
2019. During the intervening period, work has focused on gaining
approval for projects that support the delivery of the EZ, in terms of
overcoming identified barriers and bringing forward catalytic investments
that can increase the pace of delivery for new commercial space and
jobs.

Officer:

Naomi Harnett, Enterprise Zone Programme Manager
nharnett@eastdevon.gov.uk / 07580 297 059 / 01395 571 746

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder Economy and Assets

Financial
implications:

The financial details are outlined in the report. Sensitivity scenarios have
been considered with the projected income and the £20m borrowing is
still viable under a 50% reduction in rate income. It should be noted that
although the EZ business rates income is ring-fenced to meet the costs
involved and the rate income does come to the District Council the
liability of the loan repayments is with EDDC.

Legal implications:

What is proposed is permissible within the framework of the Enterprise
Zone. There are no other legal implications requiring comment.

Equalities impact:

Low Impact
page 37

Potential impacts on equality will be managed through the
Implementation Plan for the Zone.
Climate change:

Medium Impact
The Enterprise Zone has focused on sustainability from the inception of
the designation. The zone supports the delivery of district heating (DH)
with the recent adoption of the Local Development Order and the existing
DH network serving three of the four designated sites. New commercial
buildings within the zone are built to high sustainability standards, with
recently constructed new buildings meeting BREEAM excellent ratings.
The development of the designation, supported by additional funding, will
support green recovery and clean inclusive growth.

Risk:

Medium Risk
This paper seeks approval for additional borrowing against future ringfenced business rate income to invest in enabling projects.
Further papers will be reported to Cabinet on specific projects with
financial appraisals before funding is drawn down.
The risks associated with project delivery will be mitigated through robust
project management procedures.

Links to background
information:

Cabinet Paper – March 2019
Cabinet Paper – April 2018

Link to Council Plan:

.
Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity

Report in full
1. Introduction
1.1. Cabinet has received a series of papers on the Enterprise Zone (EZ) from when the
designation became operational in April 2017. During the intervening period there has
been steady progress made in the delivery of new commercial floor space on Science Park
and Sky Park.
1.2. The Covid-19 pandemic has had immediate and significant economic and social impacts,
with widespread business closures and redundancies. The East Devon economy has
suffered from these impacts, particularly with Flybe going into administration. More widely
modelling work undertaken for the County Council highlights that the Devon economy is
not likely to return to pre Covid-19 levels of performance until 2027 and employment rates
will not recover until 2030 without significant investment between local partners and
Government.
1.3. The EZ sites have been resilient so far with no job losses reported to date. The pandemic
has though impacted the delivery of existing construction projects, with work ceasing on
the Ada Lovelace Building and Park & Change facility at the Science Park during the
lockdown period. More strategically there are outstanding questions as to whether the
impact of the pandemic will prompt structural changes to future working practices. This
could significantly reduce the demand for new office space going forward.

page 38

1.4. In the short term there are encouraging prospects for recovery with a positive pipeline of
projects. The Science Park has been awarded £5m from the government ‘Getting Building’
fund to support the delivery of a ‘Grow-out Building’. Burrington Estates has submitted a
planning application for 35 commercial units on Sky Park. There has also been
commercial enquiries for significant commercial occupiers to locate on both Sky Park and
Science Park with negotiations ongoing. The delivery of the Long Lane enhancements will
unlock development on the Air Park site. The options for the development of Cranbrook
town centre are also currently being considered.
1.5. The focus of the EZ programme to date has been on addressing barriers to delivery and
bringing forward catalytic investment. In the current circumstances there is an important
opportunity to consider what package of support the Enterprise Zone programme can
provide to help sustain economic recovery and achieve longer term objectives. This
includes confronting structural challenges to the High Street and commercial property
market. There is also a pressing need to support a green recovery and the achievement of
clean growth as well as to secure productivity improvements. More prosaically the role of
public investment in helping to build wider business confidence and stimulate occupier
demand should not be forgotten. This includes preparing for the potential end of current
HM Treasury funded business rate incentives in March 2022.
1.6. The Covid-19 Economy and Business Recovery Prospectus sets out Devon’s shared
vision for economic recovery over the next three years. Developed in partnership by local
authorities, key public sector agencies and business and community stakeholders, the plan
provides a single economic programme for the County to respond to the crisis and build
our economy back stronger and more resilient. The EZ programme can play a leading role
in helping to realise the objectives of this Prospectus.

2. Enterprise Zone Programme
2.1. The EZ covers four sites in the West End of the District and is a 25 year designation which
commenced in April 2017. The designation enables the local authority to borrow against
ring-fenced business rate income over the term of the designation. In turn this opens up
the potential to invest in projects, particularly where these can increase the speed with
which new commercial space is brought which in turn increases the overall value of
designation.
2.2. The Implementation Plan for the EZ identifies enabling interventions designed to
accelerate delivery of new commercial space and support job creation. These focus on
two main categories:

Overcoming barriers to delivery


Bringing forward catalytic investments

2.3. In April 2018, EDDC Cabinet approved borrowing of up to £8m to support the EZ
programme. Of the £8m programme, £6.813m of funding has been committed to specific
projects as follows:
 Subsidised bus service (funding for 3 years) - £528,000
 Park & Change - £1,385,000
 Long Lane Enhancement - £2,550,000 (& £1,100,000 subject to the additional
borrowing approval by EDDC)
 Open Innovation Building - £1,100,000
 Cranbrook GP Surgery - £150,000
page 39

2.4. The EZ financial position has been reviewed in light of the Covid-19 pandemic and
subsequent economic recession. It is estimated that levels of income will prove to be
resilient relative to original assumptions which were deliberately conservative. To date
business rate income has exceeded original estimates as set out below;
Figure 1 : Retained Business Rates within the Exeter
& East Devon Enterprise Zone
£900,000
£800,000
£700,000
£600,000
£500,000
£400,000
£300,000
£200,000
£100,000
£0

1

2

3

Estimated income (April 2018)

4

5

Revised estimates (February 2019)

Revised Estimates (September 2020)

2.5. The reasons for this improved financial position are:
 Delivery of development on site has been quicker that estimated – the timescale for
delivery of buildings on site included slippage, whereas most of the buildings have been
completed on time.
 Rateable values are higher than estimated – initial estimates were based upon limited
information due to small number of buildings within the EZ sites
2.6. To support the continued development of the EZ there is scope to increase the level of
borrowing. This approach would bring the following benefits:

Provide support to deliver new commercial floor space and jobs during economic
recession;

Support the EZ designation in the longer term, as the business rate income is back
loaded and the more that can be done to bring forward commercial floor space in the
early years of the designation, the greater the overall value of the designation.
3. Proposal
3.1. To support the continued delivery of the EZ programme it is recommended that the current
level of borrowing is increased from £8m to £20m to support the delivery of capital projects.
In addition to this it is proposed that a £1m fund is established to support a Business Rate
Relief programme
3.2. Table 1 provides an overview of the increased level of borrowing that the EZ designation
could support. These figures have been tested by the finance officers of both DCC and
EDDC. More detailed budgets are set out in Appendix 1.

page 40

Table 1 – Revised Enterprise Zone Budget to support increased borrowing
Year

Total EZ
income

2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34

£136,305
£235,280
£664,234
£605,717
£770,000
£970,000
£1,250,000
£1,500,000
£1,700,000
£1,850,000
£2,125,793
£2,508,643
£2,905,171
£3,655,171
£4,405,171
£5,155,171
£2,905,171

Programme
Management
(including
LDOs)
£26,455
£27,675
£89,216
£93,677
£98,361
£67,644
£68,996
£70,376
£71,784
£73,220
£74,684
£76,178
£77,702
£152,749
£158,786
£165,076
£87,454

Revenue
Budget

£109,850
£60,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£100,000
£75,000
£78,750
£82,688
£86,822
£91,163

Business
Rate Relief
Programme
(not HMT
funded)
£0
£0
£0
£52,000
£411,639
£536,361
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

Revenue
Budget to
support
borrowing
£0
£147,605
£150,018
£157,040
£160,000
£219,300
£360,000
£400,000
£400,000
£400,000
£400,000
£400,000
£400,000
£400,001
£400,001
£400,001
£300,000

Total
borrowing
available

£0
£7,380,250
£7,500,900
£7,852,000
£8,000,000
£10,965,000
£18,000,000
£20,000,000
£20,000,000
£20,000,000
£20,000,000
£20,000,000
£20,000,000
£20,000,047
£20,000,032
£20,000,033
£14,999,987

3.3. The increased level of borrowing would be used to support three areas of work:

Addressing structural challenges

Supporting green recovery and clean growth

Overcoming barriers and accelerating delivery
3.4. It is considered that these themes are likely to make a substantial contribution to the
objectives of the EZ designation. Whilst specific projects have not been fully developed,
potential candidates are set out below.
3.5. The increased level of borrowing set out does not commit the Council to funding specific
projects, but increases the scale of investment that might be possible. Each project will
need to be carefully appraised including management of the associated risks. Specific
proposals will then be brought back to Cabinet for decision with the benefit of the advice of
the Enterprise Zone Board. .
3.6. The funding programme has been developed to support the timely delivery of
infrastructure. The programme provides opportunities for grant and loan provision. To
minimise risk to EDDC provision is made within the budget for the EZ to support full capital
repayment of funded schemes.

Cranbrook Town Centre
3.7. The ongoing challenge of delivering a 21st century town centre at Cranbrook is well known,
with the EZ designation deliberately including the town centre area to provide support to
delivery of commercial floor space and local job creation.
3.8. EDDC’s Strategic Planning Committee will consider options for delivering the town centre
at Cranbrook in Autumn 2020. The Committee will consider a commercially-led proposal
from East Devon New Community Partners (EDNCp), which would be predominantly
privately funded but would see a significant proportion of the town centre dedicated to
residential development. Figure 2 provides a layout plan of the town centre with
commercial and community uses focus in parcels TC2 and TC4a to TC4d. The second
option is to support the development of a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which
page 41

guide the delivery of a wider mix of uses but would require concerted financial support
Figure 3 provides a layout plan for a mixed use town centre, with a greater range of
commercial units and floor space available.
3.9. The two options will have an impact on the EZ, with the reduced floor space in the EDNCp
impacting upon retained business rate income and delivery of new jobs. Subject to the
consideration of the Strategic Planning Committee, The availability of EZ funding would
support the delivery of the SPD, which could include enabling EDDC to deliver commercial
floor space within the town centre.
Figure 2 Composite layout of EDNCp indicative housing layout. Composite produced
by EDDC.

page 42

Figure 3 SPD Layout

page 43

Exeter Airport
3.8 The demise of Flybe resulted in both significant job losses and a substantial reduction in the
number of scheduled services. This was before the full impact of the lockdown was felt.
Recovery for the aviation sector is likely to be protracted and Exeter Airport is no exception to
this.
3.9 Whilst the Airport site is outside of the formal EZ designation, there is an opportunity to support
the recovery and development of the site and its important role as an economic driver. This
includes through bringing forward the Long Lane enhancement for example.
3.10 Additional funding from the EZ could support opportunities for additional investment to
improve the site and secure wider economic benefits. This includes the development of a
sustainable aviation cluster which would help to position the Airport as a test bed for supporting
the decarbonisation of aviation. This work aligns with the Local Industrial Strategy for the Heart
of the South West, and the Government’s Future Flight Strategy and would contribute to wider
clean growth objectives. Cabinet is considering a separate paper on the Airport.
Overcoming barriers and creating catalysts
3.11 The availability of funding to support projects within the EZ designation has proven to be
beneficial to the delivery of new commercial floor space and new jobs. This has included the
EZ providing financial contributions to support access to grant funding, such as the Ada
Lovelace building on the Science Park.
3.12 Increasing the headroom for borrowing will enable the EZ to support future requests for grant
funding where there is a demonstrable investment case. Specific projects would need to be
fully developed and appraised.
Business Rate Relief Programme
3.13 From the commencement of the designation in April 2017 the EZ has managed a successful
business rate relief programme. This HM Treasury funding programme has supported new
and existing businesses to move into premises within the EZ. Many of the SMEs operating
within the EZ have been eligible for 100% of their business rates.
3.14 The HMT funding Business Rate relief programme is scheduled to end in March 2022.
Extending this programme would be beneficial, particular as we work to recover from the
impact of the pandemic which has served to dampen occupier demand.
3.15 The Local Enterprise Partnership has requested an extension to the current HM Treasury
funded rate relief measures through their submission to the Comprehensive Spending Review.
However there is a risk that this support is not forthcoming. Furthermore if it were to be
successful it would be limited to the confines of the EZ sites. Subsequently it is recommended
that a £1m fund is established to provide support for new occupiers of the EZ and immediately
adjacent sites, with rate relief up to the State Aid de minimus allowance.
4. Conclusion
3.1 The Enterprise Zone is a powerful, long term designation which supports the delivery of new
commercial space and employment opportunities. Its significance is even more pronounced in
the context of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent recession.
3.2 The initial EZ programme of £8m has had a positive impact, with accelerated delivery of
commercial floor space and jobs, along with enhancements to transport to enable access to
the newly created jobs in the wider area. To ensure the continued success of the EZ
page 44

programme and to secure wider clean and inclusive growth objectives a sustained programme
of investment is required. This paper puts forward recommendations as to how this can be
achieved with additional borrowing against ring-fenced business rate income.

page 45

Appendix 1 – Enterprise Zone Financial Position –
September 2020

Year

page 46
1

Total
Business
Rate
Income1

LDO Mgmt3
Programme
Mgmt2

Revenue
Budget
(studies
etc)4

Business
Rate Relief
Programme5

Revenue
budget to
support
borrowing

Total
borrowing
available
(cumulative)

Balance
(before
repayment
of
borrowing)

2017/18

£136,305

£26,455

£0

£109,850

£0

£0

£0

£0

2018/19

£235,280

£27,675

£0

£60,000

£0

£147,605

£7,380,250

£0

2019/20

£664,234

£29,216

£60,000

£100,000

£0

£150,018

£7,500,900

£325,000

2020/21

£605,717

£30,677

£63,000

£100,000

£52,000

£157,040

£7,852,000

£203,000

2021/22

£770,000

£32,211

£66,150

£100,000

£411,639

£160,000

£8,000,000

£0

2022/23

£970,000

£67,644

£0

£100,000

£536,361

£219,300

£10,965,000

£46,695

2023/24

£1,250,000

£68,996

£0

£100,000

£0

£360,000

£18,000,000

£721,004

2024/25

£1,500,000

£70,376

£0

£100,000

£0

£400,000

£20,000,000

£929,624

2025/26

£1,700,000

£71,784

£0

£100,000

£0

£400,000

£20,000,000

£1,128,216

2026/27

£1,850,000

£73,220

£0

£100,000

£0

£400,000

£20,000,000

2027/28

£2,125,793

£74,684

£0

£100,000

£0

£400,000

£20,000,000

£1,276,780
£1,551,109

2028/29

£2,508,643

£76,178

£0

£100,000

£0

£400,000

£20,000,000

2029/30

£2,905,171

£77,702

£0

£75,000

£0

£400,000

£20,000,000

£2,352,469

2030/31

£3,655,171

£80,033

£72,716

£78,750

£0

£400,001

£20,000,047

£3,023,671

2031/32

£4,405,171

£82,434

£76,352

£82,688

£0

£400,001

£20,000,032

£3,763,697

2032/33

£5,155,171

£84,907

£80,169

£86,822

£0

£400,001

£20,000,033

£4,503,272

2033/34

£6,055,171

£87,454

£0

£91,163

£0

£300,000

£14,999,987

£5,576,554

£1,932,465

Business Rate income is based upon actual figures for 2017/18 – 2019/20. From 2020/21 business rate income is estimated, with assumptions being regularly reviewed.
Programme Management costs based upon 0.5FTE Programme Manager until 2021/22, with post becoming 1 FTE from 2022/23.
3
LDO Management costs are based upon fixed term FTE post holder from 2019/20 – 2021/22. Additional budget allowed for a further fixed term FTE post holder 2030/31 until 2032/33 to
review the LDOs for the EZ sites.
4
The revenue budget to support the programme had been estimated to support the programme being developed and then maintained from 2029/30.
5
The proposed Business Rate Relief Programme will operate from 2022/23 for a 3 year period. The budget allowance is made from 2020/21 to create a revenue budget to cover the costs of
this programme without borrowing.
2

Year

Budget for
repayment of
revenue grant
borrowing

Balance (before
repayment of
borrowing)

Budget for repayment
of principal (capital
borrowing)

Repayment of loan
by third parties
(developers etc.

Balance (after
repayment of
borrowing)

Borrowing Repaid

page 47

2017/18

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

2018/19

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

2019/20

£325,000

£325,000

£0

£0

£325,000

£0

2020/21

£203,000

£203,000

£0

£0

£203,000

£0

2021/22

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

2022/23

£46,695

£0

£46,695

£500,000

£546,695

£500,000

2023/24

£721,004

£0

£721,004

£0

£721,004

£0

2024/25

£929,624

£0

£929,624

£500,000

£1,429,624

£500,000

2025/26

£1,128,216

£0

£1,128,216

£0

£1,128,216

£0

2026/27

£1,276,780
£1,551,109

£0

£1,276,780

£0

£1,276,780

£0

£0

£1,551,109

£0

£1,551,109

£0

2027/28
2028/29

£1,932,465

£0

£1,932,465

£0

£1,932,465

£0

2029/30

£2,352,469

£0

£2,352,469

£0

£2,352,469

£0

2030/31

£3,023,671

£0

£3,023,671

£0

£3,023,671

£0

2031/32

£3,763,697

£0

£3,763,697

£0

£3,763,697

£0

2032/33

£4,503,272

£0

£3,274,270

£0

£3,274,270

£1,229,002

2033/34

£5,576,554

£0

£0

£0

£0

£5,576,554

Agenda Item 13
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

COVID-19 Recovery planning

Purpose of report:

This report outlines the work that has and is being progressed to produce
a cohesive approach to East Devon DC’s recovery planning as the
district emerges from the Response stage of Covid-19. The report aims
to give Cabinet reassurance that the Recovery planning work has
followed best practice guidance from the Devon Emergency Planning
Partnership (DEPP) in terms of process and documentation. Also the
Council has been fully engaged with Team Devon’s strategic recovery
planning work through participation in various sub groups such as the
Devon Recovery Co-ordination Group and the Economy and Business
Recovery group.

Recommendation:

The Cabinet:
1. Approves the Service recovery planning process and supports
the work of council officers providing leadership and support to
the Council’s recovery work.
2. Note that officers of East Devon District Council are leading the
work on the Service Recovery Action Plan and will continue to
provide support to progress the individual work streams.
3. Continues to support and participate in the engagement of
Devon CC’s strategic recovery co-ordination work through
Officers membership of its thematic sub groups.

Reason for
recommendation:

To ensure that East Devon DC can continue to co-ordinate its recovery
planning work with its internal services and to participate fully with Team
Devon’s strategic recovery planning work. This will enable a continuation
of current recovery planning work and so retain a cohesive approach to
its Service Recovery Action Plan going forward whilst uncertainty still
remains over the likelihood and impacts of further spikes of the
pandemic. Other recovery plans have been produced at a strategic level
such as Team Devon’s Economy & Business Recovery Plan but these
are not place-based and sufficiently fine-grained as to be effective at
district level. There are and will continue to be issues and themes that
are best progressed at this strategic level and so the Council’s alignment
with these recovery plans will be important. The focus for this Council
has been working on its own internal recovery arrangements.

Officer:

Charlie Plowden Service Lead – Countryside & Leisure

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and
Recovery
page 48

Legal implications:

Covid-19 has had a significant impact on the Council’s financial position
and effected services, residents and business as outlined in the
report. There are however no direct financial implications resulting from
the recommendations in the report which is summarising the Council’s
response to the Pandemic.
There are no specific legal implications requiring comment

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

Low Impact

Risk:

Low Risk

Links to background
information:

EDDC Service Recovery Action Plan
EDDC response to Covid-19
SMT+ recovery Issues Log
Team Devon Economy & Business Recovery Plan

Financial
implications:

Link to Council Plan:
Outstanding Place and Environment
Outstanding Homes and Communities
Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Outstanding Council and Council Services
1. Background
1.1 The country is currently going through a deep and far reaching economic shock, perhaps the
most significant in a century. The short-term impacts of the Covid-19 crisis are severe and
will be felt in different ways across geographies, sectors, settings and demographic groups.
Numerous reports have already been prepared to try and understand the likely impact on the
country, region and county. The main headlines being that, aside from the impact on public
health, this could be the worst recession to have faced the country for over three hundred
years, to potentially over 120,000 jobs that could be lost in Devon.
1.2 Devon County Council is working on its recovery plan under the Team Devon collective
working with all District Councils and other relevant partners. The characteristics of these
recovery plans are that they are typically strategic, and because they cover a large
geography it can be challenging to identify at what level the district precisely fits in with our
needs. There has also been a stated intention towards a ‘green’ recovery. However, the
advantage of this strategic recovery plan approach is that their geographical scale means
that the prospect of national government paying attention to some of the messages they
convey, and the scale of investment that is required for the South West and Devon has more
leverage.
1.3 This Council’s internal recovery plan is specifically service and operationally focused and is
aligned with the Council Plan and Service Plan’s that are in place. Some of the work that is
being done at county and regional level is also reflected within the recovery actions as the
role of some of our teams are helping to deliver priorities emerging from the Team Devon
recovery work. Strategic Management agreed to follow best practice in recovery action
planning by adopting Devon Emergency Planning Partnership’s (DEPPs) Recovery Planning
framework to help ensure there is one single recovery plan for all the Council’s services.

page 49

1.4 The work being undertaken on recovery planning is still running alongside some response
work that is being managed by Revenue and Benefits, Environmental Health and Housing
teams working with some of our most vulnerable residents and tenants. It is expected that if
there is a second wave of the virus that the focus of the Council will immediately switch to
how we co-ordinate our response work as a priority. This doesn’t necessarily mean that
recovery planning work doesn’t continue, but that both elements of our emergency planning
process will be working alongside each other. The internal systems we now have in place for
both response and recovery planning and co-ordination are robust and also shown to be
resilient if this scenario becomes a reality.
1.5 The Council’s Business Continuity Plan, which was in place before the virus and its impacts
took hold, has provided a crucial role in helping the Services to better understand how to
respond to the emergency planning required and to put in place the necessary structures to
keep essential services running. The response and recovery planning work has flowed from
this document and its guidance drawn from DEPPs.
2. Covid-19 Recovery planning & process
2.1 The following terms of reference, following DEPPs best practice, were set out at the initial
stage of our recovery planning:











What does the Council want to cover in terms of its recovery work scope? What’s in &
what’s out?
Considerations of what the “new normal” will be for Service delivery and the likely
financial position of the Council
Service delivery prioritisation – essential v discretionary on mobilisation?
SMT+ to review Service Plans to adapt to new financial constraints and continuing
restrictions e.g. ongoing lockdown for large social gatherings for public events,
protecting the most vulnerable etc.
Following the “golden thread” of Council Plan, Service Plans and PERs looking forward
SMT+ to consider what services will need to temporarily stop doing and cascade
corporate messaging from these decisions
Finance and Legal implications to be prepared from the “new normal” for Cabinet and all
Councillors as well as staff to provide a clear understanding of our situation
How will the impacts of these decisions be disseminated out to our communities? What
does it mean for their locality?
Transition is to be made from Business Continuity to Recovery planning…the “new
normal”
What is the leadership/influence role for East Devon as part of recovery-RCG? Where
will we take a lead?
Common template use at EDDC /DCC/ Agencies for Impact assessments/ reporting for
sub group?

These questions were followed by a better understanding of where our recovery matters
most to our local communities and residents.
2.2 At the start of the recovery process, following DEPPs guidance, it was vital that there was a
clear recovery action plan, developed and agreed. The recovery action plan could cover
some, or all, of the following key objectives and we undertook to act upon them (as shown
against each bullet point):


An Impact Assessment (considering impacts on residents, businesses, infrastructure,
environment, etc.) is carried out as soon as possible and is regularly reviewed and
updated.- all Services carried out a high level Impact Assessment on their service areas
page 50















Develop a clear communication strategy including local, national and social media –
through the established weekly comms updates given to residents, Councilors and staff
recovery messages were/are put out in the similar way to response messaging;.
Establish clear information reporting and communications route with Government and
Lead Government Departments – the Chief Executive sits on strategic level groups for
all CEOs and Leaders of Devon and the South West that reports to Government.
Determine at an early stage if there is an opportunity for longer term regeneration and
economic development as part of the recovery process – the Team Devon economy &
business recovery theme developed its Recovery Plan which had significant input from
our Economic Development team.
A concise, balanced, affordable recovery action plan is developed that can be quickly
implemented and fits the needs of the emergency - .following DEPPs best practice the
Service Recovery Action Plan was developed and is used as the single point for
operational recovery matters.
The community is fully involved in the recovery process – this has been reflected in the
work of the Economy & Business recovery theme group with the distribution of funding
to support local businesses and the Government’s High Street revitalization fund. The
engagement with all our local communities is an ongoing and “live” process ensuring
appropriate funding and support is delivered into supporting them recover and providing
essential services.
Closed down Services are brought back into use as soon as practicable – these issues
have been and are being delivered and monitored through the Service Recovery Action
Plan.
A pro-active and integrated framework of support to businesses is established – this has
been successfully delivered through the work of the Economic Development team and
the Revenue & Benefit team.
All affected areas are restored to an agreed standard so that they are ‘suitable for use’
for their defined future purposes – this is part of the Service Recovery Action Plan work
where issues are identified to help restore services or assets such as public open
spaces back for local use.
Information and media management of the recovery process is coordinated – this has
been overseen by the Comms team throughout the process with weekly newsletters
(Stay Informed, Stay Connected), use of social media platforms to help provide
important information, give guidance and links to other organsiations who can assist.

2.3 Each Service undertook an initial impact assessment prior to developing the Service
Recovery Action Plan to help understand the recovery issues likely to be faced and all
followed this format:

COUNTRYSIDE & LEISURE
ISSUES








ACTIONS

Cultural sector been significantly impacted upon with
the lockdown and may not recover fully or if it does it’ll
have to operate very differently.
Impacts felt by tourism sector also impact on elements
of the Wild East Devon workstreams around attracting
footfall, securing income form donations, events
etc...ability for tourism sector to bounce back important
to this team.
Ability to bring back THG and Manor Pavilion theatre
into operation with likelihood of social distancing and
public gathering restrictions continuing until end of
2020
Impact of continuing restrictions on social distancing
and public gathering for Wild East Devon and THG’s
outdoor events programme – income streams impacts.
Our Nature Reserves have proved invaluable to the
local community in their ability to provide a green









High level assessment on impacts upon the cultural sector
from the pandemic – impacts on the district’s cultural venues
and assess health of the cultural offer in east devon (to be
lead through EDDC’s Arts & Culture Forum).
All Team Managers to undertake a review of their Service
Plan targets and consider in the new normal what needs to
change in service delivery, how to adapt and create new
workstreams to ensure they stay relevant and valued to the
communities they serve/support and the protection of East
Devon’s outstanding environment.
Join up a THG and Wild East Devon team project that helps
with post lockdown recovery…and submit to Arts Council post
COVID19 grant fund identified which will open up a new
approach to joint collaboration between these teams.
Wild East Devon team to audit impacts of lockdown o nature
recovery and build into a nature recovery network bid working

page 51







space to help with people’s physical and mental
wellbeing – the funding challenges will make it
increasingly challenging to manage (despite their
proven value)
Impact on delayed school openings for Wild East
Devon’s Outdoor Learning programme to be delivered
– social distancing issues also apply.
Remobilising our volunteer workforce in both Wild East
Devon team and THG who provide essential support
to the management of LNRs and running of the THG
Significant impact on planned income streams –
events, educational visits, exhibitions, THG shop,
theatre bookings etc.…will mean reviewing and
remodelling in view of the new normal situation.
How will the arts and leisure sectors respond to the
new normal and how will they be able to change their
business model to survive?






in partnership with East Devon & Blackdown Hills AONB
partnerships.
THG to consider its opening hours and expansion of its
outreach/peripatetic work in light of continuing restrictions and
look to reduce its overheads.
Manor Pavilion theatre to reschedule its 2020 programme
and consider how to reintroduce live performances within the
venue with social distancing still in place, discuss with
performers/theatre companies the opportunity to livestream.
Wild East Devon team to reprioritise focus of its work
programme onto climate change delivery, nature recovery
network delivery, assisting Streetscene with their rewilding
programme, Wild Honiton development and delivering Wild
Exmouth’s HLF project.

2.4 The decision making for internal service recovery work was through a revised Strategic
Management process:
Strategic Management Team meetings - Internal Recovery





SMT+ weekly meetings have provided the forum for information dissemination and
decision making on response & recovery meetings following guidance from Team
Devon’s Recovery Coordination Group meetings.
Strategic Management team agenda has followed a 2 part structure when dealing with
response and recovery:
Response standing items – Issues Log, comms, CSC, Community Hub which has been
an important contact centre for local residents to get advice and help during the lockdown
period, this has been stood down for now but can be reactivated at short notice if
required, PPE, enforcement matters during lockdown, Team Devon actions, Government
funding updates, public health matters
Recovery standing items – Response Action Plan, recovery issues log, internal finances,
comms & people issues, Service Leads operational matters, Business Continuity Plan
review/refresh, Government grant stimulus packages, Cllrs & Cabinet meeting agenda
items
Emergency Planning Officer providing daily updates to SMT+ members on the latest
government advice and guidance

2.5 The platform based on the above was then set to develop the Service Recovery Plan (see
link) which is a “live” document that is updateable by all Strategic and Service leads on an
ongoing basis as issues are raised on recovery and actions identified to help recover as
much of the service as possible given restrictions. This document sits in the O: drive and is
kept under constant review. This process will help inform the future development of Service
Plans and feed into the financial modelling for the Medium Term Financial Plan led by the
S151 Officer. Also where needed such as Housing there is a service specific Recovery Plan
that has more fine grain detail and actions which can be found following this link:
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/g1486/Public%20reports%20pack%2017thSep-2020%2014.30%20Housing%20Review%20Board.pdf?T=10
2.6 Also within SMT+ the cross organisational strategic level recovery issues are reviewed and
monitored through a recovery Issues Log (attached) which is reviewed every two weeks and
updated. This again is another important document to keep operational matters linked to our
recovery work under review and sits alongside the Service Recovery Action Plan. This
process followed the same template for the response Issues Log which was used by SMT+
page 52

to keep our response work across the Council under close review dealing with a wide range
of issues such as staff matters, office closure, PPE distribution, Community Hub performance
etc. The recent infographic below illustrates the breadth of work undertaken during the
lockdown period:

page 53

3. Lessons being learnt
3.1 There has been a huge amount of work undertaken to ensure that the Council’s essential
services were able to recover quickly once restrictions were lifted and respond to local
community needs. The ability of teams such as Economic Development and Revenue &
Benefits to quickly distribute Government funding to those businesses most impacted upon
and help them recover has been crucial to keep the local economy viable. The reopening of
our green spaces, public toilets, cultural venues etc. shows that we have been effective in
our recovery planning processes and we have in place resilient systems that can react to the
ever changing nature of this pandemic
3.2 During the six months of lockdown and the Council’s response to the pandemic there has
been a huge learning curve for all the organisation due to the nature and unique challenges
faced by this emergency. Everyone involved has had to effectively “learn on the job” having
never had to deal with such an emergency of this nature and scale before with most aspects
of the Council’s business “stress tested” and reassuringly proven to be up to the task. The
robustness of our services and their rapid recovery should be seen as a success story and
considerable credit to the Council for working with its local residents, communities as well as
part of the collective Team Devon effort.
3.3 Like most of Devon’s local authorities the focus of recovery has been very immediate and
operational as we have emerged from the response stage to ensuring vital services are fully
recovered. There is a recognition by all within the Team Devon set up that we will need to
evaluate how we have performed, what were the vital lessons learnt, how resilient we have
been in the face of such an emergency and if our own systems and processes proved “fit for
purpose” and where we can make improvements and adjustments to all areas of our
response and recovery work when faced with another outbreak or virus.
3.4 This process has already started with a recent refresh of our Emergency Plan and Business
Continuity Plan giving more emphasis to infectious disease and infection control to reflect the
impacts of Covid-19 but also the potential likelihood of future pandemics that we may have to
deal with organisationally. The Council has already started to consider the eventuality of a
second wave of infections and response planning is already advanced with the engagement
with developing Local Outbreak Management Plans.

page 54

Agenda Item 14
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Towards Zero Carbon Development in the West End

Purpose of report:

To set out the key issues associated with achieving large scale zero
carbon development in the West End of the District
To provide an overview of the results of a recently completed feasibility
study
To seek endorsement for the principle of submitting a funding application
to the Heat Network Investment Programme

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet;
 Notes the findings of the feasibility study and the key issues associated
with achieving zero carbon development at Cranbrook and Skypark.
 Endorses the principle of submitting a funding bid to the Heat Network
Investment Programme
 Receives a further report setting out a proposal for the role that Council
can play in enabling the delivery of zero carbon development including
the investment case

Reason for
recommendation:

To ensure that there is a clear pathway for achieving large scale zero
carbon development in the West End of the District.

Officer:

Andrew Wood, adwood@eastdevon.gov.uk, (01395) 571743

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder Economy and Assets

Financial
implications:

The recommendations contained in the report do not have direct financial
implications at this stage, however the further paper to be presented to
Cabinet as detailed in the report will present a financial business case
that it is intended for Cabinet and then Council to consider.

Legal implications:

The recommendations contained in the report do not have any direct
legal implications requiring comment. There may be legal implications
arising going forward but these will be addressed in future reports where
appropriate.

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

High Impact
The vision for Cranbrook to develop as a zero carbon town is clearly
stated in the Cranbrook Development Plan Document. This project has
the potential to secure carbon savings in the order of 20,000 tonnes per
page 55

year. This equates to around two thirds of the Council’s own carbon
emissions and represents the project with the greatest potential to deliver
large scale carbon savings in the District.
Risk:

High Risk
This is a complex project involving a wide range of different actors, both
public and private. The role for the Council is potentially multi-faceted,
from regulatory through to becoming a potential investor. A further report
will be required to set out in detail the role that the Council can play
including establishing any investment case. This will require all relevant
risks to be identified and managed.

Links to background
information:

Zero Carbon Development in the West End, Cabinet Report July 2019
Cranbrook Development Plan Document
The Future Homes Standard: changes to Part Land and Part F of the
Building Regulations for new dwellings
Cranbrook Heat Networks Detailed Feasibility Study

Link to Council Plan:
Outstanding Place and Environment
Outstanding Homes and Communities
Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Outstanding Council and Council Services
1.

Background and context

1.1
In recognition of the large scale and long term nature of the developments in the West End
of the District, the need to factor in increasingly stringent environmental and carbon performance
standards has been a key tenet of the adopted approach. In the case of Cranbrook the initial
planning took account of the Code for Sustainable Homes and the anticipated timetable for
progressing to Code 6 and net zero carbon development in 2016.
1.2
Element Energy were commissioned in 2008 to undertake a study to understand how best
to meet these more demanding standards over time. This study demonstrated that it would be
much more cost effective to install a district energy network to meet the zero carbon standard
rather than rely on fabric and renewable energy measures on each home. Subsequently a
requirement for all homes to be connected to a district heating network became a key part of the
planning strategy for Cranbrook and the neighbouring Skypark commercial development. Funding
made available by the Regional Development Agency to bring forward key infrastructure (such as
St Martin’s school) was also made contingent upon this network being rolled out.
1.3
Following a competitive exercise EON were selected by the Cranbrook developer
consortium as the preferred energy company/operator for the network and an 80 year concession
agreement was negotiated. It should be remembered that such a large network on a relatively low
density greenfield site had never been delivered before in the UK. This was very much viewed as
a ‘lighthouse’ project and significant public sector investment was required to make the scheme
viable. This took the form of a £3.8m grant from the government’s Low Carbon Infrastructure
Fund plus a further £100k each from the Council, County Council and City Council.
1.4
A second network serving the Monkerton/Pinhoe/Mosshayne area together with the
Science Park was negotiated in 2013. This was achieved on a purely commercial basis with no
grant. Together there are now over 100km of heat pipe in the ground with a capex of circa £50m.
The first permanent energy centre at Skypark was commissioned in 2013 and a second energy
centre, currently under construction at Monkerton, is due to be commissioned later this year.
1.5
Ultimately it is expected that over 12,000 homes and 2m sq.ft of commercial space will be
served by these networks. Given the length of the concession agreements this is a long term
page 56

commitment. It should also be remembered that these heat networks are effectively local
monopolies – it is only EON that can supply the heat and, unlike the electricity network, there is no
ability for heat customers to swap to a different provider. Price controls and wider service
guarantees therefore form an important part of the concession agreement
2. Current Position
2.1
The wider legislative backdrop for and pathway towards zero carbon development has been
set back in the intervening period since construction of Cranbrook started in 2011, not least
through the abolition of the Code for Sustainable Homes and the scrapping of zero carbon homes
target in 2015. During 2019 the Government did commit to there being no fossil fuelled homes
from 2025. This is to be enshrined within a new ‘Future Homes Standard’ for new build homes to
be future-proofed with low carbon heating and world-leading levels of energy efficiency.
2.2
The Government consulted on proposed changes to Part L ‘Conservation of fuel and power’
of the Building Regulations during October 2019. To meet the Future Homes Standard by 2025 it
was recognised that industry will need to develop the necessary supply chains, skills and
construction practices to deliver low-carbon heat, and highly energy efficient new homes. The first
steps in facilitating these changes is to provide a clear vision for implementing the Future Homes
Standard and to set an ambitious uplift to the current energy performance requirements in the
Building Regulations for new homes.
2.3
Two options were set out for tightening Part L of the Building Regulations during 2020 as
follows;
Option 1: 20% reduction in carbon emissions compared to the current standard for an average
home. It was anticipated this could be delivered by very high fabric standards (typically with triple
glazing and minimal heat loss from walls, ceilings and roofs).
Option 2: 31% reduction in carbon emissions compared to the current standard. It was anticipated
that this could be delivered based on the installation of carbon-saving technology such as
photovoltaic (solar) panels and better fabric standards, though not as high as in option 1 (typically
double not triple glazing).
It was made clear that Options 2 was the preferred option.
2.4

In relation to district heating the consultation document included the following paragraph;

Heat networks (sometimes referred to as district heating) are a distribution system that takes heat
from a centralised source and delivers it to a number of different buildings. These heat networks
also form an important part of our plan in the future of low carbon heat, in particular in cities and
high-density areas. Heat networks can decarbonise more easily compared to most other heat
sources because new technologies can be added to the system with little disruption to individual
householders. They provide a unique opportunity to exploit larger scale, renewable and recovered
heat sources that can’t be accessed at an individual building level. Heat networks also provide
system benefits such as thermal storage and reducing the energy demand of the grid at peak
times. It is estimated by the CCC that around 18% of UK heat will need to come from heat
networks by 2050 if the UK is to meet its carbon targets cost-effectively. We expect that heat
networks will have a strong role to play in delivering low carbon heat to new homes in future
2.5
Whilst the government’s response to the consultation has been delayed due to the impact
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the direction of travel is clear. This includes in relation to the
introduction of the Future Homes Standard and the expectation that an average home built to it will
have 75- 80% less carbon emissions than one built to current energy efficiency requirements
(Approved Document L 2013). Equally the expectation is that this will be achieved through very
high fabric standards and a low carbon heating system. In the words of the consultation, this will
ensure that new build homes will be ‘will be fit for the future, better for the environment and
affordable for consumers to heat’.
page 57

3.

Cranbrook/Skypark District Heating

3.1
It is in this context that the district heating network at Cranbrook needs to be considered.
Policy CB13 of the draft Cranbrook Development Plan Document sets out a policy to achieve the
vison of delivering a truly zero carbon new town. This includes ensuring connections to an
expanded district heating network. The availability of a decentralised energy network is a core
sustainability credential. Clearly this in turn relies on a zero carbon energy source to provide both
the heat and the power that is generated. This is particularly the case given the decreasing
carbon factor of the wider electricity grid as, for example, coal is phased out and additional large
scale offshore wind and other renewable electricity generating capacity is brought on stream.
Section 106 obligation
3.2
In recognition of the need to ensure that the district heating network would meet
increasingly stringent carbon performance standards for the first 2,900 homes at Cranbrook, the
s.106 agreement attached to the planning permission for the EON energy centre at Skypark
included the following provisions;
1. The Facility is to be a solid biomass Combined Heat and Power (CHP) system with
supplemental gas boilers and supplemental gas combined heat and power engines
(definition of District Heating Facility).
2. Clear direction that the facility shall supply ‘heat’ to the whole of both Cranbrook and
Skypark (paragraph 6.1).
3. Clear direction that the biomass CHP shall be constructed as part of the Facility (para 6.3).
It is acknowledged that temporary facilities may have needed to be provided during
construction depending how quickly Cranbrook / Skypark developed (paragraph 6.2) but
this didn’t avoid the need to construct the facility with the biomass CHP as part of it.
4. The Facility needs to be supplying ‘heat’ to the majority of the buildings granted permission
at Cranbrook and Skypark prior to or at occupation of 2,000 dwellings at Cranbrook
(definition of Fully Operational and paragraph 6.6).
5. By the same time, the biomass CHP needs to be of sufficient capability (capacity) to be
able to supply electricity (2MWe) and heat (2.4MWth), although the latter is predicated on
the demand for the heat being sufficient to warrant the capability (paragraph 6.4).
6. If the heating demand is such that running the biomass CHP would result in ‘wasting
excessive quantities of heat’ then the supplemental gas boiler / gas combined heat and
power engines can be used to provide heating to Cranbrook (paragraph 6.5). Once there
wouldn’t be excessive wasted quantities of heat then the biomass CHP should be used to
provide the base heat load with the supplemental equipment being used to provide heat at
peak times or during maintenance / repair of the biomass CHP.
3.3
Of particular significance is the 2,000 occupations trigger which has recently been met at
Cranbrook. In anticipation of reaching this trigger work has been ongoing over the past two years
to understand whether there is a technically and financially feasible solution to meeting the
obligations of the s.106 agreement - essentially a solid biomass fuelled combined heat and power
plant capable of generating 2MW electric and 2.4 MW thermal.
3.4
With the benefit of further technical advice there is acceptance that the gasification and
pyrolysis technologies, which it was hoped would be scalable to 2MW as well as being more
efficient and lower cost than traditional steam based technology, have not matured sufficiently in
the decade since the s.106 agreement was negotiated to provide a reliable way forward.
However, the expansion of Cranbrook to circa 8,000 homes in line with polices set out in the Local
Plan and Cranbrook Development Plan Document and the potential for further strategic
development coming through the next Local Plan provides an opportunity to reconsider the
strategic basis for the choice of technology.
3.5
A report considered by EDDC’s Cabinet in July 2019 (Zero Carbon Development in the
West End, Cabinet Report July 2019) sought authority to commit funding of up £30k to support an
page 58

application to Round 9 of Heat Networks Delivery Unit funding. The Heat Networks Delivery Unit
(HNDU) is part of, and directly funded by, the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy (BEIS). The bid was submitted and was successful. Subsequently a detailed technoeconomic study was commissioned from consultants WSP.
4.

Techno-economic study

4.1
WSP were commissioned in December 2019 to undertake the techno-economic study. The
primary aim for this feasibility work was to build from the existing strategy work that has been
undertaken to date and to create a framework for achieving zero carbon development for
Cranbrook/Skypark and provide a clear pathway for supporting the large scale delivery of zero
carbon development that will ultimately comprise around 8,000 homes and 1.4 m sq. ft. of
commercial space. The study addressed a number of key areas including;








heat demand
energy source(s)
choice of technology(ies)
heat network pressure/temperature regimes
associated cost/project economics/techno-economic cash flow modelling
funding requirements
risks.

4.2
The study identified 6 potential local heat supply opportunities of which 3 were modelled in
detail. These were;




The energy from waste (EfW) plant at Hill Barton
The convertor station for France-Aldernay-Britain (FAB) project connected to a water
source heat pump
Solar thermal with seasonal pit thermal storage

The first two of these involve harnessing waste heat. With regard to the FAB project two suboptions were identified – with and without a second energy centre.
4.3
The overall energy balance from the four scenarios is set out below. This includes
accounting for the energy consumption required to run gas boilers and/or heat pumps in order to
raise temperatures, meet peak demand and account for periods when the primary heat source is
not available.

4.4
Overall it can be seen that very substantial carbon savings could be achieved equating to
around an 80% reduction relative to using gas boilers.

page 59

5.

Assessment

5.1
The feasibility study demonstrates that it is possible to secure large scale carbon savings
by utilising alternative technologies to the biomass solution that was originally negotiated a decade
ago. These would support both the large scale delivery of new zero carbon development as well
as contribute to decarbonising the existing network.
5.2
The study includes a detailed techno-economic model. This highlights that the minimum
capital cost of the assessed options is circa £60m. Whilst the Energy from Waste connection
option has a positive cash flow and rate of return, grant aid is likely to be needed to raise this to
the level of a commercial return. Discussions have been ongoing with the Department for
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy with a view to submitting an application to the Heat
Networks Investment Programme (HNIP) – a £320m capital programme designed to support the
roll out of district heating networks and to secure carbon savings.
5.3
As well as the choice of technology the results of the study raise a number of wider
questions, particularly;
What role does the Council need to play? It is possible to identify three specific aspects to the role
that the Council can play going forward;
Regulatory – this includes setting the policy framework, determining planning applications and
resolving the positon with regard to the current s.106 agreement and associated obligations.
Enabling – this includes bidding for grant funding support and brokerage in terms of bringing
together various developer parties and securing an energy partner.
Investor – there is potential to develop an investment case and to consider how this aligns with the
Council’s own Commercial Investment Framework.
More widely consideration needs to be given to who provides long term support for the heat
network customers after the development has finished and the developers have departed. Exeter
City Council has established the Monkerton Heat Company to perform this role over the longer
term and an equivalent structure may be needed for Cranbrook. The ability to pursue wider social
objectives, including in relation to addressing fuel poverty for example, also needs to be
considered. The relationship with our Local Authority partners including the County, City and Town
Councils needs to form part of this wider consideration.
What is EON’s role going forward? Clearly EON are the incumbent energy provider but the
concession agreement is limited to the first 3,500 homes. Alongside addressing the current s.106
obligations consideration needs to be given to EON’s appetite to continue to roll out the network to
the expansion areas. Alternatively a different or additional commercial partner could be secured
through a market engagement exercise.
5.4
These questions will need careful consideration to resolve. It is clearly essential that the
final technological solution is cost effective and does not delay wider development programmes.
But, with the potential to also secure grant funding, the opportunity is there to complete the journey
that was started 10 years ago and to ensure that district heating performs a fundamental role in
underpinning the sustainability credentials of both Cranbrook and Skypark.
5.5
It is a specific recommendation of this report that a further report is brought to Cabinet
detailing the role that the Council can play alongside presenting any investment case. This will be
on the basis that there is clarity on the future of EON and the potential for finding support from the
HNIP programme. The role for the Council can then be presented including in relation to potential
legal structures and any investment case.
5.6
Finally it is important to consider the counter factual - in other words what the position
would be if district heating had not been a requirement of the initial phases of development or of
the DPD policy. In all probability this would have to lead to the installation of gas boilers in each
home. These homes would then need to be retrofitted in the future on a house by house basis to
meet decarbonisation objectives– to support an alternative fuel source or technology such as air
source heat pumps. For the expansion areas each developer would need to bring forward
page 60

measures to meet the more demanding standards with the possibility that some homes delivered
prior to 2025 would still be gas fired. Cumulatively a switch to air source heat pumps might raise
the need to substantially reinforce the grid network potentially bringing additional cost and risk in
terms of timescales.
5.7
This is also relevant to the consideration of the town centre proposals where there has
been some discussion about installing a gas main in preference to connecting to the district
heating network. This course of action would lead to a legacy of higher carbon development as
each home would not benefit form the ability to decarbonise the existing network. Instead each
home would need to be retrofitted individually at the expense of the home owner or landlord.
5.8
In order to bring these issues together and to provide a rounded assessment of the various
considerations an appraisal has been undertaken based on the Kate Raworth Doughnut
Economics model. This helps to show how projects and decisions will affect the environment and
people. The model has two parts - the inner area of the doughnut focuses on social and
economic issues. The outer ring focuses on environmental issues like greenhouse gas emissions
and biodiversity.
5.9

The assessment is set out below. In framing this account has been taken of the;



potential to secure large scale carbon savings in line with the vision for Cranbrook to
develop as a zero carbon town
potential for the Council’s role to extend to ensuring that social objectives (such as in
relation to fuel poverty) are addressed

page 61

5.10 The assessment shows significant positive effects, particularly if the Council’s role extends
beyond securing carbon savings to addressing fuel poverty. This will be considered in further
detail in the next report.
6. Conclusion
6.1
District heating is a key foundation of the sustainability credentials for Cranbrook. Originally
this was in the context of increasingly demanding standards being introduced through the Code for
Sustainable Homes. Arguably the significance of district heating has only increased in the context
of a declared climate emergency, the need to support a green recovery and the forthcoming
introduction of the Future Homes Standard. .
6.2
The current feasibility study demonstrates that it is possible to secure large scale carbon
savings. Any solution will need to be cost effective and deliverable to a timescale that accords
with wider development programmes. Careful consideration needs to be given to the role of both
the Local Authorities and a commercial partner, be it EON or another company, in moving forward.
A further report will be brought to Cabinet detailing the specific role that the Council can play.

page 62

Agenda Item 15
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Nature Recovery Networks & Re-wilding projects

Purpose of report:

This report promotes the wider coverage of nature recovery networks
and re-wilding projects, building on the work undertaken already in some
of our green spaces. It takes the form of a review document with a series
of recommendations to form a policy on nature recovery networks and
re-wilding activity. The report builds on the priorities and objectives set
out in our Green Space Plan, and is consistent with our corporate
outstanding environment theme.
The report looks at national guidance and considers definitions and
existing projects. The initiative advances a commitment in the Climate
Change Strategy and stated objectives in several Service Plans.

Recommendation:

To progress our Climate Change Strategy and Service Plan
commitments on nature recovery and re-wilding it is recommended
that:
1. We extend our coverage of nature recovery networks and rewilding projects, carefully defining our aspirations;
2. We work through the green spaces identified in our Green
Space Plan and assess whether they are suitable for
recovery/re-wilding;
3. We identify a suitable re-wilding site in every East Devon
town as an exemplar within a year;
4. We identify areas of Housing land suitable for nature
recovery and/or re-wilding and consult with tenants with
proposals;
5. We map and record areas identified for recovery/re-wilding
and monitor the benefits arising from the process;
6. We establish an improved understanding of the position of
fauna and flora species in the district;
7. We establish a campaign to promote the benefits of rewilding in a range of settings; and
8. We establish a project group, adopt the guiding principles,
and specify what constitutes re-wilding and how this can be
achieved in the district.

Reason for
recommendation:

To progress ambitions in the Climate Change Strategy, Green Space
Plan, and Service Plans aimed at achieving improved biodiversity and
natural habitats through re-wilding and implementing nature recovery
corridors.

Officer:

John Golding Strategic Lead – Housing, Health & Environment.

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder Climate Action
page 63

Financial
implications:

There are no financial implications outlined in the report and it is
assumed the recommendations are either cost neutral or will save on
existing budgets

Legal implications:

There are no specific legal implications arising from the report which
require comment. Individual actions that may arise will be subject to
further assessment and comment as appropriate.’

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

Medium Impact

Risk:

This project delivers on one of our climate change actions
Low Risk
The proposals are considered low risk.

Links to background
information:

Nature Recovery Network Appendix 1

Link to Council Plan:
Outstanding Place and Environment
Outstanding Homes and Communities
Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Outstanding Council and Council Services
1.

Introduction

1.1

The concept of nature recovery networks or corridors is simply to allow natural growth to
flourish and leaving nature to repopulate the unmanaged environment over time. In recent
years the approach has gained traction in a number of areas, and is in part a reaction to
over-managed green space, open space, and farm land that has reduced habitats and
biodiversity.

1.2

A Nature Recovery Network is a vision for a joined-up natural world; where wild places
across the country are connected to give nature room to thrive, on land and at sea. It allows
plants, animals, seeds, nutrients and water to move from place to place and enables the
natural world to adapt to change. It gives plants and animals more places to live, feed and
breed. The attached brochure illustrates this as a concept (annex 1).

1.3

To recover, wildlife cannot be confined to nature reserves. We should create a Nature
Recovery Network that extends into every part of our towns, villages and countryside,
bringing wildlife and the benefits of a healthy natural world into every part of life. Letting
flowers bloom along road verges, installing green roofs across our skylines, planting more
street trees to give people shady walks in the summer, encouraging whole communities to
garden for wild plants and animals - it's time to stitch back together Britain’s tattered natural
fabric of wild land. In doing so, we will not only help nature recover, but enable even more
people to experience our natural world.

1.4

Nature Recovery Networks sit comfortably with the idea of Re-wilding and allowing some
of our more managed and manicured areas to ‘go wild’. This can be achieved in small
green spaces simply and cheaply.

1.5

It has become widely recognised that a healthy natural environment is at the heart of a
healthy society and economy. It is our very life support system – providing us with clean
water and air, a regulated climate, fuel and food. It also provides us with outstanding places
page 64

for respite and recreation, and enables all kinds of enterprise to thrive – both those directly
connected to the land, including tourism, agriculture and forestry, but also high-tech and
service industries, which rely on our natural assets through their global supply chains and
for the wellbeing of their employees.
1.6

Decades of development pressure, extraction, intensive agriculture and industrial
production have contributed to a serious global decline in the healthy functioning of our
natural environment, exacerbated by a changing climate.

1.7

Safeguarding pockets of our remaining natural habitat is not enough. To reverse the
declines in biodiversity and realise nature’s recovery at scale, we need to work with
partners and communities on the landscape-scale to embed the Lawton principles (see
more below) of Bigger, Better, More and Joined Up in our local, regional and national
policies and strategies. This means protecting and enhancing our existing natural habitats,
but also making them bigger, restoring and creating new areas of species-rich habitat, and,
critically, ensuring they join up to create functional and resilient ecological networks that
enable nature and people to thrive.

1.8

The concepts of nature recovery and re-wilding has been a Council Plan and Service Plan
objective and we already have some good examples of putting this into practice on our
nature reserves, parks & gardens, and other open spaces. We have also captured this as
an action in the Climate Change Action Plan.

1.9

Our Green Space Plan (GSP) was our attempt a few years ago to recognise the value and
extent of our green spaces, and set out our vision for using and managing our (Council
owned) green spaces, and the ambitions we have looking forward for our green spaces in
East Devon.

1.10 This GSP was purposely linked with the Council Plan priority – Delivering and promoting
our outstanding environment – the plan has an action to adopt a GSP the purpose of
which is to value and help protect our natural environment.
1.11 It is widely recognised that green space is a vital part of the public realm and that attractive,
safe, accessible green space contributes towards positive social, economic and
environmental benefits, improving public health and wellbeing and the quality of life.
Green space and the environment make East Devon an outstanding place, and we have
an amazing green space offer that contributes towards making the district such an attractive
place to live, work and play.
1.12 If you look at the amount of green space that we own and/or manage and the different
typologies you can see that the Council plays a key role locally in the provision of green
space, including beaches. We manage approximately 1,565 hectares of land including
parks and gardens; nature reserves; housing land; allotments; play areas of various types;
sports pitches; informal recreation areas; beaches and foreshores.
We spend about £2.5 million per annum on managing green space in our ownership and
achieve about £1.2 million in income bringing net expenditure down to £1.3 million p.a.
1.13 We have set out a series of aims in the GSP with a number of management policies under
the headings of formal and informal green space; natural green space; beaches and
foreshores; children’s and young people’s space.
1.14

At a high level we want the GSP to:
 Define the value and role of green spaces;
 Generate political and inter-service support of green space and clear lines of
responsibility;
 Develop a vision shared by politicians and all partners;
page 65

 Create a policy framework for the protection, enhancement, accessibility, and use of
green space;
 Ensure that green spaces enhance the quality of life, diversity of environment and
promote civic pride;
 Ensure that the network of green space meets the needs of local people;
 Provide a framework for resource allocation;
 Create a framework for voluntary and community groups to participate in green
space provision and management.
1.15 We are already encouraging some exciting developments in park improvement, outdoor
theatre, enhancing Seaton Wetlands, hire of our facilities, our events programme, pocket
parks, community orchards, and we want to be able to continue to encourage these
initiatives within the context of an overarching Plan.
1.16 Our Service Plans (Countryside & Leisure; Street Scene; Planning and Housing) contain
specific actions and commitments relating to green space, together with performance
measures so that we can monitor the progress of this Green Space Plan.
1.17 Our ambition, alongside managing and protecting existing green space, is to expand our
green space offer where there is a sound business case for doing so.
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/2318123/green-space-plan-2017-2027.pdf
2.

Defra discussion paper

2.1

In April 2019 Defra (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs) published a
discussion paper on Nature Recovery Networks, promoting the concept and setting out
some principles.

2.2

The rationale for Nature Recovery Networks is set out in the UK Government’s 25-Year
Environment Plan. Defra state that if we are to reverse past declines in wildlife populations
and the extent and condition of their habitats, and if we are to secure wider economic and
social benefits for people, we need not only to continue to conserve and improve our best
wildlife sites, but also to expand our resource of wildlife-rich habitat outside the protected
sites.

2.3

The rationale builds on the vision set out by Sir John Lawton in Making Space for Nature
- Wildlife recovery requires more, bigger, better and more joined-up habitats. A step-change
is required in the approach of nature conservation to one of large-scale habitat restoration
and creation, underpinned by the re-establishment of ecological processes and ecosystem
services.

2.4

Defra recognise that the challenge is to secure a natural environment where the
biodiversity, functioning and resilience of ecosystems are re-established in an expanding
network of spaces for nature that are sustainable into the future.

2.5

The over-arching commitment in the 25-Year Environment Plan to achieve “a growing and
resilient network of land, water and sea that is richer in plants and wildlife”, together with the
ambitions for a Nature Recovery Network and an additional 500,000 ha of wildlife-rich
habitat, represents a significant shift in the ambition of Government to secure the necessary
step-change in conservation.

2.6

The restoration of habitats also helps to improve and safeguard Natural Capital assets and
the flow of ecosystem services that they provide, such as water regulation, flood risk
management, carbon capture and pollination.

2.7

Defra believe that the Nature Recovery Network, including identification of potential areas
for restoration and creation, can act as a strategic spatial prioritisation framework for
integrated planning and delivery of environmental objectives – an ambition identified by the
Natural Capital Committee and incorporated within the 25-Year Environment Plan.
page 66

2.8

As it creates more accessible green spaces, rich in wildlife, the Network can also bring
multiple health, recreation and economic benefits for people and their communities.

2.9

With this significant potential for delivering multiple benefits for nature, people and the wider
environment in mind, Defra suggest that the development of the Nature Recovery Network
could helpfully be underpinned by a set of key principles:
1) Integrated environmental delivery – The Network’s primary aim is helping to
recover nature, but it could provide a strategic spatial prioritisation framework to
assist integrated delivery of a range of environmental outcomes where these can
benefit from changes in land use or management. The Network should also link with
and complement existing strategies.
2) For nature and people – In addition to natural environment objectives, the
Network should also deliver socio-economic benefits, contributing to people’s health,
well-being, recreation and economic prosperity, and helping to secure greater
environmental equity across communities. It therefore needs to be both an urban
and a rural network.
3) A shared endeavour – The success of the Network will depend on the degree to
which we work with partners in a spirit of shared endeavour. For the Network to be
widely supported and recognised as the primary framework for planning and
delivering nature recovery, it will need to be developed in partnership from the
outset.
4) Built locally – Local land managers, communities and organisations are bestplaced to understand local priorities for nature recovery and for identifying
opportunities to improve and extend the Network. The Network will need to be
developed with local partnerships from the ‘bottom-up’ with the active participation of
a range of stakeholders. We will support this ‘Ecosystem Approach’ to building the
network in partnership, helping to convene local partnerships and providing strategic
guidance, data and mapping. The Network should represent a strategic framework
that is locally owned, and linked with local partnerships.
5) Sustainable long-term – To be sustainable in the face of climate change and
other impacts, and to make a sustained contribution to nature recovery and climate
change mitigation and adaptation, the integrity of the network needs to be
maintained over time. The different components of the network will be variously
safeguarded, for example, by legal protections or by planning policy. It will need to
respond to a range of pressures and change and adapt.

3.

Building a Network in partnership

3.1

Good practice suggests that the Nature Recovery Network at all its levels will need to be
developed, planned, mapped and implemented in partnership. There needs to be a broad
consensus that working in partnership from the outset will help establish networks that are
relevant, valued and supported. The Network will need to help deliver national-level,
strategic outcomes for nature recovery, but it is recognised that the effort to achieve this
can only be planned and mobilised at local level.

3.2

This suggests that it will be essential to establish a framework for national and local network
partnerships and to provide an appropriate toolkit of criteria, guidance, data and mapping to
support local network development.

3.3

An extract of the advice on building networks and associated guidance in shown in annex
2.

3.4

To support this work it would be beneficial to have better intelligence of the fauna and flora
across the district. This work would be complementary and influence the progress of rewilding. Working with knowledgeable partners, volunteers, and community groups will help
page 67

us to build up a picture of the strength and viability of species and what has been lost from
local habitats.
4.
Practical application of re-wilding on EDDC and other land to establish a network
4.1 The foregoing covers some of the national debate and direction on nature recovery and rewilding, but we are interested in the practical application locally and how we develop the
concept. We have delivered re-wilding on a number of our sites in recent years. This has
occurred in parks and gardens, on nature reserves and areas of grassland and open space
that we maintain.
4.2 Re-wilding for our purposes needs to be clearly defined. It is not defined in our Green Space
Plan and this is one of the recommendations for future project work, but a working definition
would be useful as the term is bandied around so often with little understanding of what it
actually means. We have started to define it on our website as ‘ecological rewilding’ (places
an emphasis on insect habitat restoration). This needs to be debated, developed and
confirmed.
4.3 We already have some fine examples of re-wilding from what Wild East Devon and
StreetScene has achieved. These can be used for local case studies. For instance, the long
grass areas in Exmouth that have been created in Phear Park, Brixington Park and St Johns
Road playing field with a total 37,000m2 of land, and the wildflower areas established in the
Byes, Sidmouth.
4.4 The official and nature conservation industry accepted definition of re-wilding is a form of
environmental conservation and ecological restoration that has significant potential to
increase biodiversity, create self-sustainable environments and mitigate climate change. Rewilding aims to do this by reintroducing lost animal species to natural environments. It
is an exciting and promising conservation strategy aimed at restoring natural processes and
wilderness areas, providing connectivity between such areas (corridors), and reintroducing
large herbivores, predators and/or keystone species.
4.5

Nationally the scale can range from The Knepp estate, West Sussex, where landscape scale
extensive grazing and reintroducing missing keystone species, to leaving a small patch of
long grass under a parkland tree. Wild East Devon key plans for adding biodiversity may not
be classed as re-wilding but more improved and sensitive management. Appropriate gains
can be found around creating new orchards, urban tree planting, wildflower meadow creation
and sensitive verge management. Harder to achieve gains are in landscape scale and
catchment management involving private land ownership and evolution of agricultural
practices. We should start with our own land holdings, set a good example, then move on to
supporting the wider population (a nature reserve of gardens!) and larger landowners.

4.6 An example of where we are trying to rewild is the reintroduction of the water vole within our
sites by creating the right habitat and conditions to bring back a keystone species that was
once wild within our riparian habitats…this also applies to the reintroduction of the beaver. I
think we should therefore avoid giving management regimes such as creating wildflower
corridors through reduced grass-cutting the term “rewilding” as in nature conservation terms
we are not rewilding our estate but improving, recreating and enhancing green spaces for
wildlife. This is a very important distinction to make and something we need to take seriously
if we are going to make some serious decisions about how we look to manage our green
spaces for greater biodiversity going forward.
4.7

Maybe we should refer to the work being done in our green spaces as “recreating”
wildflower habitats rather than “rewilding” in our corporate documents, Service Plans and
associated PR, it may seem like semantics, but to the wider nature conservation world it is an
important distinction.
page 68

4.8 Before adopting an approach and promoting this more widely there is a note of caution that
suggests that not all areas are suitable for rewilding. In some areas we may experience a
proliferation of litter, dog mess, and create vision barriers on road verges. So we need to be
sensitive to the different uses, areas and needs of all our spaces. Re-wilding will not be
appropriate at every space and there will always remain a need to keep some areas cut tight
with short grass giving a more manicured appearance. Our teams will always try to allow
space for nature, but balance this with some spaces cut tighter for picnicking and ball games.
Some additional and notable challenges to re-wilding will come from neighbours, existing
user groups, underground services, equipment resources, green waste solutions and health
and safety considerations.
4.9 Differing land uses will also necessitate flexible approaches, for instance in areas prone to
litter or fly tipping, with narrow access or rear service lanes/highly urban areas with small
green spaces; re-wilding may not be the appropriate management response for the area.
4.10 Furthermore, our Planners have advised a word of caution from a planning perspective in
that the Local Plan sets standards for different types of open space based on the open space
audit that we undertook some years ago. We need to ensure that the audit informs any
rewilding work to ensure that we retain the appropriate standards of each category of open
space in the towns.
4.11 For example, Planning colleagues question whether we should be rewilding areas of parks
and recreation grounds unless we can demonstrate that there are excess parks and
recreation grounds in that town when measured against our own adopted standards.
Otherwise we could lead to a deficit of a particular type of open space in that area, which
would have knock on impacts in terms of infrastructure needs and costs in the future in
making up any shortfalls particularly if further development were to be promoted through the
Local Plan, which further impact on the deficit. Some of our towns are already deficient in
some types of formal open space and so if we start rewilding formal open space areas in
these towns we would be achieving one objective to the detriment of another.
4.12 Our Countryside & Leisure Service branding uses a Wild East Devon tag and the team have
been active in providing the Wild Exmouth project.
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/countryside/wild-exmouth/
4.13 The Wild Honiton project proposal has been created working with a wide range of partners
including Honiton Town Council that will focus on improving our wildlife corridors, improving
wildlife habitat and ecology, enhancing the visitor experience to the town’s green spaces,
creating a sculpture trail to interpret the landscape, create a volunteer group to help manage
our green spaces, create new physical access into our two AONBs and develop an outdoor
learning and public events programme that celebrates and raises awareness of Honiton’s
wild spaces.
4.14 Wild East Devon has shown that with external funding the team can lead on such projects as
Wild Exmouth, and we will be shortly starting to consult on the Wild Honiton project. We
would like to scale up these in the future to include towns such as Axminster, Sidmouth,
Seaton, Ottery and Cranbrook to develop and deliver biodiversity gains and benefits for
health and wellbeing through public engagement. With our partnership approach Wild East
Devon has attracted over £80,000 to the Wild Exmouth project and this would need to be
repeated in each area if the initiative is scaled up.
Housing (HRA) land
4.15 We have a significant amount of Housing land on our estates, which provides a nice
environment and green spaces for tenants, reducing the density of our estates and creating
areas for play and enjoyment. There is potential to make these sites more interesting from a
page 69

landscaping and nature perspective. Housing have a comprehensive and plotted database of
green/open space, which was undertaken a few years ago. I suggest we should review this
database with the purpose of identifying areas suitable for re-wilding.
4.16 StreetScene maintain our Housing land and tenants gardens (Garden Maintenance Scheme)
where our tenant are unable to manage gardens themselves. We can collaborate on a
scheme to promote re-wilding of these areas and our communal areas.
4.17 We have undertaken several community orchard projects on Housing land involving
tenants and I suggest that we need to consult our tenants on rolling out the project on our
estates and communal land. Our programme should explain to tenants the benefits of rewilding and ask tenants to support the approach on communal areas and in their own
gardens.
Other ways of progressing the re-wilding/wild flower habitat concept
4.18 There are opportunities for community engagement and securing public support for the
project. There are also opportunities for volunteering, building on our existing volunteer
base working mainly on nature reserves. It is clear implementing this project will be best if we
work with community groups, Town & Parish Councils and landowners to secure their
understanding, support and active involvement in the scheme.
4.19 We also need to be working with partners, landowners there are many groups who share our
ambitions and we should be working with the Devon Wildlife Trust, Clinton Devon, AONB
managers, Jurassic Coast Trust, Allotments, farmers to name just a few. Collectively there is
a large and influential group of partners here that could make a transformational difference to
the project. There are opportunities in people’s private gardens and how they form part of
the overall wildlife matrix.
4.20 There is huge potential in engaging with our Areas of Outstanding Beauty teams as much
of their work overlaps with this agenda and who have considerable experience in
sympathetically managing and maintaining the huge expanse of AONB that covers much of
East Devon.
4.21 We are involved in an exciting multi-agency partnership project called the Axe Catchment
Restoration project that links directly with our re-wilding ambitions, and an outline of the
project is shown in annex 3.
4.22 We should operate a properly orchestrated campaign and actively promote re-wilding,
encouraging gardeners and people with small green spaces to participate in re-wilding
recognising the value that all natural spaces can contribute towards the diversification goal.
There are some nice examples of community projects already well established. Woodbury
Wide Awake project for example:
https://www.woodbury-wide-awake.co.uk/
4.23 We would like to explore the potential for nature recovery at sea and on our beaches and
ensure that our ambitions include these areas and our thinking incorporated in our Beach
Management Plans. This might include incorporating aspects of the Lyme Bay Fisheries and
Conservation Reserve project in our thinking.
https://lymebayreserve.co.uk/about/overview.php
4.24 We have in-house expertise and can use the support and input of Tree team. With ongoing
support for tree planting and natural regeneration as a contribution to climate action, the Tree
Officers would have a wealth of knowledge to support planting the right tree in the right
page 70

place. We should also show a desire to source local and native species of flora for re-wilding
projects. Also to research the species required to future proof against climate change, for
example, what species will we plant today to replace those that will be lost to temperatures
increase, such as beech.
4.25 During August we received notification of a new publication from The Wildlife Trusts title
Reversing the Decline of Insects (annex 4). This sits well with our re-wilding and biodiversity
ambitions, providing evidence of the troubling decline in insects, some of the causes, and
case studies of where and how recovery and recolonisation can be achieved. There are two
references to projects in East Devon and a strong narrative for creating habitats that support
insect life.
4.26 Perhaps the best way of rolling out this project is to establish a project group of members
and officers (namely relevant Portfolio Holder / Assistant Portfolio Holders and officers), to
review the existing re-wild areas and nature recovery projects; review the plotting and
monitoring of existing areas; a desktop review to identify potential new areas to re-wild; site
visits; organise community consultation; produce a generic specification/vision that be
amended for site specific projects; have a planting standard; identify the potential for species
reintroduction; devise monitoring arrangements. There is a lot of mapping work to do. We are
working on mapping out our re-wilding areas already along with our greenspace
interventions.
4.27 This initiative represents a significant commitment and will require considerable time and
energy to realise the full benefits of a coordinated increase in natural green space. The
project can be rolled out over time as we add to our portfolio of natural wild areas. This report
can form the basis of our strategy and plan for nature recovery and re-wilding. The link
between nature recovery and connecting with nature is so important. We can make huge
gains for people and wildlife through this emerging project.

page 71

Annex 2
Nature Recovery network guidance and criteria
Government have proposed that a Nature Recovery Network national partnership is
established to involve a wide range of organisations in the development and
implementation of a Nature Recovery Network project. Natural England, working with
the Environment Agency and Forestry Commission, is well-placed to lead and coordinate this effort, working closely with a wide range of external partners to
establish a national project and develop a strategic delivery plan. Defra want to work
with partners to agree:
 Principles and objectives for the network;
 The structure of the Network, including the criteria for its key
components;
 A framework for setting up and supporting local network partnerships;
 A toolkit of criteria, guidance, data and mapping for developing the
network at local level;
 Metrics and reporting methods for monitoring the development of the
network;
 A process for identifying landscape and catchment-scale nature
recovery areas.
The framework for establishing local network partnerships will be particularly
important for effective securing participation and support, and we want to gather the
views of stakeholders on how this can best be achieved.
Defra suggest it would be preferable for local network partnerships to be based on
existing arrangements where they are fit for purpose. There are many long-standing
stakeholder partnerships for nature conservation and for landscape or environmental
improvement, and a number of government partnership initiatives, such as Local
Nature Partnerships and Catchment Partnerships. In addition, we need to consider
the role and contribution of local planning authorities, which already have
responsibilities in relation to ecological networks under the National Planning Policy
Framework.
Through discussion with partners, Defra want to develop a better understanding of
the arrangements that would be most effective – bearing in mind that these might
look different in different places – and at what spatial scale they should operate.
There can be a tension, for example, between the ideal ecological spatial scale and
operational administrative boundaries, such as those of local planning authorities.
Criteria and guidance
National discussions with partners and enthusiasts have supported the development
of criteria for identifying the components of the Network and guidance for applying
these criteria locally to objective-setting and spatial prioritisation.
The criteria will need to be sufficiently broad to apply in a range of settings: upland
and lowland, rural and urban. While ecological objectives will be central, the criteria
would also need to reflect the over-arching objectives of the network, for example, by

page 72

incorporating consideration of ecosystem service provision, climate change
adaptation and mitigation, and recreation and access.
Identification of potential habitat creation areas will inevitably require consideration of
competing priorities for land-use in a given location and so decision-support tools will
be needed for evaluating the optimal combination of objectives.
Developing mapping to support the development of the Network will be a complex
challenge and we will need to work with partners on the appropriate data to use and
how a mapping framework should be constructed.
Local partnerships will likely want to develop local network maps. Maps produced
nationally and using predominantly national datasets, would benefit from addition of
local data and intelligence about priorities and opportunities. This would also allow
input by relevant local communities and landowners.
A key requirement is that the datasets for producing network maps should be readilyavailable, accessible and easy to use for partnerships, although a lead organisation
may be identified to undertake technical mapping work.
Any network maps will need to be practical for a range of potential purposes,
including:





Generating new habitat and species projects;
Prioritisation of environmental land management outcomes;
Locating biodiversity net gain compensation; and
Supporting planning functions as set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Collating available datasets and designing a mapping framework for local use will
clearly be technically challenging and require a dedicated resource. Natural England
is keen to explore the appetite for a national mapping working group to be
established at an early stage to undertake this and to announce a mapping call-forevidence. Any such group would need to link with what is going on in other initiatives
such as catchment management or Environmental Land Management.
There is a wealth of data and mapping resources held by Government and partners
that could be used to develop the network and some examples are listed below:
 Habitat Networks Mapping – Natural England maps identifying
current priority habitat networks and indicating potential areas
for extending and linking areas through habitat creation and
restoration. Associated Climate Change Vulnerability Maps for
habitats can inform consideration of network resilience and
sustainability.
 Favourable Conservation Status analysis – Statements in
development setting out the required minimum extent and
spatial configuration for priority habitats and species at national
and local levels.
 Species ‘Big Wins’ analysis and habitat/population
connectivity modelling – Resources identifying, respectively,
areas of landscape-scale habitat restoration that are optimal for
supporting the recovery of groups of priority species, and

page 73

optimal migration routes for species across the landscape via
suitable habitat networks.
 Biodiversity priorities – Habitat restoration and creation
hotspots mapping by the Landscape Partnership (National Trust,
RSPB, Wildlife Trusts and Woodland Trust). Also, Plantlife’s
Important Plant Areas and Important Freshwater Areas mapped
by the Freshwater Habitats Trust.
 Woodlands and water – Forestry Commission mapping
identifying opportunities for woodland creation, habitat networks
and for afforestation to improve water quality and flood
attenuation. The Environment Agency’s land-use mapping
indicating priority areas for changes in land management and
use to deliver integrated environmental improvements, including
for habitats, water quality, and flood risk management.

page 74

Annex 3
Axe Catchment restoration & Nature Recovery Network pilot project





The Axe Catchment restoration project is a new collaborative partnership between East Devon
DC’s Countryside team, Natural England, Blackdown Hills, Dorset & East Devon AONBs,
Devon Wildlife Trust & SW Water.
There are significant opportunities and implications from this project for the Seaton Wetlands.
At the East Devon Catchment Partnership (EDCP) meeting on 12 June 2020, a renewed
ambition to collaborate to tackle issues and realise opportunities in the Axe catchment was
presented.
The EDCP has a broad remit across many water catchments, but the Axe remains a priority
across the partnership for the following reasons:
o It is a failing water quality catchment with a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) that is
partly unfavourable, largely due to phosphates and Marine Conservation Zone (MCZ). It is
subject to an associated, statutory Axe Nutrient Management Plan.
o It has important building blocks of the Nature Recovery Network (NRN), but areas are
fragmented and some are in a poor condition
o it has a wealth of opportunities for working with natural processes
o trust has been built with members of farming community through previous projects and ongoing farm facilitation schemes
o it has local flooding issues and solutions are being developed in partnership with Local
Flood Action Groups
o it is a Catchment Sensitive Farming and Woods for Water (tree planting) priority catchment
o It straddles parts of 3 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and is the focus for a
national Colchester Declaration (nature’s recovery) pilot, looking to align AONB Nature
Recovery Plans by creating a shared vision and delivery plan.

The Axe Catchment Restoration proposal:




There is now the momentum to build on current drivers/ incentives and initiatives to really make
a step-change difference in how we work together to benefit the Axe catchment utilising the
nature recovery programme.
There is a need to ‘fix’ the Axe catchment and enable it to function in a resilient way. There is
also a need to share lessons learnt from the Axe with other East Devon Catchment Partnership
catchments and vice versa.
The proposal’s three main pillars underpinning Axe Catchment Restoration (the whole is more
than the sum of the parts principle):
1. Building resilience: including nature’s recovery actions, soils and physical modifications,
sustainable land management practices
2. Regulation: including Water Framework Directive and the Axe Nutrient Management Plan
3. Securing wider benefits: including flood & drought, net zero/ carbon and community
benefits

What does a resilient Axe catchment look like by 2050?





Stakeholders have a unified vision as to how the catchment should be managed with nature’s
recovery, climate resilience and delivery of public goods & services at its core.
(Important) Habitat (mire/ woodland and heathland) mosaics have been established through a
Nature Recovery Network (NRN) that are better, bigger, more joined and operate as a viable,
functioning and interconnected carbon rich nature network
This interconnected NRN allows flagship species such as horseshoe bats, dormice and fritillary
butterflies to move freely to new climate spaces
Designated nature conservation sites are operating as functioning ‘core nature areas’ in the
Nature Recovery Network, from terrestrial through to marine
page 75












Sustainable and Regenerative agriculture has been widely embraced by the farming
community providing public goods and services benefits
The Axe Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is in near natural/ favourable conservation
condition/ and phosphate levels in the catchment are reduced and stable
Natural processes are operating across the catchment with rivers reconnected to their
floodplains, and beavers are integral components in a sustainable landscape
Sustainable farming across the whole catchment is providing public goods and services and is
being rewarded through support mechanisms
Local businesses are thriving and reaping the benefits from a nature rich catchment landscape
The knock-on benefits that accrue from the three National Landscapes (world class nature rich
landscapes) feeds into the surrounding catchment area, so that everyone feels the benefit
New developments are sustainable, resilient and exemplars of green development including
appropriate use of resources and recycling
Existing settlements and infrastructure are retrofitted to ensure careful use of natural resources
and flood risk is greatly reduced
Biodiversity net gain and other investment opportunities are used to continue to rebuild and
strengthen a resilient and coherent nature network
People can access and make a ‘connection to nature’ from wherever they live in the Axe
catchment and opportunities are available to all.

page 76

Agenda Item 16
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30 September 2020
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
Financial Plan (2021 – 2031)
Report summary:
Attached is the draft Financial Plan (2021-2031) for members to consider.

Recommendation:
1. That Cabinet recommend to Council approval of the Financial Plan (2021-2031).
2. Members consider the minutes of the Budget Strategy and Capital Allocation Panel and
endorse or otherwise the steer being given to address the projected budget shortfall outlined in the
Financial Plan.

Reason for recommendation:
It is good practice in managing the finances of the Council to produce a Financial Plan looking at
the future direction of the Council’s budgets.
To consider the implications of spending plans and the level of resources likely to be available. It
is only by looking at the Council’s budget over a longer period, that action can be taken that will
influence the direction and shape of future service delivery within a balanced budget.

Officer: Simon Davey, Strategic Lead Finance sdavey@eastdevon.gov.uk 01395 517490
Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action
☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery
☐ Democracy and Transparency
☐ Economy and Assets
☐ Coast, Country and Environment
☒ Finance
☐ Strategic Planning
☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Financial implications:
Detailed in the Plan attached

page 77

Legal implications:
There are no legal implication requiring comment
Equalities impact Low Impact
Although this may lead to separate reports to cabinet which could have an impact which can be
accessed at the time.
Climate change Low Impact
Risk: Although this may lead to separate reports to cabinet which could have an impact which can
be accessed at the time.
Links to background information
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding Place and Environment
☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities
☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services

page 78

Financial Plan (2021 -2031)

page 79

1. About this Plan
Our Financial Plan considers the General Fund 1 position and the Capital Programme 2,
the third area of the Council’s finances the Housing Revenue Account 3 is reviewed and
monitored within its own 30 year Business Plan.
The purpose of this Plan is to define how the Council will structure and manage its
finances over the next ten years in order to deliver services to residents and support the
objectives detailed within the Council Plan.
The Financial Plan also links with other key plans and documents of the Council
including Service Plans, Treasury Management Strategy and input from the Budget
Setting and Capital Allocations Panel (Member Group) and the Council’s Senior
Management Team.
The Financial Plan requires the preparation of an annual Medium Term Financial Plan
Model (MTFP) and is an essential part of the budget setting process. The MTFP
provides a financial model and forecast of the cost of providing services over a rolling
ten-year period, together with an estimate of the financial resources that are likely to be
available to the Council. The process is designed to provide an early warning of any
potential deficit in the required level of resources.
As well as considering the General Fund, the MTFP also reviews the affordability of the
Council’s capital investment programme, matching its forecast potential available
funding against planned capital spending over a five year horizon.
The development of a ten-year financial model is based upon a number of assumptions
and perceived risks which clearly become more difficult to predict as the period covered
lengthens. However, as a broad principle the model has been developed on the basis of
‘reasonable and prudent’ forecasts and assumptions in accordance with sound
accounting practice.
2. Fundamental principles
Underpinning this plan, the following fundamental principles have been adopted by the
Council:
• To secure the financial stability of the Council as we continue to respond and
recover from the Pandemic.
• Annually, a balanced revenue budget will be set with expenditure to be limited by
the amount of available resources.
•

The General Fund balance will be maintained at the adopted level.

1. The General Fund records day to day spending on the delivery of Council services 2. Capital Programme spending relates
to the purchase or enhancement of assets, expenditure that has a benefit greater than a year. 3. Housing Revenue Account
records spending on Council Housing and its landlord function.

2
page 80

• If required to balance the budget resources will be redirected from low to high
priority services to meet objectives set out in the Council Plan.
• Council Tax increases will be kept within annually announced government
guidelines to ensure a local referendum is not triggered.
In considering the capital budget, the Council will continue to follow the methodology of
scheme scoring and prioritisation. The Council will also seek to maximise the use of its
assets.
3. Financial background
Of recent years the most significant impacts on the Council’s finances came from the
Comprehensive Spending Review in 2010 and following Spending Reviews where the
Government cut local authorities funding to tackle the financial crisis at the time.
The Council has seen a reduction in Government funding of 60p in the pound.
The MTFP has the added pressure of inflationary increases, continued low investment
income, an increasing call on services, members’ ambitions to enhance and improve
services, a new commitment to a carbon reduction programme and the wish to keep to
moderate increases in fees and charges.
These factors have shaped the finances of the Council over recent years and placed it
in a continuing difficult position of setting balanced budgets.
The Council has a good track record of delivering balanced budgets, meeting its
spending plans and Council Plan outcomes through careful financial management and
planning ahead. Careful decisions have been taken where service savings have been
made, initiatives taken in the areas of; asset management, shared service provision,
systems thinking principles, the persuasion of customers to use more convenient and
cost effective means of transacting with the Council, procurement efficiencies and
income generation. These initiatives have been implemented with the overall arching
principle to protect front line services to the public.
The Council has facilitated and encouraged business and housing growth in the district
to deliver its ambitions and benefited in additional government funding through New
Homes Bonus and extra Business Rate income.
A balanced budget was agreed by Council for 2020/21 despite a projected gap of £0.7m
for the year alone, this was achieved as in prior years by following the themes originally
contained in the Council’s Transformation Strategy and then further refined to 3 key
areas:
 Fit for purpose
 Commercialisation
 Careful Choices

3
page 81

There is now a new and significant risk to the financial stability of all Councils through
the impact of Covid-19; for this Council this has seen in year unbudgeted costs and a
significant decline in income obtained from customer receipts along with a reduction in
the collection of business rates and council tax. The continuation of these financial risks
are reflected in this Financial Strategy as we look forward.
It is time to reflect going forward on the right approach to balance the Council’s budget
determined by a new Council Leadership and dealing with and recovery from Covid-19.

4. Medium Term Financial Plan
The base for the MTFP is the 2020/21 approved budget and the current cost of ongoing
services, adjusted to take account of a range of unavoidable costs such as pay
increases, inflationary pressures, the implementation of any approved changes to the
budget and any costs arising from new legislation and associated regulations or
changes in resident demand. The MTFP takes account of any forecast variations in the
level of both investment and fee income.
The Plan also considers and makes reasonable assumptions about the likely incomes
from council tax and central government funding.
The MTFP is designed to model scenarios and to aggregate the sum of all potential
financial inputs, to determine whether the Council will have sufficient resources to
achieve its objectives, or indeed whether action is required to bridge a funding gap.
In formulating these calculations a number of assumptions have been made and a
range of external influences considered. The various risks and pressures are detailed at
the end of the Plan with commentary on their potential impact. Brexit was a substantial
risk in considering the economic situation and implications on the MTFP but the
consequence of the Pandemic is now the central concern.
Appendix A to the Financial Plan contains the summary page of the MTFP including an
analysis of costs and inflation applied.
A similar exercise has been undertaken in respect of future capital expenditure, detailing
the anticipated level of resources required, together with potential funding sources
available to the Council to support its planned programme of works and where there are
revenue implications these have been acknowledged within the Plan.
MTFP – Revenue Position
The position on General Fund services is detailed in the table below and shows the
current year 2020/21 for comparison and forms the basis from which future
assessments have been made. The 2020/21 position is the set budget, the implications
effecting this budget are considered going forward.
Some key areas to note in this calculation:


Service Budgets - This position is calculated based on current service
provision adjusted where there are known resident demand changes,
4
page 82

contract agreements or legislative requirements. This position does not
include any growth in service or staffing to the Council’s current service
level with the exception of:
-

Inclusion of a £50k annual budget for an ecologist position/ or
the purchase of expertise when required. This is as a
consequence of bio-diversity net gain requirement introduced in
planning legislation.

-

£195k has been allowed for the development of a Local Plan.

-

A significant uplift of £615k per annum has been included as
part of the next stage in the Recycling and Refuse Contract.
There is also a £730k capital investment requirement.

-

Work is still ongoing on determining the implications of the
Council’s commitment to a carbon reduction programme. The
MTFP assumes a commitment ongoing of £323k per annum
which although significant and beyond most Councils financial
commitment it is short of the full requirement. Without
government or other external support the Council does not have
the financial ability to meet the full programme but the
programme will be progressed and the Council will work to
consider how the full agenda can be actioned.

-

Service budgets and income budgets from fees and charges
are assumed to return to pre covid-19 levels within the MTFP.
This follows the 2020/21 budget monitoring position seen after
“lock-down” ended. Additional financial assistance to residents
dealing with recession it is assumed will come from existing
schemes which are Government funded, implications of
additional council tax support scheme costs has been
accounted for. In terms of additional business support it is
assumed this will be within the limits of specific reserves held for
this purpose by the Council.

The Council’s 2020/21 budget book is a useful reference as it details
significant information about the service provision currently provided; costs
and income received, staffing resources involved in each area, the assets
utilised and number of service users.

5
page 83



Government Funding General - The 2020/21 Local Government Finance
Settlement was a one-year spending round only. This put on hold reforms
planned for 2020/21; changes to both the local government funding
formula and the re-basing and implementation of a new business rate
retention scheme. The settlement basically carried forward spending
allocations from 2019/20 into 2020/21.
The Government has announced it intends to undertake a full review of
local authority funding for 2021/22. Although it has stated that changes to
Business Rate Retention Scheme will not be introduced in 2021/22 it has
indicated that additional growth being retained by Council’s maybe
considered.
Understanding this funding position and the implication on other core
funding mechanisms (Business Rate Growth and New Homes Bonus) is
critical to determining the MTFP position but there is real uncertainty at the
moment.
The MTFP assumes a fall to baseline funding for the Council from
2022/23; taking away any growth in business rates (2020/21 budget
£1.5m and assumed £2m in 2021/22) and the demise of NHB (2020/21
budget £1.5m). Should funding fall even lower it assumes there would be
some transitional arrangements to phase significant decreases.
The Government has in recent months acted to support local authorities
through the financial implications of Covid-19 and has stated it will look to
support and stabilise local government finances going forward. What this
means in reality is unknown and until the Local Government Finance
Settlement is announced (normal timescales of late November/early
December) it will remain unknown which makes planning extremely
difficult.
To add to the complexity of planning ahead the Government is shortly to
publish a recovery and devolution white paper which is likely to have an
impact on the shape of local government going forward. No assumption of
the outcome of this has been addressed in the MTFP.



Business Rate income - this has been assumed under the existing
arrangements; the 50% rate retention scheme. The Government had
intended to introduce a 75% retention scheme from 2020/21, but this is
still under review. The implication is likely to be the same level of funding
but with greater incentive to retain additional growth above the
Governments funding baseline. This has not been factored in and will be
6
page 84

considered in further updates of the Plan. If introduced in this form then
the impact is unlikely to be material in the early years of the Plan.
The MTFP assumes in 2021/22 the Council will be £2m above the
baseline funding level (retained growth). This is still considered prudent
and does factor in the recent decline in business rate collection through
Covid-19. The Council does have reserves to mitigate losses if this level of
income does not materialise.
 Council Tax - The Government has for a number of years determined
rural district councils can increase their council tax by £5 a year or up to
2% whichever is the greatest before triggering a local referendum. This is
the level of income the Government assess is available to the Council and
the MTFP applies this increase annually. As a result of Covid-19 and
reduced collection rates no surplus on the collection fund has been
assumed and the base increase as been prudentially set taking account of
lower growth and an increase in Council Tax Support costs.
 New Homes Bonus (NHB) - Income retained in the General Fund to
support revenue costs has been included in budgets for a number of years
at £1.5m. The scheme is ending in its current form with the annual
amount reducing; this gives £1.5m available in 2021/22 then falls to £0.9m
in 2022/23 and then ends. A replacement for NHB has been consulted on
with the Government wishing to sharpen the incentivising of housing
growth in the most effective way, no announcement of a replacement
scheme has been made so no additional income has been included in the
Plan at this time.

The MTFP shows a projected deficit for 2021/22 of £0.694m which then increases
reaching £5.653m in 2030/31 as a deficit shortfall in the annual budget. Clearly this is
an unsustainable pattern and not one that the Council will allow, this updated MTFP is in
line with previous assessments and reports to Council. A summary position of the
MTFP is given below.

7
page 85

Summary of MTFPRevenue

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

2025/26
£000

2026/27
£000

2027/28
£000

2028/29
£000

2029/30
£000

2030/31
£000

15,592

15,592

16,501

17,623

18,551

19,225

19,801

20,390

21,801

21,605

22,233

-

376

537

378

115

0

0

90

(90)

0

0

-

533

585

550

559

576

589

601

614

628

640

15,592

16,501

17,623

18,551

19,225

19,801

20,390

21,081

21,605

22,233

22,873

NNDR Gov’t
baseline
NNDR income
above baseline
Rural Grant

(2,667)

(2,721)

(2,775)

(2,831)

(2,887)

(2,944)

(3,004)

(3,064)

(3,125)

(3,188)

(3,251)

(1,500)

(2,000)

(300)

(400)

(500)

(600)

(300)

(400)

(500)

(600)

(700)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

(226)

Council Tax

(8,828)

(9,204)

(9,586)

(9,972)

(10,364)

(10,760)

(11,161)

(11,568)

(11,980)

(12,396)

(12,818)

(857)

(656)

(650)

(675)

(800)

(825)

(825)

(825)

(825)

(825)

(825)

483

500

540

580

600

600

600

600

600

600

600

(122)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(70)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(305)
(1,500)

0
(1,500)

0
(922)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0

(80)

0

0

0

(90)

0

0

0

(15,592)

(15,807)

(13,919)

(13,604)

(14,177)

(14,756)

(14,916)

(15,573)

(16,056)

(16,635)

(17,220)

-

694

3,704

4,947

5,048

5,045

5,474

5,508

5,549

5,598

5,653

-

694

4,398

9,345

14,393

19,438

24,912

30,420

35,969

41,567

47,220

Net Service Costs
Amendments to
base budget
Pay & Inflation and
other inescapables
Net Budget
Requirement

External Interest
Interest/Loan
Repayments
Collection Fund
Surplus
Savings Target Procurement
Reserves for one
off expenditure
New Homes Bonus
to support general
funding
Agreed use of
General Fund
Total Resources
Available
Annual Budget
Shortfall if no
action taken
Cumulative
financial position
for information only
as Council is not
allowed to take
forward a deficit
position –
expenditure needs
funding in year.

This row shows the shortfall in the annual budget assuming no action is taken.
As stated if no action is taken to reduce budgeted expenditure and/or increase budgeted
income then there will be a projected budget shortfall in 2021/22 of £0.694m. This gap
in the annual budget grows to £5.653m by 2030/31 at the end of the MTFP period.
However, the Council is unable to set an unbalanced budget, therefore the table
below is more useful in looking at the budget gap on the basis that each year’s shortfall
will be found in turn by reducing expenditure or increasing income in the Council’s
budget (with a permanent effect). Thereby the shortfall below represents what is
required to be found each year.

8
page 86

Table: MTFP Model – Annual budget shortfall assuming previous year’s shortfall was
found.
General Fund

Budget Shortfall

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

2025/26
£000

2026/27
£000

2027/28
£000

2028/29
£000

2029/30
£000

2030/31
£000

694

3,010

1,243

101

(3)

428

35

41

48

56

The model identifies the pressures and influences on the Council’s revenue budgets and
highlights a shortfall between the Council’s spending requirements and the amount of
finance available. Actions will need to be taken to meet these shortfalls and the need to
keep finding savings year on year is not to be underestimated.
A clear message from the Plan is there is a need to address the funding gap and there
are no resources available for growth unless capacity is found through a combination of;
reprioritising spending, the achievement of savings or increased income.
There will be additional service expenditure raised during the annual budget process but
within this Plan only unavoidable costs have been included. Debate on these additional
items will be held during the budget process and prioritisation of spend considered
against existing service spend.
MTFP Revenue - The Way Forward
Previously presented to Members’ alongside the Financial Plan was the Council’s
Transformation Strategy which played an integral part in meeting our deficits in the past.
The Transformation Strategy was then developed further into three main themes:


Fit for purpose – continuous review of the staffing structure to ensure the right
posts are in place to support the objectives of the Council and ensuring the
Council was being operated efficiently and effectively.



Commercialisation – This was ensuring the Council looked to maximise income
generation from new or existing areas where it was seen customers would value
and pay for a service which in turn would generate a profit to help support the
overall costs of running the Council. Also linked to this theme was the Council’s
investment framework.



Careful Choices – This was a process of explanation to residents of the financial
position of the Council, the cost of services provided and determining prioritise of
the public and non-prioritise where costs could be saved.

A combination of the Pandemic, Government intention on tightening property investment
and a new Leadership of the Council requires these areas to be reconsidered to
determine if this is still the appropriate approach to balancing the Council’s budgets.
There are elements/actions within these headings that members are likely to be content
on progressing but they do need debating.
This Strategy proposes a two stage approach which is linked to understanding the
cause of the MTFP funding gap and reflects the current uncertainty of Government
9
page 87

funding for local authorities and possibly even the shape of local government going
forward.
There is a funding gap of £4.9m up to the next District election (2023/24), the assumed
change in funding of Business Rates and NHB accounts for £3.1m of this shortfall.
General Fund

MTFP Budget Shortfall

Change in Business Rates & NHB
Underlying MTFP shortfall – service costs
increasing above income generation

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

Total

694

3,010

1,243

4,947

0

2,278

822

3,100

694

732

421

1,847

The changes in funding are uncertain in terms of extent and timing and although likely to
be implemented to a degree or to its full extent it puts the Council in a precarious
position of having to make significant savings and likely service reductions without being
certain on the level and timing of savings required.
It is proposed that the funding gap is addressed in terms of the underlying MTFP
shortfall at this stage and although plans should be considered for the larger deficit sum
actions are held until there is clarity on timing and extent.
To mitigate and de-risk this approach It is recommended that Council create a new
reserve from additional business rates received in 2019/20 (details contained in 2019/20
Outturn Report to Cabinet on 30/9/20) of £2m. This reserve to be used to mitigate and
de-risk the implications of the Government funding changes until the outcome is known
and can be planned for appropriately. Having such a reserve can then buy time, if
required, to fund a sudden fall in funding whilst the Council reshapes its budget, but at a
time and to a degree that’s required instead of progressing at this point when there are
so many uncertainties.
The immediate shortfall in 2021/22 is estimated at £0.7m this is part of the underlying
funding gap and needs to be addressed in preparation for the 2021/22 budget. There
are actions previously raised that need to be debated and with member agreement
could meet this gap; Fit for Purpose proposals, commercialisation and better use of
assets (public conveniences, car parks – reviews in progress) or other areas members
may wish to bring forward. Progress on these proposals will be considered through the
Budget Setting and Capital Allocations Panel before formalising in reports to Council.

Capital
The Council maintains a programme of capital expenditure designed to improve a wide
range of community facilities and local infrastructure. The forward funding projections
below only include rolling items and projects identified early by managers; there will be
proposals missing from this list that will need to be considered for funding out of
available resources.
10
page 88

There will be a disparity between the Council’s capital spending aspirations being
greater than the amount of finance available. In producing these figures agreed
principles have/will be applied:


Capital works associated with the Housing Revenue Account are self funded;
these costs have been included in the HRA business model. Any capital
receipts generated from the HRA are used to finance HRA expenditure.



A capital bid process is in place whereby appraisal forms are completed for
each scheme and a scoring methodology applied to prioritise expenditure
within resources available. This prioritisation is overseen by the Member
Budget Strategy & Capital Allocation Panel.

MTFP Model – Capital Expenditure and Funding Position

Net Capital
Expenditure
HRA Financing
GF Capital Receipts
External Interest
New Homes Bonus
– allocated
Sec 106 & Grants
Project Reserves
Capital Reserve
Net Internal/
External Borrowing

2020/21
£000
15,510

2021/22
£000
6,721

2022/23
£000
4,717

2023/24
£000
4,717

2024/25
£000
5,148

(4,906)
(100)
(2,054)

(4,906)
(100)
(70)

(4,906)
(100)
-

(4,906)
(100)
-

(4,906)
(100)
-

(8,450)

(1,645)

(289)

(289)

(142)

The Programme expenditure includes only those schemes already approved by Council
and rolling items such as; the provision of statutory disabled facility grants, the public
toilet renovation programme, equipment replacement for street scene services and
housing improvement schemes (fully funded by HRA contribution). Bids will come
through the annual budget process giving a different picture to that given above
and there will be choices to make in order to keep expenditure within resources
available.
The position on internal/external borrowing over the period requires net funding of
£10.815m, however the Council’s internal borrowing position improved significantly in
2019/20 through a large capital receipt whereby the Capital Financing Requirement
compared with external borrowing moved from under borrowed position of £7.275m to a
£1.054m over borrowed position. The implication being significant borrowing has not
been required to be factored in to the MTFP revenue position based on the above
position.
Key issues to consider for this Plan in terms of capital are:


Only rolling items, or early request for items, have been included in the MTFP
with headroom for essential year on year requests. No amount is included for
future coast protection or flood prevention schemes. If any schemes do come
11
page 89

forward, it is assumed they will attract Government funding if of high enough
priority.


Any scheme inclusion in the Programme over and above this core annual
expenditure needs to be considered carefully for inclusion in future
programmes on a case by case basis to determine if they meet corporate
objectives and, if they can be self funded, evidenced in a business case or
delivered in conjunction with other agencies/partners. Some schemes will
come with no funding but may still be required to be funded due to their nature.



New Homes Bonus monies allocated to the Capital Programme represents the
Balance available after deducting £1.5m to fund the General Fund and it is
assumed the grant scheme is ending.

The Way Forward – Capital programme
 There is a clear necessity for the continuation of the member Panel to consider
the allocating of capital resources against competing capital scheme bids.
 The programme needs to be populated with realistic expenditure estimates
into the future; further work has been undertaken on Council assets costs and
these can shortly be populated into the Model but further work is required with
other services managers across the Council
 The Project Management Guidelines will continue to be used to inform the
capital bid process through detailed capital appraisal forms and Initial Project
Proposal Document (IPPD). With the continued monitoring of progress on key
projects through the Council’s Strategic Management Team and member
Panel.

12
page 90

EXTERNAL INFLUENCES AND KEY ASSUMPTIONS WITHIN THE REVENUE MTFP
MODEL

 Inflation
Inflation rates used are indentified in Appendix A of the MTFP attached.
Although the financial model is based upon what are believed to be a series of
prudent assumptions, there is inevitably a risk that some or all factors applied could
be inaccurate. The table below summarises the impact of any such inaccuracies that
would have a detrimental effect upon the financial plan:

Financial impact of changes in inflation assumptions 2021/22.
MTFP Predicted
Worse
Factor
Inflation Costs
by 0.5%
£000
£’000
Pay, N.I & Pension & other
678
156
employee costs + other
costs

Worse
by 1.0%
£’000
312

 Investment Returns
The approach adopted, of budgeting for investment income remains prudent. Investment
return predictions have been factored in to continue at less than 1% with a modest increase
starting to be reflected from 2023/24 this is materially effecting the position should this not
occur. Investment income in 2021/22 has been lowered as base year includes an increase
for property investment that was not undertaken.
 Council Tax Income

The MTFP follows recent Government practice of allowing a £5 a year increase.
Financial impact of changes in council tax levels (2021/22).

Level of council
Tax increase

Predicted
council tax
income

Loss of
income in
MTFP
13

page 91

Council tax yield at £5
(3.4%) increase
Yield at 2.0%
Yield at 1.0%
Yield at 0.0%

£000

2021/22
£’000

(9,204)
(9,079)
(8,990)
(8,901)

Nil
125
214
303

This calculation shows a one year effect, this reduction would be lost each year going forward
plus the opportunity to increase the level in future on a higher base.

 Cranbrook & other development
The expected build rate for Cranbrook has been considered along with service cost
implications. Areas such as recycling and refuse collection and street cleansing have been
included in the Plan when expected demand requires a stepped increase in cost. Other
planned development in the area has been considered alongside these figures. No new
large scale development has been factored into the Plan.


New Homes Bonus
Details are covered in the main Strategy the risk in income being below the projections are
unlikely as they are based in the main on current known taxbase numbers. The Plan
assumes the demise of the current scheme with no income being reflected on a possible
substitute scheme. Any such scheme will have positive implication on the MTFP both
revenue and capital but no projections can be made on this until Government outline any
replacement scheme.



Business Rate Income
The risks associated with Business Rate income has been covered in the Strategy, including
the Government’s intention of business rates rebasing. A £2m additional benefit has been
budgeted in 2021/22 for additional rates above the Council’s baseline, this is the sum that
will be budgeted and if the actual amount is less through a reduction in assessments or
collection of income drops than the difference will be met from the Business Rates Volatility
Fund which has a current balance of £0.639m.
Should the Government suddenly rebase for 2021/22 (unlikely but a risk that needs to be
considered) then the proposal of setting up a MTFP Risk Reserve of £2m will be used to
mitigate this for the year.



Brexit
The risks considered for local authorities centre around:
Direct EU funding – the most obvious financial impact of Brexit for local areas is the loss
of future EU funding, predominantly the European Structural and Investment Funds.
EDDC currently have no bids planned.
14
page 92

Inward investment – It is unknown how multinational companies will view the UK’s
attractiveness as a base for investment post-Brexit. At best, there is likely to be a delay in
the creation of the associated new jobs as plans are reviewed, and at worst those jobs
may go elsewhere and existing employers may relocate. There is risk in particular around
the growth point area particularly around attracting oversees companies onto the science
park. The immediate effect on the MTFP would be around business rate income
projections as highlighted below.
Business rate income – with the local retention of business rates, councils’ own financial
sustainability will increasingly depend on their ability to retain and grow rate-paying
businesses. In addition to the inward investment risk already mentioned, councils are
more financially vulnerable than before to the ebb and flow of the macroeconomic tide. A
pragmatic and prudent approach has been taken in projecting rate income based on
previous experience and the knowledge of site availability in the District. This area will be
monitored carefully for future refreshes of the Plan.
Demand pressures – the unpredictable impact of Brexit on demand for council services
may complicate the management of spending reductions in the coming years. The longer
term impact on demand will depend on how well each local economy fares, but there have
already been reports of worrying increases in hate crime, requiring a response from local
authorities and their partners. To date this has not impacted this Council and no
allowance has been made in the Plan for these factors.
Investments and borrowing – The Treasury Management Strategy ensures we monitor
the credit ratings of the limited number of deposit takers meeting our stringent investment
criteria. In addition, the downgrades to the UK’s rating haven’t yet led to higher borrowing
costs, but this is a risk that will be monitored.
Impact on pension fund deficits – pension fund deficits are already a volatile material
liabilities on local authority balance sheets. In the short term the impact of very low bond
yields is likely to drive up the deficits but to date there has been resilient asset valuations.
Supply of Labour – certain sectors have seen worrying trends in the reduction of labour
from abroad however this is not seen as factor effecting this Council. The risk could be
around the building industry should the Council enter into future large construction
projects.


Covid-19
The direct effect of Covid-19 on the Council’s finances has been presented to members
relating to the current financial year 2020/21 and the continuation of the implications in
income areas and additional costs has been reflected in the MTFP. The key direct risk is a
return to lockdown restrictions in the period the Plan covers from April 2021/22 onwards and
although in the main modest income flows have been included in the MTFP this would have
a detrimental effect. The assumption is made that Government would give direct financial
support as is currently the position.
There are wider implications on the District, its residents and businesses in terms of a
recession as a result of Covid. The implications will have to be determined in time with the
Plan updated as necessary – Additional welfare support and vulnerability assistance being
given by the Council is currently in the main being funded through additional Government
monies and it is assumed this will continue rather than a direct significant cost to the
Council. The Council has available monies it has set aside to assist with economic
15
page 93

sustainability in the District that it will have to determine how best to deploy but the Plan
assumes additional costs will not be over and above what is available.

16
page 94

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL - MTFP summary Page
GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET FORECAST
BASE
2020/21
Total

Note
BUDGET SET - pre COVID-19
AMENDMENTS TO BUDGET
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

12
13

Addition

Total

15,592,350

One off Items of expenditure from Earmarked Reserves
Cranbrook Grant 20/21 £90k, 21/22 £60k, 22/23 £30k
Action East Devon Grant - Council approved 19/20 & 20/21
EDDC Elections
Clyst Honiton Parish Council Support - Council approved 5 yr grant
Strata Savings in base
Housing Benefits Overpayments reducing (£1.1m in base)
Refuse & Rcycling Contract - additional staff payment
Recycling & Refuse Contract contract renegoitation at 73,000 properties
Change in legislation no business rates on toilets
Savings on vechicle Allowances
Local Plan Preparation - Evidence, Consultation & Examination
Bio-diversity net gain requirment - post/expertise
Housing Benefit admin reduction
Cranbrook (costs not covered by 106's) + New development implications

page 95

104,803

0

215,590
9,427
44,816
21,165
387,361
(145,235)
533,124

PREDICTED BUDGET REQUIREMENT
FINANCED BY:
Government Grant - NNDR Gov't baseline (Settlement confirmed to 2020/21)
Rural Services Delivery Grant
NNDR Uplift - Amount above Baseline (Rebased 2021/22)
Council Tax 2020/21 = £146.78 - Growth in base 500 each year, Assume + £5 per annum increase or 2%
which is ever greater
Interest Income
Interest & Loan Repayment
Savings target (Procurement)
Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus
Earmarked Reserve - one off items of expenditure
New Homes Bonus to revenue (Gov't ended current scheme)
General Fund Balance - District Elections
GENERAL FUND BALANCE
TOTAL
(Abbreviations used - NHB = New Homes Bonus, N.I = National Insurance,
RSG = Revenue Support Grant, NNDR = National Non Domestic Rates)
ANNUAL (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT

IN YEAR ADDITION TO ANNUAL (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT

0

1,331,337

2024/25
Reduction

Addition

Total

27,000
35,000

0
(30,000)
0
0
0
0
250,000
0
308,000
0
(27,000)
(35,000)

56,000

0
0
0
(80,000)
(9,000)
0
100,000
0
160,000
0
(56,000)

80,000

0
0
(30,000)
0
80,000
0
0
100,000
0
308,000
0
0
(80,000)

422,340

(305,330)
(30,000)
(20,000)
0
0
0
400,000
77,000
0
(45,010)
(22,000)
115,000
50,000
21,410
30,000
271,070

92,000

20,440
50,000
536,440

488,000

110,000

378,000

35,000
295,000

145,000

115,000

0

104,803
0
104,803

0

0

0
0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

215,590
9,427
44,816
21,165
387,361
(145,235)
533,124

219,902
9,616
45,712
21,588
382,474
(94,066)
585,225

0

219,902
9,616
45,712
21,588
382,474
(94,066)
585,225

224,300
9,808
46,626
22,020
343,047
(95,948)
549,854

0

224,300
9,808
46,626
22,020
343,047
(95,948)
549,854

228,786
10,004
47,559
22,460
348,182
(97,867)
559,125

0

228,786
10,004
47,559
22,460
348,182
(97,867)
559,125

0

0

0

0

0

0

908,997

1,213,665

1,121,665

1,037,854

927,854

854,125

SERVICE PLAN COMMITMENTS NOT INCLUDED IN BASE BUDGET
23
None identified
TOTAL "UNAVOIDABLE" CHANGES TO BUDGET

Total

18,550,866

104,803
0

2023/24
Reduction

Addition

17,623,012

45,010
22,000

ONGOING BUDGET VARIANCES IDENTIFIED DURING BUDGET MONITORING
12
2020/21 Pay Award assumed at 2% latest offer 2.75%

Total
16,501,347

400,000
77,000

115,000
50,000
21,410
30,000
693,410

2022/23
Reduction

Addition

15,592,350

305,330
30,000
20,000

0

INFLATION
18 a
Employee Pay Award
b
Employees Other Costs
c
Superannuation
d
National Insurance
19
Inflation Summary - expenditure
20
Inflation Summary - fees, charges & contributions
TOTAL INESCAPABLE BUDGET CHANGES

2021/22
Reduction

422,340

30,000

250,000
0
308,000

20,440
50,000
628,440

92,000

30,000
80,000

100,000
0
308,000

110,000

80,000
9,000
100,000
0
160,000

0
145,000

674,125

15,592,350

16,501,347

17,623,012

18,550,866

19,224,990

2,667,320
225,590
1,500,000

2,720,666
225,590
2,000,000

2,775,080
225,590
300,000

2,830,581
225,590
400,000

2,887,193
225,590
500,000

8,827,500
856,780
(482,170)
70,000
122,000
305,330
1,500,000
0
0
15,592,350

9,204,091
656,780
(500,000)
0
0
0
1,500,000
0
0
15,807,127

9,585,686
650,000
(540,000)
0
0
0
922,409
0
0
13,918,765

9,972,281
675,000
(580,000)
0
0
0
0
80,000
0
13,603,452

10,363,876
800,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
0
0
14,176,659

0

694,219

3,704,247

4,947,413

5,048,331

694,219

3,010,028

1,243,166

100,918

APPENDIX A (i)
2025/26
Reduction

Addition

0
0

Total

2026/27
Reduction

Addition

Total

2027/28
Reduction

Addition

Total

2028/29
Reduction

Addition

Total

2029/30
Reduction

Addition

Total

2030/31
Reduction

Addition

Total

19,224,990

19,801,349

20,389,993

21,081,221

21,605,340

22,232,671

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
90,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
(90,000)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

90,000

0

90,000

0

0

0

page 96

0

0

0

0

0

0

90,000

0

90,000

0

90,000

(90,000)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

233,362
10,204
48,510
22,909
361,197
(99,824)
576,359

238,029
10,408
49,480
23,368
369,179
(101,820)
588,644

0

238,029
10,408
49,480
23,368
369,179
(101,820)
588,644

242,789
10,616
50,470
23,835
377,374
(103,857)
601,228

0

242,789
10,616
50,470
23,835
377,374
(103,857)
601,228

247,645
10,829
51,479
24,312
385,789
(105,934)
614,120

0

247,645
10,829
51,479
24,312
385,789
(105,934)
614,120

252,598
11,045
52,509
24,798
394,433
(108,053)
627,331

0

252,598
11,045
52,509
24,798
394,433
(108,053)
627,331

257,650
11,266
53,559
25,294
403,315
(110,214)
640,871

0

257,650
11,266
53,559
25,294
403,315
(110,214)
640,871

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

576,359

588,644

588,644

691,228

691,228

614,120

524,120

627,331

627,331

640,871

233,362
10,204
48,510
22,909
361,197
(99,824)
576,359
0
576,359

0

0

0

90,000

0

0
0

640,871

19,801,349

20,389,993

21,081,221

21,605,340

22,232,671

22,873,542

2,944,937
225,590
600,000

3,003,836
225,590
300,000

3,063,912
225,590
400,000

3,125,191
225,590
500,000

3,187,694
225,590
600,000

3,251,448
225,590
700,000

10,760,471
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
0

11,568,661
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
90,000
0
15,573,163

11,980,256
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0

12,396,851
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0

12,818,446
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0

14,755,998

11,162,066
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
0
0
14,916,492

0
16,056,036

0
16,635,135

0
17,220,484

5,045,351

5,473,501

5,508,057

5,549,304

5,597,536

5,653,058

(2,980)

428,150

34,556

41,247

48,232

55,522

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL - MTFP summary Page
GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET FORECAST
BASE
2020/21
Total

Note
BUDGET SET - pre COVID-19
AMENDMENTS TO BUDGET
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

12
13

Addition

Total

15,592,350

One off Items of expenditure from Earmarked Reserves
Cranbrook Grant 20/21 £90k, 21/22 £60k, 22/23 £30k
Action East Devon Grant - Council approved 19/20 & 20/21
EDDC Elections
Clyst Honiton Parish Council Support - Council approved 5 yr grant
Strata Savings in base
Housing Benefits Overpayments reducing (£1.1m in base)
Refuse & Rcycling Contract - additional staff payment
Recycling & Refuse Contract contract renegoitation at 73,000 properties
Change in legislation no business rates on toilets
Savings on vechicle Allowances
Local Plan Preparation - Evidence, Consultation & Examination
Bio-diversity net gain requirment - post/expertise
Housing Benefit admin reduction
Cranbrook (costs not covered by 106's) + New development implications

page 97

104,803

0

215,590
9,427
44,816
21,165
387,361
(145,235)
533,124

PREDICTED BUDGET REQUIREMENT
FINANCED BY:
Government Grant - NNDR Gov't baseline (Settlement confirmed to 2020/21)
Rural Services Delivery Grant
NNDR Uplift - Amount above Baseline (Rebased 2021/22)
Council Tax 2020/21 = £146.78 - Growth in base 500 each year, Assume + £5 per annum increase or 2%
which is ever greater
Interest Income
Interest & Loan Repayment
Savings target (Procurement)
Council Tax Collection Fund Surplus
Earmarked Reserve - one off items of expenditure
New Homes Bonus to revenue (Gov't ended current scheme)
General Fund Balance - District Elections
GENERAL FUND BALANCE
TOTAL
(Abbreviations used - NHB = New Homes Bonus, N.I = National Insurance,
RSG = Revenue Support Grant, NNDR = National Non Domestic Rates)
ANNUAL (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT

IN YEAR ADDITION TO ANNUAL (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT

0

1,331,337

2024/25
Reduction

Addition

Total

27,000
35,000

0
(30,000)
0
0
0
0
250,000
0
308,000
0
(27,000)
(35,000)

56,000

0
0
0
(80,000)
(9,000)
0
100,000
0
160,000
0
(56,000)

80,000

0
0
(30,000)
0
80,000
0
0
100,000
0
308,000
0
0
(80,000)

422,340

(305,330)
(30,000)
(20,000)
0
0
0
400,000
77,000
0
(45,010)
(22,000)
115,000
50,000
21,410
30,000
271,070

92,000

20,440
50,000
536,440

488,000

110,000

378,000

35,000
295,000

145,000

115,000

0

104,803
0
104,803

0

0

0
0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

215,590
9,427
44,816
21,165
387,361
(145,235)
533,124

219,902
9,616
45,712
21,588
382,474
(94,066)
585,225

0

219,902
9,616
45,712
21,588
382,474
(94,066)
585,225

224,300
9,808
46,626
22,020
343,047
(95,948)
549,854

0

224,300
9,808
46,626
22,020
343,047
(95,948)
549,854

228,786
10,004
47,559
22,460
348,182
(97,867)
559,125

0

228,786
10,004
47,559
22,460
348,182
(97,867)
559,125

0

0

0

0

0

0

908,997

1,213,665

1,121,665

1,037,854

927,854

854,125

SERVICE PLAN COMMITMENTS NOT INCLUDED IN BASE BUDGET
23
None identified
TOTAL "UNAVOIDABLE" CHANGES TO BUDGET

Total

18,550,866

104,803
0

2023/24
Reduction

Addition

17,623,012

45,010
22,000

ONGOING BUDGET VARIANCES IDENTIFIED DURING BUDGET MONITORING
12
2020/21 Pay Award assumed at 2% latest offer 2.75%

Total
16,501,347

400,000
77,000

115,000
50,000
21,410
30,000
693,410

2022/23
Reduction

Addition

15,592,350

305,330
30,000
20,000

0

INFLATION
18 a
Employee Pay Award
b
Employees Other Costs
c
Superannuation
d
National Insurance
19
Inflation Summary - expenditure
20
Inflation Summary - fees, charges & contributions
TOTAL INESCAPABLE BUDGET CHANGES

2021/22
Reduction

422,340

30,000

250,000
0
308,000

20,440
50,000
628,440

92,000

30,000
80,000

100,000
0
308,000

110,000

80,000
9,000
100,000
0
160,000

0
145,000

674,125

15,592,350

16,501,347

17,623,012

18,550,866

19,224,990

2,667,320
225,590
1,500,000

2,720,666
225,590
2,000,000

2,775,080
225,590
300,000

2,830,581
225,590
400,000

2,887,193
225,590
500,000

8,827,500
856,780
(482,170)
70,000
122,000
305,330
1,500,000
0
0
15,592,350

9,204,091
656,780
(500,000)
0
0
0
1,500,000
0
0
15,807,127

9,585,686
650,000
(540,000)
0
0
0
922,409
0
0
13,918,765

9,972,281
675,000
(580,000)
0
0
0
0
80,000
0
13,603,452

10,363,876
800,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
0
0
14,176,659

0

694,219

3,704,247

4,947,413

5,048,331

694,219

3,010,028

1,243,166

100,918

APPENDIX A (i)
2025/26
Reduction

Addition

0
0

Total

2026/27
Reduction

Addition

Total

2027/28
Reduction

Addition

Total

2028/29
Reduction

Addition

Total

2029/30
Reduction

Addition

Total

2030/31
Reduction

Addition

Total

19,224,990

19,801,349

20,389,993

21,081,221

21,605,340

22,232,671

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
90,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
(90,000)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

90,000

0

90,000

0

0

0

page 98

0

0

0

0

0

0

90,000

0

90,000

0

90,000

(90,000)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

233,362
10,204
48,510
22,909
361,197
(99,824)
576,359

238,029
10,408
49,480
23,368
369,179
(101,820)
588,644

0

238,029
10,408
49,480
23,368
369,179
(101,820)
588,644

242,789
10,616
50,470
23,835
377,374
(103,857)
601,228

0

242,789
10,616
50,470
23,835
377,374
(103,857)
601,228

247,645
10,829
51,479
24,312
385,789
(105,934)
614,120

0

247,645
10,829
51,479
24,312
385,789
(105,934)
614,120

252,598
11,045
52,509
24,798
394,433
(108,053)
627,331

0

252,598
11,045
52,509
24,798
394,433
(108,053)
627,331

257,650
11,266
53,559
25,294
403,315
(110,214)
640,871

0

257,650
11,266
53,559
25,294
403,315
(110,214)
640,871

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

576,359

588,644

588,644

691,228

691,228

614,120

524,120

627,331

627,331

640,871

233,362
10,204
48,510
22,909
361,197
(99,824)
576,359
0
576,359

0

0

0

90,000

0

0
0

640,871

19,801,349

20,389,993

21,081,221

21,605,340

22,232,671

22,873,542

2,944,937
225,590
600,000

3,003,836
225,590
300,000

3,063,912
225,590
400,000

3,125,191
225,590
500,000

3,187,694
225,590
600,000

3,251,448
225,590
700,000

10,760,471
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
0

11,568,661
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
90,000
0
15,573,163

11,980,256
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0

12,396,851
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0

12,818,446
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0

14,755,998

11,162,066
825,000
(600,000)
0
0
0
0
0
0
14,916,492

0
16,056,036

0
16,635,135

0
17,220,484

5,045,351

5,473,501

5,508,057

5,549,304

5,597,536

5,653,058

(2,980)

428,150

34,556

41,247

48,232

55,522

Agenda Item 17
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Revenue and Capital Outturn Report 2019-2020

Purpose of report:

During 2019/20 budget monitoring reports have informed members of
budget variations and the anticipated year-end financial position. This
report contains the final position for the year and compares this outturn
position against the budgets set.
The report outlines the implications of these results on the Council’s
reserves and makes recommendations on any reserve transfers.
The Council’s Unaudited Accounts were issued on 17th August 2020 and
published on the Council’s website, it is anticipated the Audited Accounts
will be issued prior to the amended publishing date 30 November 2020.

Recommendation:

1. Cabinet consider and agree the outturn position for 2019/20 including
the implications and proposals relating to the Balances and Reserves
held by the Council.
2. To specially agree that £2m is transferred from the General Fund
Balance to create a new Reserve (MTFP Risk Reserve) and the
General Fund Balance is then retained at £4.395m as detailed in 2.7 of
this report.

Reason for
recommendation:

To report the outturn position for the Council’s approved budgets for the
General Fund, Housing Revenue Account and Capital Expenditure. This
financial position aligns to the Council’s Statement of Accounts but the
position in this report is presented in a style that accords to the budget
setting and monitoring reports that members receive.
Members are asked to note the variations from the budgets identified
within the report and consider the final position.
It is appropriate at this stage to reflect on the reserves and balances
held by the Council and determine if these are the right reserves at the
right levels going forward.

Officer:

John Symes – Finance Manager, jsymes@eastdevon.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder for Finance

Financial
implications:

Contained within the report

Legal implications:

Any legal implications are identified in the report and no further comment
is required.

page 99

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

Low Impact

Risk:

Low Risk
Financial monitoring reports have kept members informed during the
year of budget variations and the projected outturn position of the
Council’s finances. No areas of concern were raised with the Council
maintaining its net spending within overall approved budget levels. All
predetermined Balance and Reserve levels were maintained comfortably
above the adopted minimum levels. This position has now proven
correct in the final outturn position presented in this report.
The report also looks at the monies the Council holds in balances and
reserves and considers these in the light of the Council’s future financial
position and future Government funding cuts. Consideration is given to
the Council’s financial track record, internal and external audit reports on
financial controls and is reflective of occurrences from external factors
which affect the Council’s finances.

Links to background
information:

Link to Council Plan:

Outstanding Council and Council Services

Report in full
1.

Introduction

1.1

This report compares the outturn position (actual amount spent or income received for the
year) against budgets set for the financial year 2019/20 for the General Fund, Housing
Revenue Account (HRA) and the Capital Programme.

1.2

The report looks at the effect the outturn position has on the Council’s balances and
reserves and considers future policy for holding these sums.

1.3

The Council’s Unaudited Accounts were issued on 17th August 2020 and are published on
the Council’s website Final Accounts 2019/20 , it is anticipated the Audited Accounts will be
issued late September/early October.

2.

General Fund Position

2.1

The 2019/20 budget was set by Council with a balance of £0.236m to be met from the
General Fund Balance to meet the cost of one off items of expenditure included in the
budget. The final year end outturn position has resulted in an underspend of £2.718m
against the net budget of £15.168m, the majority of this being attributable to additional
business rate income.

2.2

There has been positive and negative variations against the budget set, the main areas
being.

page 100

General Fund 2019/20 – main outturn
variations against budget
Employee savings mainly from vacant posts,
the overall budget for employee costs is
£14.258m.
Business Rates – gain attributable to being
prudent on growth with uncertainty on timing of
developments but large assessments were
received along with maximising income work of
Revenues and Benefits team.

Variation
£000
(245)

Devon Business Rate Pool Gain – Gain on pool
not budgeted for as reliant on performance
across Devon
Savings returned by Strata higher than
budgeted.
Car Park income higher than projected – good
weather generated high use.

(316)

Income will also be
above 2020/21 budget
as rating assessments
base higher than
expected when budget
was set.
No implication

(203)

No implication

(69)

No implication

Coast & Flood Prevention savings on
contractors and support.
EDDC Elections – increase in Royal Mail
pollsort postage service. Increases in
electorate and increased payments to polling
staff have added to increased cost.
Burial Income lower than predicted.

(37)

No implication

63

No implication

88

Housing Benefit net savings after subsidy. £70k
variance against £26m expenditure budget is a
minor variation in percentage terms but results
in a significant sum.
Saving obtained in administration costs in
Revenues & Benefits service – Council Tax,
Housing Benefit, Council Tax Support,
Business Rates, Fraud and Sundry Debtors
Public Conveniences overspend, in particular
water charges. Total expenditure budget
£473k. This will be monitored closely with any
necessary action taken.
Planning application fees lower than budgeted.
Reductions in expenditure used to mitigate
overall reduction.
Recycling & Refuse – costs over and above
refuse collection contract as indices higher than
budgeted (customer base passed 71,000).
Additional Homelessness Costs. Implications of
new legislation including increased rent deposit
bonds. Also, large increase in homelessness
approaches (1126 compared to 871 in previous
year) – a rise of 29%.
This will be monitored closely.

(70)

2020/21 budget has
subsequently been
reduced by £50k.
No implication

(232)

No implications

page 101

Comment on Future
budget implications
No implication

(2,500)

73

2020/21 budget
subsequently
increased by £36k.

363

2020/21 budget has
subsequently been
reduced by £205k.
Contractual sums paid
to Suez increased in
2020/21 (+£313k).
2020/21 supplies &
services budget
increased by £82k to
bring in new duties to
prevent and relieve
homelessness.

70

55

2.3

The main positive service area variations relate to staff vacancies and savings made on
supplies and contractors along with income in areas such as car parking. Many areas of
adverse variations have previously been identified and budgets have accordingly been
adjusted, for example, the step change in the Recycling and Refuse due to contract
conditions being hit.

2.4

A new reserve has been created in 2019/20 with £84,000 for Growth Point Funding
received from MHCLG to fund initiatives in future years and is included within the
statements.

2.5

The Council was granted 100% business rates pilot status for 2018/19, this has generated
additional rating income of £3.1m to be retained by the Council. The bid to Government to
obtain this status was on the basis that this additional income would be used to promote
and protect economic development in the district. The Council to date have agreed to
support two areas from this additional income; £0.6m additional share purchase in Exeter
Science Park Company Limited (ESPL) and the purchase of £0.05m founder shares in
South West Mutual Ltd (the setting up of South West Mutual Bank). The remaining surplus,
this financial year, of £2.056m has been transferred to a reserve making it available for
future members’ consideration.

2.6

The overall General Fund Balance position at year end is given below, this shows the effect
of the outturn variation of £2.718m.
General Fund Balance Position

£000

Opening Balance 1/4/2019
Agreed use of General Fund Balance in 2019/20
Outturn variation 2019/20
Closing Balance 31/3/2020

2.7

(3,938)
236
(2,718)
(6,395)

The General Fund Balance at £6.395m is £2.595m above the proposed adopted range
which is between £3m and £3.8m. This represents 10% of our net budget equivalent to a
two year operational period which gives £3m; to this is added £0.8m headroom to give
£3.8m as a top of the range figure. This is the range we stipulate the General Fund Balance
to be within before members need to take action; whether above or below the range. With
the General Fund Balance being £2.595m above the adopted range (and £3.395m above
the minimum sum required to be held) it is proposed that:


At this stage £2m is transferred to Medium Term Financial Plan Risk Reserve
The Financial Strategy is presented on this Cabinet’s Agenda, within the Strategy there
is a significant shortfall outlined in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) in
the short to medium term resulting from possible changes in the Governments funding
regimes namely Business Rate Retention and New Homes Bonus Grants. It is
predicted that the Council will lose financial resources of £3.1m up to the period
2023/24, however the timing of this and final sum is uncertain. It is proposed in the
Financial Strategy that the Council set aside a MTFP Risk Reserve from the surplus
gained in the General Fund from the 2019/20 Outturn position to mitigate the sudden fall
in income from these changes.
The reserve can be used to fund services, if needed, whilst the Council reshapes its
budget to meet the available resources at a point when it can determine the amount of
savings required rather than take significant actions which effect services and staff
page 102

when possibly they are not required to the extent or time predicted. Previous practice
has been for Government to make final funding settlement announcements in
November making it impossible for Councils to wait for these announcements before
preparing detailed budget proposals for the following financial year. Having such a
reserve would give a further year and budget setting round to consider changes
sensibly. This does not negate the need to still plan and consider proposals but they
will not have to be acted upon until needed and then given full member consideration.


Remaining sum £4.395m to be retained in the General Fund Balance being
£0.595m over the adopted level (or £1.395m above minimum level).
This is to be held to mitigate estimated overspends in 2020/21 resulting from Covid-19
as detailed in the Financial Monitoring Report contained on the Cabinet Agenda.

2.8

The year end position on the other main Balances/Reserves held for the General Fund are:


£1.371m Transformation Reserve. This sum is set aside to assist the
Council’s transformation programme by meeting upfront costs necessarily
incurred in order to produce savings/efficiencies in future years.



£0.911m Asset Maintenance Reserve. Used to support the Council’s
General Fund Assets and planned maintenance backlog/essential work/asset
failure (created from one off VAT refunds). This Reserve is currently used at
a rate of around £0.100m to £0.200m annually. Details of spend are agreed
by SMT (Strategic Management Team) and previously presented to the Asset
Management Forum to ensure they do not conflict with asset strategy.



£0.639m Business Rates Volatility Fund. Available to mitigate the volatility
of business rate income should income fall below the expected budget and
allows the Council to set a level in the budget with certainty in relation to an
income source that can fluctuate.



£0.081m Local Authority Business Growth Incentive Scheme Reserve.
The purpose of this reserve is to promote and deliver economic development.
A programme of spend and authority for spend has been approved by Council
and is spent in consultation with Economy Portfolio Holder.



£2.506m Business Rates 100% Pilot Reserve. Council gain from the
inclusion within the 100% Business Rates Pilot Scheme.

Other Earmarked Reserves
There are other earmarked reserves for specific projects where funding or contributions
have been made in advance of spend and monies are held at year end to fund this work in
future years. Complete details are contained in the Accounts.

3

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

page 103

3.1

The 2019/20 budget was set to achieve a surplus of £1.155m, the outturn position gives a
surplus for the year of £0.959m; a variation of £0.196m, the main variations are given
below.
HRA 2019/20 – Outturn variations against
budget

Variation
£000

Comment on Future
budget implications

The variance on collected rent in year vs budget
was again extremely close being only £70k or
0.39% below. The remainder and majority of the
variation can be explained by lost rent due to
voids which increased to £0.49m from £0.35m.
This was primarily the result of disruption and
increased lead times caused by the change in
contract during the year.

171 No implication

An increase of £24k has been made to the bad
provision, not budgeted for as this is a year end
assessment.

24 No implication

Supervision & Management: saving of £10k
overall, a minor overspend on Employee costs
(£70k on £3.4m budget) was offset by savings
made elsewhere.
Responsive repairs over budget by £1.1m.
The Maintenance & Repairs contract moved to a
price per property and price per void contract
during the year. Although the change in contractor
resulted in some additional unbudgeted costs
during mobilisation, such as consultant support &
redundancy costs for transferred workers
(+£100k). The large majority of the overspend can
be attributed to catch up costs during the three
months prior to the July changeover.
Programmed Maintenance, Major & Special
Repairs spending was £1.489m below budget as
the focus of the majority of officers shifted to the
implementation of the new Repairs and
Maintenance contract. The known overspend
above from July was also a factor in reducing other
expenditure towards the end of the year within
these areas with £0.35m reserved at the year end
for next years planned spend items with the
remaining balance offsetting repairs and
maintenance.
A £66k revenue contribution was made to capital
expenditure during the year to cover the right to
buy replacement homes spend.
Savings in Other Expenditure (£44k) were
partially offset by a decrease in interest received
apportioned from the General fund (£26k).

page 104

(10) No implication

1,105 The move to a price
per property and price
per void contract will
result in a large
reduction in
unforeseeable costs,
reduce invoicing
timeliness issues and
improve information
exchange.
(1,139) No implication

66 No implication

(18) No implication

3.2

The updated position of the HRA Balance is given below.
HRA Balance

£000

Opening Balance 1/4/2019
Agreed surplus in 2019/20
Outturn variation 2019/20
Closing Balance 31/3/2020

(3,100)
(1,155)
196
(4,059)

3.3

Within the year £0.350m has been transferred to the Property Maintenance Reserve to
undertake works which were budgeted in 2019/20 but will now be carried out in 2020/21.
This transfer to reserves has been included in the outturn position.

3.4

The adopted minimum level for the HRA Balance is between £2.1m to £3.1m, based on
£490 per property with headroom added of £1m. This leaves the HRA Balance at £0.959m
above the adopted range.

3.5

The Council set an HRA surplus budget for 2019/20 including the refinancing of a £1.9m
loan due for repayment at year end to use the surplus to meet other key housing spending
plans. Refinancing was undertaken and an additional loan of £4.1m taken out taking
advantage of low fixed rates and taking into consideration the request from the Housing
Review Board to continue with the right to buy replacement program.

3.6

The year end position on other Balances/Reserves held for the HRA are:


£1.6m in the HRA Business Volatility Fund. The HRA self-financing
business plan relies on a number of assumptions outside the control of the
Council, with significant debt repayment schedules this reserve was
established to mitigate this risk giving time if necessary to reshape the HRA
budget to accommodate any negative changes.



New Housing Development Fund. Used for house purchases to meet 70%
of the cost where 30% comes from Right to Buy receipts, the £0.980m
balance at the start of the year has been used up.



£0.515m in the Planned Maintenance Reserve. To be utilised for planned
maintenance related items in the coming year that were put on hold due to the
repairs and maintenance contract overspend.



£3.0m in the Fire Risk Assessment Works & Lift Replacement Reserve.
In the prior financial year £3.55m was set aside for ongoing building works to
blocks of flats based upon fire risk assessments and the replacement of the
lift at the Poplar Mount block. The residual balance within this account is the
so far unspent balance.



General Capital Receipts available for general HRA capital expenditure, all
receipts have been allocated to spend within the year.



£4.019m Ringfenced Right to Buy Capital Receipts to be spent on Right to
Buy replacements. If receipts are not spent within 3 years then they are
required to be returned to Government together with an interest payment of
4% above base rate.

Capital Budget
page 105

4.1

The revised net capital budget (after grants and contributions) for 2019/20 was £16.041m,
the outturn position is lower by £2.714m at £13.327m. The majority of this underspend is
from scheme slippage which needs to be re-profiled into 2020/21 or later years.
Capital 2019/20 – Outturn variations against budget

Variation
£000

Agreed loan to Beer Community Land Trust was not requested by year
end
Strata Convergence IT Projects – slippage in programme

(378)

Relocation Project - Re-profiling of expenditure into 2020/21

(380)

Seaton Workshops – on hold subject to re-evaluation of project

(572)

Other Industrial Sites improvements – work slipped to 2020/21

(85)

Ocean Building expenditure

2,809

The Strand Exmouth – Remaining project still to be defined

(125)

Growth Point Projects slipped to 2020/21

(136)

Axe Wetlands Developments and Seaton Jurassic access from
Wetlands - complex land ownerships issues

(212)

Delay in sports centre and swimming pool improvement schemes –
revised dates agreed with LED.

(911)

Feniton Flood Alleviation Work – project delay through complex
negotiations

(696)

Enterprise Zone – Park & Change

(1,355)

Beaches & Foreshores – Various reprofiling to 2020/21

(156)

Play Equipment / Playgrounds - reprofiling to 2020/21

(267)

Car Park works – reprofiling to 20/21

(192)

Gypsy and Traveller sites – location/s still to be identified

(500)

Energy saving/renewable initiatives (EDBC & Industrial Sites)

(152)

Beach Property improvements – scheme slippage

(109)

Magnolia Public Conveniences Improvements – scheme slippage

(200)

Expenditure funded through s106 agreements not in programme

4.2

(1,150)

433

HRA house purchase replacement scheme not included in original
programme, separately agreed – funding through HRA resources

3,234

HRA Major Repairs – underspend

(484)

The capital funding position given below takes the gross capital position (before grants and
contributions) and was funded as follows:
Capital Programme

£14.682m

Funded by
Capital Receipts

-£12.534m
page 106

4.3

Government Grants and other contributions
Applicable to be applied in the year

-£0.292m

HRA – Major Repairs Reserve

-£3.912m

New Homes Bonus Grant from revenue

-£2.324m

Monies from 100% business rate pilot

-£0.650m

Other direct revenue contributions

-£0.066m

Decrease in underlying need to borrow –
cash position met from internal borrowing

£4.445m

To remind members a capital budget is agreed to complete a particular scheme/project
(normally in the annual budgeting setting process). Profiling between years is undertaken
to help understand yearly financial commitments and for members to understand the annual
funding position. Capital scheme slippage will be re-profiled with advice from the
project/budget manager but this will be within the total budget approved for the scheme by
members.

page 107

Agenda Item 18
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21 - Month 5 August 2020

Purpose of report:

This report gives a summary of the Council’s overall financial position for
2020/21 at the end of month five (31 August 2020).
Current monitoring indicates that:


The General Fund Balance is being maintained at or above the
adopted level.
A significant overspend against budget is predicted from a
combination of additional expenditure and reduced income as
result of Covid-19. This overspend is being mitigated through
additional Government Funding, including the recently announced
income guarantee scheme, the healthy financial position of the
General Fund Balance as a result of 2019/20 Outturn position and
steps taken by services. These factors have led to a change in
position whereby it is now considered in year emergency action will
not be required to address the shortfall if members are in
agreement to using the General Fund Balance. This Balance still
maintains within the adopted range, although at the lower end.



Recommendation:

The Housing Revenue Account Balance is being maintained at or
above the adopted level.

1. The variances identified as part of the Revenue and Capital
Monitoring process up to Month 5 be acknowledged.
2. That members agree to use the General Fund Balance to meet
the in year net shortfall as result of Covid-19 currently estimated at
£1.163m

Reason for
recommendation:

The report updates Members on the overall financial position of the
Authority at set periods and includes recommendations where corrective
action is required for the remainder of the financial year.

Officer:

John Symes – Finance Manager, jsymes@eastdevon.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder for Finance

Financial
implications:

Contained within the report

Legal implications:

Any legal implications are identified in the report and no further comment
is required.
page 108

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

Low Impact

Risk:

Low Risk
In compiling this report we have looked at all large, high risk and volatile
budget areas. Predicted spending patterns have been linked to
operational activity and all material budgets have been subject to
thorough risk assessments by operational managers and finance staff.
Any continuing variances in spending patterns will then be considered as
part of the Financial Plan.

Links to background
information:

.

Link to Council Plan:

Outstanding Council and Council Services

Report in full
1.

Introduction

1.1

The purpose of this monitoring report is to update members of Cabinet on the overall
financial position of the Authority following the end of month five. The report considers
expenditure to date and projections on year end spend to determine if the Council will
maintain it’s spending within budget and maintain the General Fund Balance and the
Housing Revenue Account Balance within the adopted ranges.

2.

General Fund Position as at Month 5 August 2020

2.1

The following table shows the original budget set for the year and any supplementary
estimates approved to date affecting the General Fund position. In year variances have
been identified which are likely to alter the outturn position for the year as detailed in the
table below.
Members have been presented with financial updates during the beginning of the financial
year highlighting the significant implications of Covid-19 on the Council’s finances (briefing
note to all members and a further updated report to Cabinet). This highlighted the
significant impact of additional spend because of various measures and implications of
Covid-19 and a large reduction in income from fees and charges against the budget set.
This is a changing position and is being carefully monitored. The latest position is reflected
in the table below.
The Government have responded in direct funding of authorities, our allocation to date
being £1.710m, they have also introduced a scheme to reimburse Councils for lost income
from fees and charges (75% of lost income against the budget after the first 5% is
deducted) in recognition that authorities rely on this income to pay for essential services.
This scheme and required return has only just been released and we are currently
compiling the necessary data, our initial assessment is that we should be able to reclaim at
least £1.7m. Again this position is reflected in the table below.

page 109

General Fund Position

£000

Original Budget Requirement (set 26/02/20)

12,554

Month 5 predicted over/(under) spend at year end (detailed below)

1,163

Predicted Outturn Position 31/3/2021

13,717

A summary of the predicted over and under spends to the Year End is shown below:

Predicted over / (under) spends

Car Parks – income loss due to CV19
Beach Huts & Chalets – income loss due to CV19

Predicted
Outturn
Variation
£000
1,222

Govt
SFC* Predicted
claim
Net
scheme Variation
£000
£000
(786)
436

231

(163)

68

90

(59)

31

393

(278)

115

91

(60)

31

Green Waste Service – income loss due to CV19

130

(73)

57

Building Control – income loss due to CV19

162

(102)

60

Other fees & charges – income loss due to CV19

529

(180)

349

Net interest (after loans) – net loss due to CV19

200

-

200

80

-

80

Other Grants & Con’t 3rd party/donations loss due
to CV19

224

-

224

COVID-19 additional costs – Homeless
accommodation, mail outs, PPE, signage,
overtime, community group grants

220

-

220

(1,710)

-

(1,710)

Strata savings – additional savings made to assist
partners

(100)

-

(100)

LED – initial request scenario range £0.616m to
£1.276

1,276

-

1,276

Predicted Furlough Funding & other savings e.g.
travel

(103)

-

(103)

Local Land Charges – income loss due to CV19
Manor Pavilion – income loss due to CV19
Licencing – income loss due to CV19

Public Conveniences – additional costs on opening

Additional Government Grant received in year

Non spend grounds maintenance agency staff
budget
Predicted Net Outturn Total Variations General
Fund

(71)
2,864

(71)
(1,701)

*Sales Fees and Charges

2.2

These variations will have the following overall effect on the Council’s General Fund
Balance:

page 110

1,163

£000
General Fund balance as at 1/4/2020
Use of General Fund to balance 2020/21 Budget

(6,395)
0

Net predicted overspend

1,163

Proposed transfer to MTFP risk reserve

2,000

Predicted General Fund Balance 31/03/21

(3,232)

The Council has an adopted range for the General Fund Balance to be within £3m to £3.8m.
The predicted balance is currently within this range and any required action can be taken at
year end (based on approval of MTFP risk reserve transfer).
3.

Housing Revenue Account Position – month 5

3.1

The following table shows the variation against the original budget which will affect the
Housing Revenue Account year end position.
Predicted over / (under) spends

Predicted
Outturn
Variation
£000

Income

607

Responsive Repairs

(640)

Programme Maintenance

(395)

Special Works

(417)

Supervision & Management

322

Other Expenditure

(187)

Major Repairs

(746)

Financing interest on Balances

29

Predicted Outturn Total Variations HRA

(1,427)

Notable items of budget variance are;

3.2



Income lower but materially consistent with prior year



Expenditure significantly under budget primarily due to COVID impacting on the
Council’s ability to carry out certain types of work not possible with COVID
requirements and work restrictions.

The following table shows the original budget surplus set for the year and the total
variations as identified above, which are likely to affect the budget to give a revised
budget deficit for the year.
HRA (Surplus)/Deficit

£000

Original Budget surplus (Council 26/2/20)

(927)

Month 5 predicted net (under)/overspend to year end

(500)

Predicted Budget (Surplus)/Deficit HRA
page 111

(1,427)

The original approved budget generates a surplus of £0.927m in 2020/21. This sum was to
be used to help finance the purchase of properties, continuing with the £5m annual
investment programme (£3.5m from reserves/surplus and £1.5m from RTB receipts).
3.3

The following table shows the effect on HRA Reserve:
£000
HRA balance as at 1/4/2020

(4,059)

Predicted net over / (under) spend to year end

(1,427)

Predicted General Fund Balance 31/03/21

(5,486)

The HRA Balance is required to be maintained within the adopted range of £2.1m and
£3.1m, it is currently being projected to be £5.486m at the end of 2020/21. Other reserves
held by the HRA are contained in the detailed report to Housing Review Board.
3.4

The latest Housing Review Board finance report can be found here.

4.

Capital Programme Position up to Month 5

4.1

Below is the current position estimated for the capital programme which reflects a reprofiling of expenditure taking into account carried forward from the 2019/20 budget.
Capital Programme

£000

Net Capital Programme Budget (Council 26/02/20)
2019/20 outturn position, budget slippage into 2020/21

7,453
8,057

Revised 2020/21 budget

15,510

Capital Programme variations

-

Predicted Capital Budget Requirement Month 5
4.2

15,510

Details of the capital programme financing is given below:
Capital Programme Financing

£000

Predicted Capital Budget Requirement Month 5

15,510

HRA Financing

(4,906)

New Homes Bonus

(2,054)

General Fund Capital Receipts

4.3

£000

(100)

Contribution to/ (use of) Capital Reserve

(2,505)

Net Internal/External Borrowing

(5,945)

The Council currently does not hold a general capital reserve and all funding needs to be
found. The cash required to fund the expenditure of £5.945m can be met from internal cash
page 112

balances or through raising loans, this decision is made in line with Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy. The revenue implications of funding this position has been factored
into the revenue monitoring position.

page 113

Agenda Item 19
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Exeter Airport

Purpose of report:








Recommendation:

To provide an overview of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic
on the operation of Exeter Airport
To set out a package of support for the Airport
To provide a response to a request for business rate relief
To seek approval for additional funds through the Enterprise Zone
programme to enable the Long Lane enhancement scheme to
progress
To highlight the potential to bid in to the forthcoming Free Port
programme
To highlight the potential to develop a sustainable aviation cluster
centred on the Airport

It is recommended that Cabinet;









Notes the significant impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the
operation of the Airport
Supports the proposed business rate relief request within State
Aid limits to be funded through the Enterprise Zone programme
Endorses increasing the budget for the Long Lane project by
£1.1m
Recommends to Council the borrowing of up to £3.7m against ring
fenced business rate income to implement the scheme
Delegates authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the
Leader, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance to agree
the terms of and complete the funding agreements and any other
necessary legal documentation to achieve the above
recommendations.
Notes the potential for an application to be submitted for Freeport
status and to receive a further report on these proposals before
any bid is submitted
Endorses the concept of a sustainable aviation cluster centred on
Exeter Airport and receives a further report on how this concept
can come forward

Reason for
recommendation:

To ensure that there is a package of support is in place for the Airport to
help counteract the impact of the lockdown, promote recovery and chart
a course to a more sustainable future.

Officer:

Andrew Wood, adwood@eastdevon.gov.uk, (01395) 571743

page 114

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder Economy and Assets

Financial
implications:

There are financial implications to be highlighted in this report. If the
request to support Rate Relief is approved then co-operation should be
sought with other Councils who are also considering a similar request to
ensure state aids rule are complied with (maximum funding circa
£180,000). The airport has already received a business grant of £25k
that would need to be factored into the state aid sum. 40% of the cost of
relief granted falls to the District Council which with the grant taken into
account the full cost if EDDC to meet relief alone will be in the order of
£62k- it is proposed this sum is met from EZ ring fenced income. The
increase in borrowing is also to be met from EZ income, this has been
factored into the paper on the agenda regarding additional EZ borrowing
and the financial implications are noted on that report.

Legal implications:

What is proposed within the recommendations is within the powers of the
authority. In relation to the potential business rate relief part, the issue of
State Aid needs to be fully considered and understood before the relief is
given due to the possibility of the authority being made to recover any
unlawful aid from the recipient (even where to do so would cause
bankruptcy) and the authority then being open to damages claims from
other entities suffering loss as a consequence of the unlawful aid and
reputational harm. Otherwise there are no legal implications requiring
comment.

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

High Impact
The work undertaken to develop the Devon Carbon Plan assessed that
flights to and from Exeter Airport contributed 2% of the total carbon
emissions for the County. Whilst flying levels are currently significantly
reduced, a return to a business as usual flying programme would see
carbon emissions increase back to this level. The report highlights the
importance of bringing forward the development of a sustainable aviation
cluster based on the Airport as anticipated by the Local Industrial
Strategy. The recent success of the Future Flight funding application is a
significant step towards this objective which will require concerted
partnership working and investment going forward.

Risk:

High Risk
The Airport is a significant employer and economic driver for the District
but it has been very significantly impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.
Together with the collapse of Flybe, the scale of job losses are
unprecedented. The risks facing the Airport are therefore significant.
This paper sets out a package of potential support including helping to
ensure a more sustainable future for the Airport.

Links to background
information:

Cabinet March 2019 Item 19
Cabinet July 2019 item 14
Cabinet March 2020 Item 13
Freeports consultation

.
page 115

Link to Council Plan:
Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
Outstanding Council and Council Services
1.

Background and Context

1.1
Exeter Airport is a key asset and economic driver for the District and wider region. It is a
significant employer in its own right (350 people) and also has a major indirect role in terms of
supporting wider employment estimated at over 2,000 jobs. Services to and from the Airport
support regional connectivity, access to markets and inbound tourism.
1.2
The Airport was acquired by the current owners Regional and City Airports (part of the
Rigby Group) in 2013. It experienced year on year growth in passenger numbers for the decade
leading up to 2020. Indeed passenger exceeded 1m per annum for the first time in the Airport’s
history in 2019.
1.3
Around 75% of the passenger numbers were accounted for by Flybe services and the
airline also had its headquarters, training and engineering functions located at Airport. Flybe went
in to administration on the 5th March leading to the loss of 931 jobs locally. It is not just the scale
of the job losses that it is concerning but also the quality of those jobs in terms of offering skilled,
well paid employment in the District. To put this in to context the average engineering salary was
£39,000 and average HQ salary £42,000. This compares to an average income in the District of
around £28,000.
1.4
The collapse of Flybe in early March was followed later that month by the impact of entering
the lockdown. This has particularly affected the aviation sector across the UK and Exeter Airport
is no exception. To put this in to context, passenger numbers at the Airport in May 2019 were
97,000 and in May 2020 the equivalent figure was just 9. From the beginning of the financial year
to the end of the July passenger numbers dropped by 99.5% compared to the same period last
year.
1.5
As we emerge from lockdown commercial flights have now recommenced from the Airport.
But this is nowhere near the scale that might otherwise have been expected with passenger
numbers down by 94% during August. Whilst some former Flybe routes have been picked up by
alternative operators such as Logan Air and Blue Island, other key routes including to Paris and
Amsterdam are not currently being operated. The flying programme continues to be further
impacted by the uncertainties around quarantine restrictions.
1.6
The in combination impact of the collapse of Flybe and the Covid-19 pandemic has left the
Airport in a fundamentally different place. Passenger numbers this year are expected to be below
between 80% and 90% down for the year. In turn this has led the Airport to critically review their
business plan and to clamp down on any non-essential expenditure. Furthermore the Airport is
currently consulting on making 96 redundancies. The potential for over 1,000 jobs losses in and
around the Airport is unprecedented.
2.

Package of support

2.1
Regular meetings have been held with the Airport along with representation from the Local
Enterprise Partnership, Department for Business (BEIS) and the City and County Councils to
understand the issues facing the Airport in greater detail.
2.2
In March a request for business rate relief was received from the Airport. This was for the
full amount permissible within State Aid de minimis limits (200,000 euros or circa £180,000 over a
three year period) against a total liability of £619,520 p.a. An initial 6 month deferral was agreed
to assist with cash flow but a decision is now required in terms of the rate relief request.
page 116

2.3
This is a challenging area for the Council given that the cost would ordinarily need to be
borne from core budgets. The Council does have a policy which sets a number of criteria as
follows;


That relief is for a temporary period



The significance of potential loss of employment in the area



The measurable impact on other businesses and the local community



Opportunities for new business growth, expansion and employment within the area



The positive effects on business cash flow and evidence of positive impact on future
viability



Sufficient evidence of the likelihood of the recovery of the applicant’s business



The capacity of council intervention to secure further investment and retained and/or new
employment opportunities



Reassurance of duration of retained employment and continued production/operation in the
area



Uniqueness of service/commodity being provided within the community/district



Whether relief is for occupied or unoccupied rates



What proactive measures the business/organisation is taking to reduce overheads



Measures being taken to reduce their rate liability, for example occupying smaller premises,
letting out parts of the building



Consideration will also be given to rate deferral, re-profiling of instalments, arrangements as
an alternative method of support



Cost of funding relief and the constraints on council finances



Whether it is in the interests of Council Tax payers as a whole to give relief

2.4
A further issue relates to State Aid. The Regional and City Airports group includes Airports
at Bournemouth, Coventry and Norwich. The State Aid de minimis limit applies across the group.
Correspondence with the host authorities in other parts of the country revealed that similar
requests had been submitted. If Norwich City Council were to grant the full rate relief permissible
under the State Aid rules to their Airport it would effectively debar us from being able to do the
same. This effectively points to the need for a package of support for regional airports to be
coordinated at national level. This has been raised with the local MP.
2.5
Nonetheless there is still a need to consider what role business rate relief can play in terms
of helping to provide support including in terms of securing new investment. This includes a
replacement maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO) operator for the hangars that have been
vacated at the Airport.
2.6
The Cabinet meeting will also consider a paper on the potential to increase the borrowing
against future ring fenced business rate income. This includes to create a £1m fund to support a
continuation of a business rate relief programme beyond the current HM Treasury funded relief
period. This also provides an opportunity to support the Airport which, whilst not within the
Enterprise Zone designation, is nonetheless important to its future success. This approach would
overcome the issue of funding rate relief from core Council budgets. Subject to the additional
Enterprise Zone funding proposal being approved, it is a recommendation of this paper that
business rate relief up to State Aid limits is approved. This would need to take account of recent
support provided through the Discretionary Grant programme and be within the 200,000 euros de
minimis limit over a 3 year period.
2.7
One further aspect relates to the Training Academy. This was a dedicated facility for Flybe
which opened in 2010 providing all their training from engineering through to flight crew and pilots.
Devon County Council and Exeter College are in the process of acquiring the building with a view
page 117

to repurposing it as future skills academy. This will offer training for high tech jobs in engineering,
digital, construction and clean growth and as such it is very well aligned with the wider Enterprise
Zone programme.
3.

Long Lane enhancement

3.1
Cabinet has received a series of papers on the scheme to enhance Long Lane. Due to the
inadequate width of the current highway route, no development can take place at the Airpark
enterprise zone site until it is widened. In addition to unlocking development at this site, the
enhancement of Long Lane will also bring the following benefits.





Improving the approach to Exeter Airport as a major gateway to the region
Improving pedestrian and cycling connectivity
Improved public transport connectivity through a new circular bus route
Supporting wider investment, in particular the planned France-Alderney-Britain inter
connector project

3.2
The Cabinet meeting of the 4th March agreed a budget of £2.55m for the Long Lane
Enhancement works to be funded through the Enterprise Zone programme. Subject to obtaining
the necessary land approvals, works were scheduled to start on Silverdown Lane Link Road in
April 2020 with a completion date for the entirety of the Long Lane works in early 2021.
3.3
The Airport stated early on in stakeholder engagement meetings that their existing surface
water sewer system is operating at full capacity. Subsequently the Long Lane scheme was reliant
on the installation of a proposed deep sewer system to redirect flow away from the Airports
surface water sewer. These works would also enable wider improvements and were due to be
commissioned and funded by the Airport in conjunction with South West Water. Progress had
been made with combining the highway enhancement works program with the South West Water
works programme to ensure road users do not need to suffer a second significant closure period
for the same section of road.
3.4
However, as a result of Covid-19 and Flybe going intro administration the Airport have been
forced to clamp down on all expenditure and are no longer able to fund SWW to undertake the
works at the present time. The costs of these works have been valued at £784,783.75. This has
left a funding shortfall and a significant risk to scheme delivery.
3.5
The Enterprise Zone Board met on the 16th July to consider the options for how to proceed.
This included the potential to pursue an alternative drainage strategy for the road works or
allowing the main surface water works to be implemented at a later date. But these options could
be highly disruptive including in terms of the delivery of the France-Alderney-Britain connector
project which is due to reach final investment decision next year and will result in largest loads
ever seen on the South West highway network being transported down Long Lane. Having a
comprehensive drainage strategy that facilitates access to the main sewer network is also likely to
be a benefit for the delivery of commercial space on at least two of the Enterprise Zone sites.
3.6
The Board considered that the opportunity to align the road and drainage works should not
be lost if at all possible. The recommendation was therefore to pursue the option of sticking with
the original planned scheme and undertaking all of the proposed works now but for this to be
subject to a funding agreement to recoup the relevant funds.
3.7
This option is preferred by the Airport who are willing to enter in to negotiations to conclude
the terms of a funding agreement. The timing of repayments will need to align with recovery
forecasts whilst also including a long stop date for repayment. Overall this course of action would
overcome the current uncertainty, help to unlock investment and aid overall recovery.
3.8
In line with the advice of the Enterprise Zone Board, it is a specific recommendation of this
paper that the approved budget to fund the Long Lane scheme through the Enterprise Zone
programme is increased to accommodate these works. This is subject to the completion of a legal
agreement with the Airport. This would recoup £580k of the overall cost as specific trigger points
page 118

are reached. The difference between this figure and the total additional borrowing is accounted for
by the avoided costs of the minimum scheme necessary (a dedicated highway sewer) to provide
surface water drainage for the highway alone being subtracted from the overall scheme cost
3.9
Following further discussions with the County Council it has become clear that there have
also been wider costs increases. In part these relate to the delays to the project and specific
increases have been identified in the following areas;
 Additional works in relation to street lighting, drainage and providing bus stops
 Removal of existing building/structures
 Additional design fees
In order to accommodate these costs and the wider drainage works it is a specific
recommendation of this paper that the budget for the Long Lane enhancement scheme is
increased by £1.1m.
3.10 The Council meeting in April 2019 endorsed borrowing of up to £3m against ring-fenced
business rate income to implement the scheme. The additional works mean that this ceiling will
now be exceeded in terms of the gross budget. It is therefore a recommendation of this paper that
Cabinet recommend to Council to agree borrowing of up to £3.7m to implement the scheme.
3.11 Subject to agreeing the overall budget, a funding agreement will be entered in to with
Devon County Council. DCC will then appoint a contractor to undertake the works. Initial
vegetation clearance works will need to be completed in October to comply with the terms of the
dormouse license. Overall the works are expected to take between 12-15 months to complete.
4.

Freeports

4.1
Freeports are secure customs zones located at ports where business can be carried out
inside a country’s land border, but where different customs rules apply. They can reduce
administrative burdens and tariff controls, provide relief from duties and import taxes, and ease tax
and planning regulations. Typically, goods brought into a freeport do not attract a requirement to
pay duties until they leave the freeport and enter the domestic market – and no duty at all is
payable if they are re-exported.
4.2
The government aims to create up to 10 freeports in locations across the UK. The
objectives underpinning this approach are to;




establish freeports as national hubs for global trade and investment across the UK
promote regeneration and job creation
create hotbeds for innovation

4.3
The proposed model includes tariff flexibility, customs facilitations and tax measures.
Consideration is also being given to measures to incentivise innovation and to target funding for
infrastructure improvements.
4.4
To develop the approach further the government ran a freeports consultation between
February and July of this year. Devon County Council coordinated a response to this consultation
across the Local Enterprise Partnership area. The Airport has expressed particular interest in
becoming part of a freeport designation.
4.5
At present there is no formal freeport application process. This is though expected to open
in the autumn when the final bidding criteria will also be confirmed. Based on the consultation
document it is likely that applications will need to be led by the Local Enterprise Partnership and
be of a scale that will register and be able compete on a national stage. An officer group has been
formed to look at the potential for a Freeport designation spanning Plymouth Port, Exeter Airport
and aerospace activity in South Somerset. There is also considering the potential to harness
digital and big data expertise.
page 119

4.6
A further report will be brought to Cabinet if the freeport proposals progress and in advance
of any bid being submitted. This will need to be clear on the benefits of the designation including
the relationship with the existing Enterprise Zone.
5.

Sustainable Aviation Cluster

5.1
Regardless of the current impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, arguably the greatest structural
challenge facing the aviation industry is to decarbonise. This is likely to involve continuing to
achieve efficiency improvements, supporting the commercialisation of sustainable, alternative
aviation fuels and developing radically new aircraft and propulsion technology that will enable a
‘third generation’ of aviation.
5.2
The consultation document referred to above recognised that establishing freeports as
innovative hubs presents an opportunity to drive the decarbonisation agenda. This would enable
business and industry located in freeports to invest further in low-carbon technologies by testing
new ideas and green technologies within freeport sites.
5.3
A central objective of the Local Industrial Strategy for the Heart of the South West is the
achievement of clean growth. The Strategy includes the potential to develop a sustainable
aviation cluster centred on Exeter Airport. A range of partners including the University, Exeter
College and the LEP are collaborating to develop this concept. Recent feedback from the
Department for International Trade has highlighted that the area provides a good environment for
testbeds and that the region clearly has the infrastructure to support technology development and
flight-testing capability. This aligns with the Government’s Future Flight Strategy and suggests
that the key foundations exist from which to build this cluster.
5.4
A bid to the UK Research and Innovation’s Future Flight programme coordinated by the
LEP was submitted in June of this year. This project was aimed at progressing to zero emissions
for regional airline operations and was a partnership between two regional airlines and major
manufacturers as well as Exeter and Newquay Airports. Specifically this anticipated moving
towards zero emissions for regional and sub-regional transport using hybrid and electric aircraft in
a point-to-point based airline route network and Air Traffic Management system. This bid was
recently confirmed as being successful which is a major step towards bringing forward the
development of the sustainable aviation cluster.
6.

Assessment

6.1
The Airport has been severely impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic, probably more so than
any other business in the District. The scale of job losses is unprecedented. The pathway to
recovery is likely to be both difficult and protracted. Modelling work undertaken for the County
Council highlights that more widely the Devon economy is not likely to return to pre- Covid-19
levels of performance until 2027 and employment rates will not recover until 2030 without
significant investment between local partners and Government.
6.2
This provides an important part of the context for considering what role the Council can play
in supporting the Airport. This paper puts forward proposals for short term financial support in
terms of business rate relief. This will help to cushion the impact of the current situation and
potentially also assist in recovering from the loss of Flybe in terms of securing alternative
investors/operators. Moreover the additional funding from the Enterprise Zone programme for the
Long Lane project will enable the scheme to go ahead and facilitate improved public transport and
cycling connectivity. This includes to the new Future Skills Academy which will provide a range of
training opportunities to up to 400 people in the local area.
6.3
More strategically recovery should not mean just a return to business as usual. In the
context of a declared climate emergency every effort needs to be made to promote a green
recovery. The work undertaken to develop the Devon Carbon Plan assessed that flights to and
from the Airport accounted for 2% of overall carbon emissions. The opportunity exists to pivot
towards the Airport being at the centre of a sustainable aviation cluster. There is a strategic
page 120

opportunity to make a meaningful contribution to reducing this and for the area to play a leading
role in helping to bring forward the third era of aviation. The recent success of the Future Flight
application starts to provide real credibility to these ambitions.
6.4
In order to bring these issues together and to provide a rounded assessment of the various
considerations an appraisal has been undertaken based on the Kate Raworth Doughnut
Economics model. This helps to show how projects and decisions will affect the environment and
people. The model has two parts - the inner area of the doughnut focuses on social and economic
issues. The outer ring focuses on environmental issues like greenhouse gas emissions and
biodiversity.
6.5

The assessment is set out below. In framing this account has been taken of the;







impact of current large scale jobs losses on livelihoods
increased carbon emissions and pollution from a return to pre Covid flying levels
ability of the Future Skills Academy to improve education and training opportunities
role of the Long Lane project in improving public transport and cycling connectivity
development of the Airpark employment area – a greenfield site
potential to work towards the longer term development of a sustainable aviation cluster

6.6
The assessment highlights that a return to business as usual, in terms of the flying
programme, would have a significant negative impact in terms of greenhouse gas emissions and
page 121

pollution. This emphasises the need to for any short term support to be set within a wider
corporate objective of bringing forward the development of a sustainable aviation cluster.
7.

Alternative options

7.1
The Airport is a commercial entity. The most obvious alternative option would be not to
provide any form of public sector backed support. The Airport does though face an existential
threat currently. In the worst case scenario the Airport would close. This would lead to further
large scale job closures, reduce business rate revenues and also diminish the connectivity of the
region. Furthermore if the propensity of local residents to fly was not diminished, this would lead
to longer trips (e.g. to Bristol) to access flights with the potential for a higher carbon footprint
accordingly.
7.2
In terms of establishing the counterfactual position it is not possible to say categorically that
the package of support outlined in this report will stave off the threat facing the Airport. But it will
help to cushion the impact of the pandemic. The big strategic opportunity is to bring forward the
development of the sustainable aviation cluster. The Council’s support can therefore help to raise
sights beyond purely short term commercial considerations. The lesson from other
transformational projects in the district, such as the Science Park, is that they require sustained
partnership working and investment in order to bring them to fruition.
8.

Conclusion

8.1
Exeter Airport is a key asset and economic driver for the district and wider sub-region. It
has been severely impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic with an unprecedented scale of job losses.
This report puts forward a range of measures which will help to both aid short term recovery,
ensure infrastructure improvements can continue to be progressed and work towards the strategic
objective of developing a sustainable aviation cluster.

page 122

Agenda Item 20
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Member Champions

Purpose of report:

For members to consider the possibility of the reintroduction of a small
number of Member Champions.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet;
1. Consider the reintroduction of Member Champions following
the review by the Democracy and Transparency Portfolio
Holder.
2. If it is agreed that there should be Member Champions then
to recommend to Council that the Constitution be amended
as detailed in Appendix 2 and that the Member Champion
areas of interest and appointees be made as detailed in
paragraph 4.
3. Agree to receive a report following a further review the role of
Member Champions prior to the Annual Meeting of Council in
2021.

Reason for
recommendation:

So Cabinet can decide whether to reintroduce Member Champions and,
if so, to recommend changes to the Constitution to Council together with
positions and appointees.

Officer:

Henry Gordon Lennox, Strategic Lead (Governance and Licensing)

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder Democracy and Transparency

Financial
implications:

There are no financial implications arising.

Legal implications:

There are no legal implications requiring comment.

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

Low Impact

Risk:

Low Risk

Links to background
information:

Cllr Millar review paper

Link to Council Plan:
Outstanding Council and Council Services
page 123

Report in full
1. On 24th June 2020 the Council received a report in relation to its Governance arrangements
where the following was reported;
The new administration is of the view that the role of Lead Member needs review and is in an
event likely to be superseded by an effective Portfolio Team approach as well as the work of
the Governance Review Working Party. While there is likely to be interest in a small number of
members supporting the ongoing work of the Council in relation to relevant but discrete areas, it
is not appropriate to determine which ones they should be at this time and in light of the timely
need to reset our governance framework. It is accepted that should there be an urgent need to
reintroduce these roles in the short term, then this could happen with a properly considered
report to Council. The changes are therefore to remove Lead Member roles at this time.

2. The Council agreed with this and the Constitution was amended accordingly and no
appointments were made.
3. The Portfolio Holder for Democracy and Transparency has completed a review (which can
found in the background links) which advocates a small number of Member Champions
together with a rationale why. It should be noted that while the Council had called the
positions Lead Members, they have previously been referred to as Member Champions.
4. The recommendation from the review is that Cabinet recommend to Council that four new
Member Champions be created, and that Cllr Alan Dent be elected Armed Forces
Champion, Cllr Vicky Johns be appointed Sport & Exercise Champion, that Cllr Joe Whibley
be appointed Culture Champion and Cllr Tony Woodward be appointed Mental Health
Champion.
5. There has been discussion about whether these roles should be formalised through the
Constitution now, or whether they should be informal to start with and that changes to the
Constitution be proposed in May 2021 having reviewed the matter. On balance it is
considered that it is appropriate that they are formalised through inclusion in the
Constitution now, not least as it gives legitimacy to the role and sets clear expectations and
responsibilities.
6. The wording from the Constitution that was deleted in June 2020 is contained at Appendix
1. As can be seen it is quite laborious and so it is proposed that a more succinct form of
wording is used to effectively give a basic role description, who can hold the role and to set
the expectation in terms of responsibilities and reporting on activities. A proposed form of
wording for the Constitution is included in Appendix 2.
7. The Portfolio Holder is recommending reviewing the position (and remit of any champion
role established now if that is the decision) ahead of Annual Council, which is
understandable.
8. Looking forward, it might be worth considering whether Member Champions should be
subject to questions at Council to further increase the importance of the role and to ensure
that the members are accountable for their activities on an ongoing basis. However, this
issue can be picked up in the review prior to any further recommendations ahead of Annual
Council.

page 124

APPENDIX 1
WORDING DELETED FROM THE CONSTITUTION IN RELATION TO LEAD MEMBERS
In Article 6 (Cabinet)
Non-Cabinet Lead Members
A Non-Cabinet Lead Member does not have personal delegated powers to act on the Council’s
behalf on matters relating to the interest being lead on. The Lead Members will work closely
with the Council’s Cabinet and with the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and within the
Council’s Constitution.
In this overall context, the principal purpose of the Non-Cabinet Lead Member role is:
1. promoting the interest within the Council, having regard to the Council’s overall corporate
and service priorities,
2. taking a particular interest in the needs and wishes of any client groups relevant to the
interest being lead on,
3. ensuring that decision makers within the Council and externally are aware of issues and
opportunities related to the interest
4. contributing to the continuous improvement of services and functions relating to the interest
and be a catalyst for change,
5. ensuring good practice within the authority relating to the interest is shared and that
examples of good practice elsewhere are brought to the attention of Members and officers,
6. keeping up-to-date with all relevant matters connected with the interest,
7. working with national and local initiatives relevant to the interest,
The primary functional responsibilities are as follows:
8. engaging with relevant local and national bodies and communities of place, culture and
interest, promoting the interest, attending meetings as necessary, and relevant
conferences with the approval of the relevant Portfolio Holder or Leader,
9. monitoring the work programmes of the Cabinet and of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committees, working with lead Members proactively to advise, identify, challenge and
exert influence,
10. ensuring that all Members of the Council, in particular Cabinet Members, Overview and
Scrutiny Chairmen and the Council’s Officers are aware of the needs, issues and support
available relating to the interest,
11. seeking appropriate opportunities to promote the interest further with Members and
Officers through seminars, other awareness events and personal attendance at meetings,
12. to liaise with relevant partner bodies on matters relating to the interest and seek
opportunities to direct participation in issue consideration as appropriate,
13. working with a nominated lead Officer in prioritising actions as Lead Member, creating a
work plan that achieves a balance between helping to achieve corporate priorities and
delivering other priorities identified by the Lead Member,
14. pursuing such personal development and training opportunities to enable effective
performance in the role of a Non-Cabinet Lead Member and raise personal awareness of
issues relevant to the interest being lead on,
page 125

15. presenting an annual report to the Council, in liaison with the relevant Portfolio Holder, on
work achieved during the year and identifying priorities for the future.
Note:
A Cabinet Member may also be a Lead Member and in that case their primary responsibility is
for the effective performance of executive functions. The Cabinet Lead Member will keep the
interest in mind and will raise awareness of this interest and promote as appropriate when
executing his executive responsibilities.
[Table of Lead Member positions, holders and related portfolios contained in table after
Portfolio Holder list]
Part 5.5
Lead Member Protocol
1.

Lead Members have evolved in this Council to focus Member activity on certain aspects of the
Council’s business and functions.

2.

A Lead Member is an Elected Member appointed by the Council to provide a focus on a specific
area of the Council’s business or a community need to ensure it is given due regard in relation
to the activities of the Council and of its partners in local governance.

3.

A Lead Member can be an Executive (Cabinet) Member or, more commonly, a non-executive
Member.

4.

The Council at its annual meeting, or at other Council meetings during the year, will identify
the interests to be lead on and will appoint named Councillors to lead on one specific interest.
The Council will be entitled to make changes at its annual meeting but the expectation is for a
Lead Member to serve a minimum of two years to ensure some stability in the role.

5.

Within the context of the interest being lead on, and as part of their overall and individual
community leadership responsibilities:







A Lead Member will be expected to exert influence on those within the Council who make
executive decisions and on other Members of the Council in the context of full Council,
regulatory and overview and scrutiny functions.
A Lead Member will be expected to exert influence on relevant external partners and bodies
in their decision making and planning.
A Lead Member will act as a catalyst for change and improvement.
A Lead Member will work with others within the Council to maintain efficient, effective and
relevant services and policies.

6.

By appointing a Member as a Lead Member, the Council is empowering that Member to act in
that capacity. It follows, therefore, that the Council will put in place such arrangements as it
thinks appropriate to support the Lead Member in that capacity.

7.

The above role is set in the context of the specific interest or theme. The following parameters
apply to the role.


All Lead Members must act reasonably in the role.
page 126



8.

A Lead Member who is NOT an Executive Member:













9.

All Lead Members must recognise and work effectively within the political management and
executive working arrangements agreed by the Council.

is effectively given authority by the Council to take all reasonable actions judged by the
Member as being necessary to perform the role of Lead Member,
cannot commit the Council in any way that is contrary to established policy and practice,
but may confirm a Council position as stated in published policy,
cannot make decisions that bind the Council,
is not a recognised media contact on behalf of the Council, but is permitted to contribute to
media publicity with the prior agreement of the relevant Cabinet Member or Chairs of
Overview and Scrutiny,
is entitled to have access to information being held by the Council’s Officers relating to the
interest being lead on and access to a reasonable amount of Officer time to discuss that
information (although the Lead Member may not commit Officer time to such an extent that
other priority work required of Officers is prejudiced),
should agree, with the relevant Portfolio Holder/Leader, a programme of activity that can
be generally endorsed and which sets out clearly the areas of activity which the Lead
Member can be expected to be involved in and for which practical/administrative support
can be given,
the work programme must reflect the Council’s overall priorities.

A Lead Member who is a Member of the Executive (Cabinet) already has structured support
within the Council and certain legal responsibilities and functions to perform. An Executive
Member has the decision making powers delegated by the Leader’s Scheme of delegations
and to that extent may commit the Council as long as the overall policy framework and Portfolio
Holder decision making procedures are complied with and may act as a media spokesperson.

page 127

APPENDIX 2
Suggested wording to be inserted into the Constitution for Member Champions

Part 5.5 - Member Champion Protocol
Member Champions
Member Champions exist to provide a voice for traditionally underrepresented groups, or issues
which need to be kept at the forefront of council business although they may not be the
responsibility of any individual or committee and / or which may cross a number of different areas.
Member Champions are elected councillors (but not a Cabinet Member / Assistant Portfolio
Holder) who will seek to make sure that their area of interest is taken into account when Council
policy is being developed and decisions taken.
Council, on the advice of Cabinet, will decide on what areas of interest to have Member
Champions for and who the appointees shall be. Appointments will be made at Annual Council
and while changes can be made each year the expectation is that appointees will be appointed for
a minimum of 2 years to ensure continuity in the role.
Responsibilities
Within the context of the powers of the Council and having regard to the Council’s overall
corporate priorities, the Member Champion will:









Make sure that their area of interest is taken into account when the Council is developing
policy or making decisions and exert influence in that regard.
Act as a catalyst for change and improvement including working with national and local
initiatives relevant to their area.
Ask questions about performance and resourcing for their area.
Raise the profile of their area within, and outside, the Council.
Promote good practice within the Council and make the authority aware of good practice
from elsewhere.
Engage with, and exert influence on, external partners and bodies who work in the area
including sharing good practice where appropriate.
Engage with other members, officers and community groups who have an interest / stake in
the area.
Keep up-to-date with all relevant matters connected with the area and pursue relevant
personal development and training opportunities.

Mutual Expectations
The Council is empowering a Member Champion and therefore will put in place such arrangements
as it considers appropriate to support the Member Champion – this includes access to information
held by the Council relating to their area and access to a reasonable amount of Officer (provided
work priority of Officers is not prejudiced).
The Council expects Member Champions to act reasonably when carrying out their role and
recognise, and work effectively within, the political management and corporate working
arrangements of the Council.
A Member Champion cannot take decisions that bind the Council or commit the Council in a way
that is contrary to established policy or practice. Otherwise the Member Champion may take all
page 128

reasonable actions judged by the Member as being necessary to perform their role including
engaging with the media to confirm a Council position as stated in published policy or expressing a
personal view in their capacity as the Member Champion.
Reporting
Member Champions shall provide a written report to Annual Council on work achieved during the
year and identifying priorities for the future.

page 129

Agenda Item 21
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

30 September 2020

Public Document:

Yes

Exemption:

None

Review date for
release

None

Subject:

Complaints to the Ombudsman during 2019/20

Purpose of report:

This report provides information on complaints referred to and decided
by the Local Government and Housing Ombudsman during 2019/20

Recommendation:

That Cabinet notes the report and learning points arising from
complaints decided during the year

Reason for
recommendation:

To continue to improve the way we handle, and learn from, complaints

Officer:

Henry Gordon Lennox, Monitoring Officer

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holder Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and
Recovery

Financial
implications:

There are no direct financial implications.

Legal implications:

As the report is for information there are no direct legal implications
arising. However, the outcomes do highlight some learning points which
should be taken on board to avoid similar complaints in the future.

Equalities impact:

Low Impact

Climate change:

Low Impact

Risk:

Medium Risk
Potential criticism, deterioration in reputation and failure to improve. Loss
of credibility in complaints procedure

Links to background
information:

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/feedback-and-complaints/making-acomplaint/complaint-outcomes/
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/east-devon-districtcouncil/statistics

Link to Council Plan:
Outstanding Place and Environment
Outstanding Council and Council Services

page 130

Report in full
1.

Complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO)

1.1

12 complaints were received by the LGO during the year, compared to 21 received
during 2018/19. There was a slight pause during the Covid19 lockdown whilst the
Ombudsman suspended the consideration of new complaints.

1.2

9 (75%) complaints were planning related, compared to 52% in 2018/19, whilst 2
were for Environmental Health and 1 was regarding the Monitoring Officer’s decision
not to carry out an investigation into a complaint about a parish councillor as the
complainant refused to complete the complaint form.

1.2

15 complaints were closed (decided) by the Ombudsman during the year:
(Key to terms in pie chart below)
Upheld: Maladministration – with our without injustice
Not upheld: No maladministration
Referred for local resolution: Premature complaint referred which has not been considered by the
council
Closed after initial enquiries: Complaint out of time/alternative remedy available or insufficient
evidence of injustice

LGO decisions
Referred back for
local resolution, 2
Upheld, 2

Closed after
initial enquiries, 6

Not upheld, 5

1.3
2 complaints were upheld and a summary of these is provided below. Complaint
outcomes are published on our website in most cases, except where the Ombudsman
requests that a decision is not publicised for example, where they feel that to do so may
identify an individual complainant.
Complaint 1:
The ombudsman found fault in relation to the council’s granting of consent for prior approval
for a telecommunications mast in failing to properly document its consideration and
assessment of the proposed appearance of the mast. The Council agreed to remind officers
of the need to refer to the Neighbourhood Plan in their reports, where appropriate, and to
accurately record who was consulted/commented. The Council also agreed to remind
planning and landscape officers it would be good practice to have a written record
confirming where those consulted on an application wished to make no comments on it.

page 131

Complaint 2:
The council was at fault in its assessment of permitted development provisions which
resulted in the complainant carrying out further works that subsequently made no difference
to the development’s planning status. The council was asked to provide financial remedy
(£250) to the complainant in recognition of the time and trouble they were put to in carrying
out these further works.
In both of the above cases the council complied fully with the ombudsman’s required
remedy.
2. Links to council priorities
2.1

The council’s planning service will ensure that the documentation of the
consideration of planning applications is a comprehensive and accurate record,
making our decisions clearer to the public, which links in with our priority of
promoting an outstanding place and environment

2.2

The council’s full compliance with the ombudsman’s recommendations and low
number of upheld complaints (29% in comparison with a national average for similar
councils of 45%) is also indicative of our efforts to learn from complaints and to
continuously improve.

3.

Reporting requirements

3.1

The Ombudsman continues to encourage authorities to move away from a simplistic
focus on complaint volumes and instead to focus on the lessons learned and the
wider improvements.

3.2

The council’s performance is published by the ombudsman here
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance enabling comparisons to be made
with other local authorities.

4

Housing Ombudsman

4.1

Complaints about the council, as social housing landlord, are considered by the
Housing Ombudsman. This does not include complaints about allocations or
bandings as these matters still fall within the jurisdiction of the Local Government
Ombudsman. Complaints referred to the Housing Ombudsman tend to focus on
matters such as property repairs and maintenance and estate management issues.

4.2

In 2019/2020, there were no decisions issued by the Housing Ombudsman and no
new referrals. During this time the ombudsman referred two complaints back to the
council for consideration through our own complaints procedure.

5

Learning points

5.1

As the Ombudsman points out in his letter, considering volumes of complaints alone
is not an effective measure of the quality of services being provided by the Council.
The important thing is that the council continuously learns from, and improves, as a
result of complaints received.

page 132

5.2

One of the key learning points from this year’s complaints is the need to ensure that
our planning considerations and decisions are adequately documented so that nonplanning specialists and interested parties can easily see the full process; all
consultee comments (including where there are none submitted); and that we can
demonstrate that all relevant information and policy is considered.

page 133

Agenda Item 22
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30 September 2020
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
Updated Protocol for Members Advisory Panels on Planning Matters
Report summary:
The report seeks to review the protocol for Members Advisory Panels on planning matters to
ensure that the protocol is up to date and reflects good practice.
Recommendation:
That Members adopt the proposed protocol for Members Advisory Panels and that this be
published on the Council’s web-site and used as the basis for all future meetings.
Reason for recommendation:
To ensure that there is a clear and published protocol for Members Advisory Panel meetings.
Officer: Ed Freeman: Service Lead – Planning Strategy and Development Management
Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action
☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery
☒ Democracy and Transparency
☐ Economy and Assets
☐ Coast, Country and Environment
☐ Finance
☒ Strategic Planning
☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Financial implications:
There are no financial implications arising.
Legal implications:
It is within the purview of Cabinet to revise the protocol for Member Advisory Panels. Otherwise
there are no legal implications requiring comment.
Equalities impact: Low Impact
Climate change: Low Impact
Risk: Low Risk
Links to background information: Pre-application advice web-pages:
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-permission/pre-application-advice/#
page 134

Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☐ Outstanding Place and Environment
☐ Outstanding Homes and Communities
☐ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services

Background
In 2007 the Council introduced a process known as the Members Advisory Panel to give a
mechanism whereby Members could engage in pre-application discussions with developers
looking to submit a planning application. Prior to this time pre-application discussions had been
entirely between the developers and officers. The process was designed to give developers the
benefit of input from Members at an early stage of their proposals to inform their thinking and
minimise risk to them. From a Members perspective it gave them an opportunity to input into the
proposals and ensure key concerns were understood by the developer and could help to influence
the proposals at an early stage.
The process was founded on a basic protocol which sought to enable developers to make a
presentation to a group of relevant Members and officers then in return receive a written response
from the panel as a group detailing their views and comments. In this way the process ensured
that meaningful feedback could be provided to the developer without the views of any individual
Member being formally expressed such that it could be considered to prejudice their position when
considering any planning application that might follow.
The protocol was published as part of a schedule of charges for pre-application discussions. The
agreed protocol stated the following:
“The Council also offers a Members Advisory Panel for major applications. This is a group of
senior officers and Councillors and other interested parties who can listen to a presentation
from the agent and then through its officers respond in writing. The Council has a protocol for
dealing with requests from agents to put a proposal before the MAP. Officers can advise if a
particular scheme warrants a submission to the MAP.
The Member’s Planning Advisory Group is comprised of:The Chairman of the Development Management Committee.
The Chairman of a possible Policy sub-committee or Policy Champion.
Strategic Planning Portfolio Holder.
Environment Portfolio Holder.
Economy Portfolio Holder – as appropriate
Communities Portfolio Holder as appropriate.
Ward Members.
The system for running this group would be as follows:(i)

Developers to make presentation to Member’s Planning Advisory Group with Officers
present.
page 135

(ii)

Members to have previously acquainted themselves with the site in question
by a site visit with Officers.

(iii)

Members to ask questions of the Developers, seek clarification, test arguments
but not to give any form of view in support or against the proposals.

(iv)

Advice on the way forward or changes to be made to the proposal would be
provided by the Officers to the Developers in writing following advice from
Members in a debate once the developers have left the meeting.

(v)

Any Member of the Planning Advisory Group who has a personal or prejudicial
interesting the proposal should not form part of the group for that particular site.”

The above protocol has been in use since 2007 with numerous advisory panels having
been successfully convened with Members and developers alike providing feedback
suggesting that the process was useful.
National Context
The Governments National Planning Practice Guidance acknowledges the role of pre-application
discussions to improve the “…efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application system and
improve the quality of planning applications and their likelihood of success”. The guidance goes on
to state with regard to Member involvement in pre-application discussions:
“What involvement could the local planning authority’s elected members have at the preapplication stage?
Democratically elected members are strongly encouraged to participate at the pre-application
stage, where it is appropriate and beneficial for them to do so. Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011
confirms that elected members do not have a ‘closed mind’ just because they have historically
indicated a view on a matter relevant to the proposal. Further information on elected member
involvement in the decision-making process.
Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 20-007-20140306”
A number of other Council’s operate similar panels under a variety of different names and
protocols. These all seek to give Members a format to input into pre-app discussions in
accordance with government guidance. It is therefore considered that Members Advisory Panels
continue to have an important role to play in the pre-application process. It is however important
that the protocol for such meetings is reviewed given the time that it has been in place without
review and mindful of concerns about issues of probity.
Reviewing the Protocol
It is proposed that the protocol be revised to achieve the following:





Have a clearly stated purpose for the panel so that all parties understand what is to be
achieved through a panel meeting.
That minutes are taken of each meeting in the same format as committee meeting minutes
to ensure that clear records are maintained.
To make it clear that as with all pre-application correspondence and records these will be
published in the event that an application for the same or similar form of development is
made on the site.
To update the relevant Members that would be expected to attend a panel meeting.
page 136



To provide clarity over the timing of any developer presentation to avoid overly long
presentations.

The revised protocol is proposed to read as follows:

Members Advisory Panels
Introduction
The Council operates a Members Advisory Panel (MAP) for major applications. The panel is
convened as required and is an opportunity for developers to present proposals to Members at
an early stage and gain initial feedback to gauge Members initial views on proposals to inform
their development. A panel meeting is charged as 1 meeting under the relevant pre-application
fee.
Purpose
To enable Members to input into emerging proposals at an early stage to inform the developers
thinking and the development of their proposals without prejudicing the views that they may
later choose to express in response to any future planning application for the development.
Membership of the Panel
A panel will be convened when a developer submits a proposal for pre-application discussion
with officers on a major development and those discussions have progressed to a stage where
the developer and officers agree that engaging Members in the discussion would help to
progress the matter.
Any meeting of the panel will be chaired by the Chairman of Planning Committee and will also
comprise of:








Portfolio Holder Strategic Planning
Portfolio Holder Coast, Country and Environment
Vice Chairman Strategic Planning Committee
Vice Chairman Planning Committee
Ward Members as appropriate to the site (inc. adjacent ward members as appropriate)
Other relevant portfolio holders and assistant portfolio holders (as appropriate)
Relevant officers from key consultees such as Devon County Council etc.
Relevant officers from other teams and services of EDDC

The Panel Meeting
Prior to the meeting Members should acquaint themselves with the site and it’s surroundings.
The panel, officers and developers to convene either in person at the Council’s offices or virtually
through zoom or similar as appropriate.
The meeting to then follow the format of:
1. Meeting to open with introductions and Members to declare any interests.
2. Developer makes a presentation to the Member’s Advisory Panel and Officers of no
more than 30 minutes.
3. Members to ask questions of the Developers, seek clarification, test arguments but not to
give any form of view in support or against the proposals.
4. Developers are asked to leave the meeting.
5. Officers advise Members of the key issues and policy considerations as they see it.
page 137

6.
7.
8.
9.

Members discuss the merits of the proposal
Members advise officers of the comments that they wish to feedback to the developer
Meeting is closed.
Officers draft a response to be sent on behalf of the panel to the developer and circulate
with the minutes for panel member’s comment.
10. Final minutes and letter is agreed by the Chairman.
11. Officers send panel response to the developer.
12. In the event an application is made for the same or similar proposal on the site from the
developer then all pre-application details including the panel minutes and letter are
published.
Administration
All meetings to be arranged and administered by the Planning Service.
All meetings to be minuted in the same format as committee meetings.
All virtual meetings to be recorded and saved.

page 138

Agenda Item 24
EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
Minutes of the meeting of Overview Committee held at Online via the Zoom
App. All Councillors and registered speakers will have been sent an
appointment with the meeting link. on 24 September 2020
Attendance list at end of document
The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 8.16 pm

59

Public Speaking
There were no members of the public wishing to speak.
The Chairman advised that a letter had been received from a resident, Mr Stephen
Pemberton, regarding the Sidmouth beach management plan, Pennington Point and
East Beach. Mr Pemberton having agreed, the letter was read out by a Democratic
Services Officer and expressed the following views:
 It appeared that EDDC had little or no intention of doing what was needed for
Sidmouth
 Sidmouth residents had been silenced
 There was a lack of progress and accountability by EDDC
 The administration had been led by EDDC Senior Officer views
 The priority was the hole at Pennington Point exacerbated by the erosion along
East Beach
 Revetment and rock island(s) were required for Pennington Point and East Beach
It was agreed to consider the matter under the Forward Plan.

60

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 27 February 2020 were approved and
signed as a correct record.

61

Declarations of interest
Minute 64. Update on referral from the Cabinet meeting 21 July 2020.
Councillor Andrew Moulding, Personal, Patron of Arc.
Minute 64. Update on referral from the Cabinet meeting 21 July 2020.
Councillor Ian Hall, Personal, Devon County Councillor, DCC Mental Health Champion,
Vice-Chairman of the Trustees of Arc, Chair of Cloakham Lawns Sports Centre.

62

Matters of urgency
There were no matters of urgency.

63

Confidential/exempt item(s)
There were no items to be dealt with in this way.
page 139

Overview Committee 24 September 2020

64

Update on referral from the Cabinet meeting 21 July 2020
At the previous meeting the Committee had debated motions in support of the Local
Authority Mental Health Challenge and the Healthy Weight Declaration. Notes to
summarise and supplement the debate, with recommendations for the Committee to
approve, had been circulated.
Andrew Ennis, Service Lead Environmental Health and Car Parks, presented the notes
on the Local Authority Mental Health Challenge and highlighted the range of
commitments and expertise which would be required, some of which was beyond
existing resources and budgets.
Members discussed the following points:
 The prevalence of mental health problems was significant and likely to worsen as
a result of the Covid-19 pandemic
 44 other District Councils had Mental Health Champions and had signed the
Challenge
 Cabinet was being asked at its next meeting to consider the re-introduction of a
limited number of Member Champions, including a Mental Health Champion and
this was supported by the Committee
 There was support for the appointment of a dedicated Officer to engage with local
communities
 There was a need to ensure that poor mental health did not become mental illness
 The Council needed a robust framework to safeguard the mental health of all
Members and Officers
 Members noted the recommendation to Cabinet of the Housing Review Board to
approve the need for the recruitment of a specialist Mental Health Support Officer
to work within the housing services team
Cllr Hall proposed the following recommendations to Cabinet which were seconded by
Cllr de Saram and RESOLVED:
RECOMMENDATIONS:
1. That Cabinet notes that our Public Health Strategic Plan already recognises the
importance of mental as well as physical health
2. That during the Covid-recovery phase we continue to work with our partners within
existing parameters
3. That Cabinet notes that specialist skill sets are required for mental health
interventions; this is the role of the Devon Partnership Trust and other agencies.
EDDC does not have dedicated or experienced officer resource for mental health
4. As an interim measure to ensure that Members and Officers are signposted to
appropriate support if necessary
5. That surveys are sent to Members and Officers to capture information on the
current state of mental health
6. That Cabinet is requested to consider appointing a lead Officer for mental health
in the organisation in conjunction with the request for a mental health Officer from
the housing service and that Cabinet agrees the recommendation to appoint a
Member Champion for mental health
7. That bespoke training for Members and Officers be provided on mental health.
page 140

Overview Committee 24 September 2020

It was noted during the course of the meeting that the minutes would be added as a late
item to the agenda for the Cabinet meeting of 30 September 2020.
Andrew Ennis presented the notes on the Healthy Weight Declaration and outlined the
14 commitments which would be required should the Council sign up to the Declaration.
It was noted that, to date, only County Councils had signed up to the Declaration.
Cllr de Saram proposed the following recommendations to Cabinet which were seconded
by Cllr Gazzard and RESOLVED:
RECOMMENDATIONS:
1. That Cabinet notes the contribution that our activities identified in our Public
Health Strategic Plan make towards encouraging healthy weight
2. That during the Covid-recovery phase we continue to work with our partners within
existing parameters
3. That Cabinet recognises that our partners’ priorities are also changing in response
to Covid-recovery
4. That Cabinet notes that our current priorities do not offer us the scope to afford
additional resourcing at this time, but that this is reviewed after six months
It was agreed that the Healthy Weight Declaration be added to the Forward Plan in order
to keep the matter under review.

65

Forward Plan
With regard to the Forward Plan, the Committee discussed the following:
Next meeting
The meeting on 12 November 2020 would consider the Draft Financial Strategy 20212031 and an update on the High Street TAFF and Our Towns Scheme.
Sidmouth Beach Management Plan
In response to the letter from Mr Stephen Pemberton, Cllr Jung advised the following:
 Cllr Jung had been engaged in correspondence with Mr Pemberton who had
declined offers to meet and discuss the Sidmouth beach management plan
 EDDC had provided reassurances that it was progressing with the beach
management plan
 Interested groups had attended forum meetings and had expressed their views
 EDDC had conferred with the Environment Agency regarding the recent cliff fall
and noted that the works could not be classed as emergency works
 The cost of installing off shore islands as requested would be prohibitive
Economic recovery plan
Cllr Moulding proposed that an economic impact assessment of the Covid-19 pandemic
be added to the Forward Plan as an urgent item.
page 141

Overview Committee 24 September 2020

In response, Cllr Arnott advised that a Devon County Council Officer had been tasked
with economic recovery. Following the statement by the Chancellor of the Exchequer
earlier in the day, Cllr Arnott had written to Officers for an assessment of the business
support which had been announced.
Assisted housing needs
Cllr Hall proposed that the provision of assisted housing units be added to the Forward
Plan. This topic would require scoping.
Proposal form and scoping template
The Committee discussed the use of a proposal form and scoping template to assist with
future work programming and to ensure that the right work would come forward at the
right time whilst using resources as effectively as possible. Use of the forms could be
reviewed at a future date.
Governance Review working party
It was noted that work on the Governance Review had been suspended due to the
Covid-19 pandemic and agreed that this item should be retained on the Forward Plan.
The Forward Plan was noted.

Attendance List
Councillors present:
N Hookway (Chairman)
V Johns (Vice-Chairman)
B De Saram
I Hall
M Hartnell
F King
T Woodward
K Blakey
S Bond
S Jackson
S Gazzard
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting)
P Arnott
C Brown
P Faithfull
G Jung
P Millar
A Moulding
Officers in attendance:
Andrew Ennis, Service Lead Environmental Health and Car Parks
Henry Gordon Lennox, Strategic Lead Governance and Licensing
Andrew Hancock, Service Lead StreetScene
page 142

Overview Committee 24 September 2020

Susan Howl, Democratic Services Manager
Sarah Jenkins, Democratic Services Officer
Debbie Meakin, Democratic Services Officer
Shirley Shaw, Planning Barrister
Councillor apologies:
M Allen
V Ranger

Chairman

Date:

page 143

Agenda Item 25
Report to:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting 30th September 2020
Document classification: Part A Public Document
Exemption applied: None
Review date for release N/A
THE ACQUISITION OF OCEAN BLUE, THE ESPLANADE, EXMOUTH, EX8 2AZ – PROCESS
FOLLOWED AND BUSINESS CASE FOR ACQUISITION
Report summary:
The Council completed on the purchase of Ocean Blue on 4 th March 2020, delivered in
accordance with the adopted Commercial Investment Framework.
The purpose of this report is to update Members on:
a) The process followed in accordance with the Commercial Investment Framework
b) The acquisition and business case behind this – bearing in mind that this is a public
document, some commercially sensitive information will be omitted

Recommendation:
To note the content of this report
Reason for recommendation:
To provide enhanced awareness of the detail behind this acquisition
Officer:
Tim Child, Service Lead – Place, Assets & Commercialisation
tchild@eastdevon.gov.uk 01395 571692
Portfolio(s) (check which apply):
☐ Climate Action
☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery
☐ Democracy and Transparency
☒ Economy and Assets
☐ Coast, Country and Environment
☐ Finance
☐ Strategic Planning
☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities
Financial implications:
As the report is simply to advise Members of the acquisition and process followed, there are no
financial implications requiring comment.
page 144

Legal implications:
As the report is simply to advise Members of the acquisition and process followed, there are no
legal implications requiring comment.
Equalities impact Low Impact
Climate change Low Impact
Risk: Low Risk; Due diligence sought to identify and mitigate risks before acquisition completed.
Financial modelling allowed for a cautious approach to future maintenance liabilities.

Links to background information
Commercial Investment Framework. Cabinet 06.02.19
Commercial Investment Scrutiny.06.02.2020
Marketing Details
Link to Council Plan:
Priorities (check which apply)
☒ Outstanding Place and Environment
☐ Outstanding Homes and Communities
☒ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity
☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services

Report in full
The process followed in accordance with the adopted Commercial Investment Framework
1.1

This investment opportunity was marketed in summer 2018 and at a time prior to the
Commercial Investment Framework being adopted. The Council’s Senior Management
Team, Leader, and Portfolio Holders for Asset Management, Finance and Economy
supported an offer being made, subject to the usual due diligence and Council approvals.
Once the Commercial Investment Framework was adopted in February 2019, the Council
then followed the approach set out within.

1.2

Links within this report are to the following:
a) Cabinet report of 6th February 2019 together with attached Commercial Investment
Framework. Confidential appendix B is omitted.
b) Scrutiny report and presentation of 6th February 2020

1.3

The purpose of the Commercial Investment Framework is to provide the mechanism to help
deliver the £450,000 net income from property investment as accounted for within the
Council’s Transformation Strategy.

1.4

Prior to Cabinet in February 2019 the matter of commercial investment had been
considered by Overview Committee twice and the draft Framework had been presented to
Asset Management Forum twice.
page 145

1.5

External legal advice had been commissioned through Bevan Brittan to advise on the
Council’s powers to invest commercially along with the mechanism by which this should be
done.

1.6

The Framework incorporates a general introduction and background to commercial
investment, legal and regulatory powers, objectives, types of investment considered and
weighted scoring matrices for assessment of opportunities to ensure opportunities are
considered in a structured and objective manner by relating all opportunities to the
objectives set by Cabinet. The Framework also provided for new arrangement to ensure
agile but safe decision making.

1.7

The new Commercial Investment Governance Model adopted as per the Framework
provided for safe, accountable and democratic decisions to be taken in a more agile
manner. Investment opportunities are considered against the relevant scoring matrix and if
the necessary score and indicative return is achieved at this stage, the opportunity will be
progressed by a dedicated Investment Assessment Team, before Outline Business Case to
the Council’s Senior Management Team and Portfolio Holders for Asset Management,
Economy and Finance. If supported there would then be a Full Business Case with a
decision to invest by the Deputy Chief Executive (whilst in post) in consultation with Leader
and Portfolio Holders for Asset Management, Economy and Finance, jointly referred to
within the Framework as the Investment Decision Making Group. For commercial
investment opportunities exceeding the £5,000,000 limit then the Council’s normal decision
making route would apply.

1.8

Updates are provided through AMF (limited to non-commercially sensitive material)
although in an AMF on 9th January 2020 shortly before we completed on the investment in
Ocean we took forward a confidential agenda item on the Investment Framework.

1.9

On 6th February 2020 there was a report and presentation to Scrutiny around the process
for assessing commercial opportunities. This report contains a link to this earlier item.

1.10 The investment in Ocean Blue followed the approach and governance arrangements within
the adopted Investment Framework. In late 2019 there was a SWAP audit looking
specifically at the adopted Commercial Investment Framework and the process therefore
followed for Ocean and concluded in an assessment of reasonable assurance being given
with recommended actions given in respect of more formal minute taking of the Investment
Decision Making Group and sharing and recording of scoring for dismissed investment
opportunities, neither areas of particular concern.
Terms of Acquisition and Business Case for investment in Ocean Blue
2.1

Marketing details are included as a link to this report and provide a useful summary.

2.2

There was a Full Business Case presented to the Investment Decision Making Group
(Leader, Portfolio Holders for Asset Management, Finance and Economy) as per the
adopted Framework along with Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Strategic Lead –
Governance & Licensing and Strategic Lead - Finance. This document remains
commercially sensitive but a summary of the non-commercially sensitive and key elements
page 146

will be provided below. The Decision Making Group supported the Deputy Chief Executive
proceeding with the investment. There was a lengthy delay from this agreement through to
the acquisition due to protracted legal issues needing to be resolved and immediately prior
to exchange, Officers again sought the support of the Investment Decision Making Group
which was given.
2.3

Executive Summary
Opportunity – To purchase the head lease of Ocean Blue for £2,700,000. There is a sublease in existence for 25 years from 2015 to LED with a rent payable from June 2019 of
£200,000 per annum with a rent review in 2020 based on CPI and reviews thereafter every
5 years (subsequently determined at £217,417 per annum (plus VAT) effective from
11/06/2020). EDDC already own the land on which Ocean Blue is constructed and
therefore through purchase of the head lease the 2 interests are merged and EDDC is then
only restricted by the current lease with LED. Any other purchaser would be bound by
restrictions in the head lease, and therefore a purchase by EDDC provides the opportunity
with LED’s agreement to restructure the LED lease at some point in the future and generate
through marriage value a greater return. EDDC also own adjacent land and by purchase of
this building (through way of the head lease) and therefore having control working with LED
to vary uses, this generates wider opportunities to unlock potential of the wider area
encompassing Queens Drive, Harbour View Café and Ocean Blue into one ‘offering’. The
Business Case to invest was based on the income stream from LED but for the reasons
mentioned, other opportunities are open to EDDC that would not have been open to other
purchasers and hence the investment is worth more to EDDC than other purchasers.
Financial Performance –There is a forecast net income in year 1 of £79,000 which
represents a return of 2.79% increasing to £99,000 (est) and 3.47% in year 2. If a more
cautious approach is taken to EDDC maintenance liabilities then £49,000 representing
1.73% increasing to £68,000 (est) and 2.40% in year 2. These rates of return are after
borrowing costs and do not reflect possible enhancement in capital values.
Compliance with Commercial Investment Framework (CIF) – Achieves the necessary
scores within the weighted scoring matrices to be considered by both the Income Only Fund
(IOF) and Income Plus Fund (IPF) as per adopted Commercial Investment Framework.
That said, the year 1 financial return fails to score the 3% needed for the IOF and therefore
it was proposed that EDDC use the IPF but then flip this investment over to the IOF after
year 2 at which time it is anticipated the financial return will qualify.

2.4

Background
This investment opportunity was marketed in summer 2018 and at a time prior to the
Framework being adopted. The Council’s Senior Management Team, Leader and Portfolio
Holders for Asset Management, Finance and Economy supported an offer being made,
subject to the usual due diligence and Council approvals. An offer of £2.7m was made for
the acquisition of the long lease and eventually increased to £2.85m before being declined
by the vendor. The vendor then progressed the sale with a third party who we’re told
offered in excess of £3m. That sale fell through and in mid-December we placed a new
offer, again subject to contract, due diligence and approval, at £2.5m increasing this to
£2.7m which was then accepted with conditions that the vendor would top up rent to
£200,000 from date of acquisition to review date in lease along with completing any
outstanding external repairs, decoration and other obligations placed on the vendor within
page 147

the lease to LED. Prior to offers having been made the Council had already commissioned
LSH Property Consultants to advise on the attractiveness of this as an investment to both
a) the market, and b) EDDC as a ‘special purchaser’.
2.5

Investment Details – Property & Accommodation
Marketing details are attached, but to summarise:
 Modern three storey detached building constructed circa 2013 with an iconic design
incorporating feature curved roofs, wooden cladding, extensive glazing and roof terraces
to 2nd floor.
 Ground floor comprises 12 lane bowling alley, gaming area, restaurant and convenience
store.
 First floor incorporates soft play area with café and a coffee and restaurant, newly
refurbished with external terraces.
 Second floor provides a function suite with 2 terraces used for corporate hire, weddings
and other events.
Areas as follows and on a GIA basis:
Floor
Ground Floor
First Floor
Second Floor
TOTAL

Sq m
1,932.16
1,892.52
720.48
4,545.16

Sq ft
20,798
20,372
7,755
48,924

2.6 Investment Details - Tenure
The Council already owned the unencumbered freehold of the site (land).
There was a long leasehold agreement in place from the Council to Harlequinns Bowling &
Leisure Ltd dated 17th January 2013 as follows and it is this which was acquired. By
acquiring this leasehold then the Council merged its freehold and leasehold interests and in
effect (at least) this lease falls away. The Council now owns the land and building and is free
to do what it so wishes, subject to the terms of the LED lease along with planning restrictions.
The terms of the lease acquired is as follows:
 Term 125 years from 17 January 2013
 Use Multi –function leisure development pursuant to A1, A3, D1 & D2, bowling alley,
children’s play area, retail, café, restaurant
Restrictions - No public house, casino, arcade, nightclub, fun fair, dance club, bingo hall or
hot food takeaway. Bar sales on ground floor are restricted to only when bowling alley is
open. As for the 1st floor, any bar selling alcohol shall only be run in conjunction with and
ancillary to a restaurant and / or café and shall be closed when this restaurant / café is
closed.
* A Deed of Variation dated 10th June 2015 permits amusement machines
providing they are not for “betting or participation in a lottery”. This deed of
variation is only in place whilst LED are in occupation.
* No selling alcohol on the second floor (LED do in fact sell alcohol – and there are cash
registers at the second floor bar)
 Alienation – no restriction
 Right of pre-emption if Council sells land before 16th January 2034.
page 148

The entirety of the property is let on a single lease dated 10 June 2015 to LED Leisure
Management Limited.




▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪















Term - 25 years from 10 June 2015
Current Rent - £200,000 from year 5 (June 2019) increased to £217,417 from June 2020.
Other Rent - one peppercorn per annum (if demanded) for equipment.
Repairs & Maintenance –
LED responsible for interior of the Building so as to include:
the internal plaster, plasterboard and surface finishes of all walls
the whole of any internal, non-load bearing walls that are entirely within the Property
the floorboards or floor screed or other floor surfaces above the joists or other structural
floor supports supporting them
the ceiling plaster, plasterboard or other ceiling surface below the joists or other structural
ceiling supports supporting them
all Service Media that exclusively serves the Property
the rooftop condensers for the heating and cooling systems for the Building and the
pipework serving them
the CCTV system including those parts mounted on the exterior of the Building
the floor surface only of the balconies
the L’s Fixtures & Fittings
EDDC responsible for:
the main structure of the Building including the roof and roof structures, the roof system,
the foundations, the external walls and cladding, the internal load bearing walls, the
structural steelwork, the columns, beams, joists, the guttering and guttering system, the
structure of the balconies (including any balcony railings or walls) and the parapets and
mansafe system
all parts of the Building lying below the floor surfaces or above the ceilings of the Property
all of the external windows window frames and glazing in them the external doors and the
external door frames and glazing in them
all boundary walls, fences and railings of the Building
automated window and door systems
all Service Media (save for Service Media that exclusively serve the Property)
Note: Tenant also responsible for cleaning and clearing of guttering and downpipes along
with keeping glass in windows clean. Also for maintaining the bowling equipment (incl
shoes, balls etc) and play area equipment.
Service Charge – For sums incurred or to be incurred on maintenance and treatment of
cladding only up to maximum of £2,500 per annum increased annually in accordance with
RPI.
Use – As per headlease.
Break option - Tenant only Break in year 15 on giving not less than 6 months’ notice
(2030) – 10 years term certain remaining
Rent Review - Every five years in line with CPI, subject to cap and collar and with 1 st
review due June 2020, now implemented and agreed.
Insurance – Landlord insures but recovers cost from Tenant. Includes plate glass.
Alienation - Not to assign or charge part only, on the grant of underlease –not to assign,
sub-underlet or charge part only, assign or sub underlet of whole is permitted with
landlords consent. Underlease rent to be at market level in accordance with the rent
reviews.
LED have sublet circa 1500 sq ft to David and Lucy Calland (t/a Budgens) in
2016 for 10 years with a tenant only break in 2021. The rent is stepped across the 1st 5
years.

2.7

Acquisition Advice
page 149

Lambert Smith Hampton advised the Council and before offer was submitted, advised the
following:
 Value to market as an investment based on income from LED. Acknowledged that the
investment was worth an additional sum to the Council over and above other purchasers
on basis of Council’s marriage value and ability, unlike any other purchaser, to amend / lift
restrictions within the lease such as use and alienation clauses and by doing so increasing
rental value. There is also the marriage value from owning immediately adjacent sites.
These figure are not provided in this report due to commercial sensitivity.
 Rental value should Council own and LED vacate – By subdividing the building into parts
and relaxing the user covenants (which only the Council as purchaser can do) would
generate an enhanced value. Again, this figure is not provided in this report due to
commercial sensitivity.
The Council has advice on the value based on the LED income stream, the value should
LED vacate and the building be split into separate entities but for the same principal uses
and for the scenario should LED vacate and the uses at the building change. This advice
informed the Council in its decision to invest and on its purchase price.
There is also the added dimension of the Queens Drive space and Harbour View Café site.
In bringing forward the proposed new leisure scheme at Queens Drive the Council will need
to give consideration as to the extent to which any new offering will either compete or
complement existing businesses such as at Ocean Blue.
2.8

CIF Objectives
The Treasury Management Code and therefore also the Investment Framework prioritises,
in order of importance the following 3 criteria, all achieved through this investment:






Security – protecting the capital sums invested from loss –Enhanced in this instance
through marriage value by merging the Council’s existing freehold interest with the
leasehold interest.
Liquidity – ensuring the funds invested are available when needed i.e. asset could be
disposed – By merging of interests and marriage value created this opportunity
excels in this.
Yield – an acceptable rate of return from investment – Acceptable for Income Plus
Fund (IPF) from year 1.

Whilst at 1st sight this investment opportunity seems to most neatly sit within the Income
Only Fund (IOF)– purely to drive a commercial return, its proximity to the Council’s adjacent
land at Queens Drive and Harbour Road Café along with the ability by merging interests in
Ocean and lifting covenants to potentially achieve a more vibrant and dynamic mix within
and as part of a wider scheme incorporating Queens Drive space makes it possible to use
the Income Plus Fund (IPF). The investment opportunity was scored against both weighted
scoring matrices, agreed previously by Cabinet to inform the types of investment to pursue
and the tests and criteria for each were passed.
2.9

Agreed Due Diligence Post Offer

page 150

Building & Structural Survey - Commissioned through NPS Group and considered External
Envelope, Internal Envelope, Structural Report and Building Services Report. Identified no
areas of particular concern.
2.10

Relationship with LED
This investment is managed as a commercial investment with the sole objectives of
protecting the capital sum invested from loss, ensuring liquidity i.e. asset can be disposed
of if needed and ideally at an enhanced value and that there is an acceptable yield
generated from the investment. The fact that it is LED as tenant is irrelevant and in respect
of their occupation of this building, they will be treated in exactly the same way as any other
commercial tenant and with no preferential treatment given whatsoever. If LED default on
lease obligations then EDDC to take same enforcement / forfeiture actions as with any
investment.

page 151

Agenda Item 26
Recommendations for Cabinet that will resolve in an action being taken:
Housing Review Board on 17 September 2020
Minute 72 Advantage South West - renewal of subscription
RECOMMENDED: that Cabinet approve that the Council continue paying the annual
subscription to maintain the membership to Advantage South West.
Minute 73 Air source heat pumps
RECOMMENDED: that Cabinet approve the continued use and installation of air source
heat pumps as a viable carbon efficient alternative to conventional boilers.
Minute 75 Climate change action plan
RECOMMENDED: that the Housing Review Board recommend to Cabinet that:
1. Members agree to the climate strategy actions detailed in the report.
2. Members endorse the cultural shift required to move to a carbon neutral housing
service within 20 years.
3. Approval is given for the need for an additional Programme Works Officer who will
focus on energy efficiency measures and drive forward the programme for
improvements to the housing stock, with additional funding being designated from the
Housing Revenue Account.
Minute 78 Finance report to end August 2020
RECOMMENDED: that Cabinet agree the budget reallocations within the report, note the
impact assessments and approve the report on the Housing Revenue Account financial
position to end of August 2020.
Minute 79 Stock condition survey
RECOMMENDED: that Cabinet approve the delivery of the stock condition survey by an
external consultant sourced through an approved procurement framework.
Minute 80 Formal complaints
RECOMMENDED: that Cabinet approve:
1. that the Housing Leadership Team re-iterate the importance of outstanding customer
care, considering additional training and awareness opportunities where appropriate.
2. that the Housing Operational Managers group reviews processes to ensure they are
effectively co-ordinating responses and updates on formal complaints and councillor
enquiries raised with them.
3. that the Housing Services Manager works with the council’s Information and
Complaints Officer, and customers on the Designated Tenant Complaints Panel, to
self-assess against the ombudsman’s new code by 31 December 2020.
4. that the Housing Services Manager ensures that better communication is given from
Housing Officers in responding to queries from tenants to effectively manage
expectations of customers.
Minute 81 Sailor's Rest, Exmouth - allocations and management
RECOMMENDED: that Cabinet approve the policy to provide support and clarity to the
allocation and management process for the flats at 18A and 18B St. Andrews Road,
Exmouth, whilst they are being used as move on accommodation.

page 152

Minute 82 Structure of the housing service
RECOMMENDED:
1. that Cabinet note the changes to the structure and approve the need for the
recruitment of a specialist Mental Health Support Officer to work within the housing
services team.
2. that Cabinet approve additional funding (£37,500 – Grade 6 with associated costs) is
designated from the Housing Revenue Account.

page 153

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL
Minutes of the meeting of Housing Review Board held at Council Chamber,
Exmouth Town Hall, Exmouth EX8 1AW on 19 September 2019
Attendance list at end of document
The meeting started at 2.30 pm and ended at 5.00 pm

29

Public speaking
Peter Sullivan, Vice Chairman informed members of the sad news that Victor Kemp who
was formerly a member of the Board for many years had recently passed away. The
funeral had been held last Friday at which both Board members and Officers had
attended. All present wished to thank Victor for his work for the Board and members sat
quietly in remembrance.
Councillor Ian Hall wished to talk to Board members on the Right to Buy scheme and the
subsidy given to Housing Associations by the Government. The Board needed to look
forward on both issues, particularly as he considered that the service provided by EDDC
as a Housing Authority to its tenants was of a higher standard than that provided by
Housing Associations. Cllr Hall outlined the need for options to be explored that involve
EDDC looking at ways its own stock can be further increased as well as what additional
funding could be available from central government to do this. Linked to the issue of the
Right to Buy. The Acting Housing Service Lead highlighted the desire of the Portfolio
Holder to create a working group that could look specifically at how right to buy receipts
can be spent over the coming years as we see the need to accelerate spending as
opposed to having to pay receipts back. Members were invited to contact the Acting
Housing Service Lead directly if they wish to be part of this work.
He reported that there were particular anti-social behaviour problems in the east of the
district and it was accepted that there was the need to provide extra resources to help
our communities.

30

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes of the Housing Review Board meeting held on 14 August 2019 were
confirmed and signed as a true record.

31

Declarations of interest
Councillor Ian Hall: Personal interest – mother was a housing tenant and used Home
Safeguard. Chairman of the Millwey Rise Action Group. Member of Devon County
Council.
Councillor Dan Ledger: Personal interest – employed by a third party contractor for the
current repairs and maintenance service.
Peter Sullivan: Personal interest – housing tenant.
Cat Summers: Personal interest – housing tenant.
Pat Gore: Personal interest – housing tenant
Alek Williams: Personal interest – housing tenant

32

Matters of urgency
page 154

Housing Review Board 19 September 2019

There were no matters of urgency raised at the meeting.
33

Confidential/exempt item(s)
There were no confidential or exempt items.

34

Housing Review Board Forward Plan
Amy Gilbert Jeans, Acting Housing Service Lead presented the forward plan and advised
Members that the forward plan acted as a reminder of agenda items to come forward to
future meetings. Members were reminded that they could add further items to the next
forward plan by informing either herself or the Democratic Services Officer. It was noted
that the Brexit report had been removed from the forward plan as it would be considered
by Cabinet.
A poverty report was being prepared in conjunction with Libby Jarrett, Service Lead
Revenues and Benefits and would be presented to Overview Committee in November
and would also be considered by the November meeting of the Board.
In response to concerns raised by Cllr Ian Hall, Amy Gilbert-Jeans suggested an
information report on financial structures and set-ups of Housing Associations and the
differences between us as a Local Authority in order to ensure the Boards understanding
of both and where any opportunities could arise.
Amy Gilbert-Jeans referred back to the Right to Buy working group and suggested
Members may want to focus part of the work the group do on lobbying Central
Government in relation to the Right to Buy scheme around the perceived unfairness and
risk to the organisation that a depletion of stock creates.
Members were encouraged to read the Consumer Regulation Review 2018-19 that had
been provided as an information report and suggested a report is brought back to the
November meeting detailing our position in relation to the Regulatory Code.
RESOLVED: that the forward plan be noted and updated.

35

Producing a Carbon footprint for Housing
Members noted that John Golding, Strategic Lead - Housing, Health & Environment had
been championing Climate Change on behalf on the whole of the Council. There was the
need to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint where possible.
The report took forward our commitment given as part of the Devon Climate Change
Declaration, to produce an accurate carbon footprint for the Councils activities. This is a
complex piece of work and is vital that we perform accurately as this will create a
baseline against which we will be measuring our journey towards carbon neutrality.
The expertise that can be found at the University of Exeter was engaged to assist us with
this piece of work. This will also provide an independent and auditable assessment of our
carbon baseline.
As members of SWEEG (South West Energy & Environment Group) we receive
favourable rates when commissioning the University to provide advice and investigations
in relation to environmental matters.
page 155

Housing Review Board 19 September 2019

The Housing Service has a carbon footprint and calculating this will form an important
part of the Council’s overall footprint and therefore a key element of our ambition to
become carbon neutral as a Council.
A Board member reported that the Council’s website needed a more up to date
statement as the link present on climate change referred to 2017.
RESOLVED

36

1. to produce a carbon footprint for our Housing Service, identifying
and quantifying the carbon emissions from our activities and
assets. This includes our contractors work on our behalf and the
homes and buildings in our ownership and control.
2. that the Council’s communications team be requested to update the
link on climate change on the website to include more up to date
information.
3. that paper copies of the agenda be only sent to members of the
Board on request.

Draft of the Annual Report to Tenants 2018-19
Members were requested to comment on and approve the attached draft of the Annual
Report to tenants. The draft is in word text format only and will be graphically designed
once the wording has been finalised. The reason was to
meet with good practice and provide performance information to tenants.
Peter Sullivan, Vice Chairman, reported that this report had been considered yesterday
at the Tenants Forum and they were happy with the new format. It was accepted that a
footnote should be added explaining regarding changes to the way statistic are captured.
RESOLVED that the Board approve the content of the annual report to tenants, subject
to the information being graphically designed for reproduction in the
December Housing Matters magazine

37

HMO Update and Expenditure
Members were requested to approve works to a recently acquired property that exceed
initial budget estimates under powers delegated to the Strategic Lead Housing, Health
and Environment – Housing 25 - authority to enter into contracts, including the
appointment, liaison and monitoring of contractors and consultants working on Council
homes.
The reason behind the report was to ensure that the refurbishment of the property meet
regulatory compliance requirements and is suitable for occupation by our tenants, this
also involved the entire refurbishment of the kitchen area that had not previously been
considered. It was noted that the winning tender was £128,522 compared to the original
estimate of £25,000.Members expressed their disappointment at the increase in costs
and noted that the officer responsible had now left the Council and a new highly skilled
Property and Asset Manager had been appointed to oversee this area going forward.
RECOMMENDED 1. that the update provided be noted.
2. that further expenditure is approved to ensure that the property
recently acquired in Morton Road, Exmouth, is fit for purpose, using
available budgets, by the Strategic Lead for Housing, Health and
Environment.
page 156

Housing Review Board 19 September 2019

3. that the further expenditure be approved, subject to available
budgets by the Service Lead for Housing, Health and Environment

38

Community Development Update
The Chairman welcomed Aaron Clark and Alex Gibson, Community Development
Workers to the meeting. They gave an update on the activities on their work, including
actual case studies and how it fitted within the wider context of the Housing Service Plan
2019/20. Members noted that Aaron Clark was involved with producing Mental Health
strategies on behalf of the Council, the first draft of which would be available in
December.
The report ensured the Housing Review Board were fully appraised of why Community
Development Workers were employed and how their work can be central to achieving
the wider objectives of the authority. This provided an asset based community approach
that allowed residents to become more actively involved in supporting their communities.
Members emphasised the need for a sustainable funding stream to continue this
excellent work.
RESOLVED that Members note the work that is underway that focuses on building our
communities to be more resilient.

39

Update on Integrated Management contract
John Taylor, Property and Asset Manager reported that the new Integrated Asset
Management Contract commenced on the 1 July 2019.
This report updated Members on progress as we approached the end of the first 3
months of our new contracting arrangement with Ian Williams Ltd. The purpose of the
report was to ensure Members were up to date with new contracting arrangements
covering the maintenance of our housing stock.
Members noted that the Contractors were currently working on 10 voids a week
compared to an average of 5. Tenants had responded well to the new repairs contract
and the KPIs were monitored on a regular basis. The importance of getting the right staff
in place was emphasised and there were currently 5-6 office based staff and 22
operatives working on jobs.
John Taylor took Members through the detail of each KPI with a summary of current
performance in each area.
In response to a question, it was reported that the Handyperson Scheme was still
available, although there was only one member of staff available at the moment as one
had left for another job, but he would be replaced in due course.
RESOLVED that the Board be aware of the commencement of the Integrated Asset
Management Contract and early progress be noted.
page 157

Housing Review Board 19 September 2019

40

Update on Your Home, Your Well Being Research Project
Natalie Brown, Information & Analysis Officer provided the Board with an update on the
progress of the three year research project being undertaken in partnership with
LiveWest and the University of Birmingham.
The results of the study provided information on the relationship between housing and
wellbeing and landlord satisfaction.
The report attempted to raise the profile of the project and to recognise the contribution
the project is now making to national debates. It was hoped that the next stage of results
could be reported to the November meeting of the Board.
RESOLVED that the ongoing progress of year 2 of the project including the wider
contribution of the study to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government Committee enquiry into the long term delivery of social and
affordable rented housing be noted.

41

Residents Involvement Strategy 2019-2022
The Chairman welcomed Sue Saunders and Sue Dawson who read out the following
statement giving their view of the new Residents Involvement Strategy.
“I became an involved Tenant in 2006 the year the Tenant & Leaseholder Customer
Panel was formed, a fully constituted committee, with elected members. Formal
meetings were held under the leadership of a Chair and Vice-chair. Debates were
minuted and votes recorded.
The Tenant Representative Group replaced it, its constitution also gave it minutes and
recorded votes. The TRG took a closer look at Housing management, unfortunately,
some members thought the work too onerous, as Chairs of the Service Review Groups
were required to write reports.
Then came the TIF, no
constitution no minutes and no voting. The only record of matters discussed, an Action
Plan. Now the TIF is to be scrapped, leaving in its place The Scrutiny Panel, the
Complaints Group, and two SRGs. The Strategy’s answer to this depletion is Focus
Groups, Forums and on-line chats.
With this new strategy we will have no meetings where we can come together and
discuss the work of each group, just impotent, isolated little groups with no written
records and no way to communicate with other tenants in order to gauge their views
BEFORE decisions are made.
There is a force growing with-in the Housing Department for meetings to be held via the
internet. This new Involvement Strategy is designed to bring that goal nearer. Is this
also the way the Council and the Housing Review Board are moving, will full Council
meetings be held on Twitter or on-line? No of course not because you know there is no
substitute for formalised face to face debate.
I recall a time when tenants were fully involved at all levels. I personally was part of the
team responsible for preparations for the Audit Commission investigation. I was on the
team that set up the tenant Scrutiny Group and another which set up this Board, of which
I was proud to be a founder member. I worked alongside tenants such Ted Brown, Ann
Bickham and Victor Kemp, who sad to relate died recently, these people understood the
responsibility needed to be a tenant representative. It’s obvious the officers don’t share
that view.
Version 3 of the new strategy given to tenants to consult upon is, in Sue’s opinion, an
insult to our intelligence. Some wording has obviously been cut and pasted, as
page 158

Housing Review Board 19 September 2019

evidenced when the text contains the word City when describing East Devon. As far as
she is aware there are no cities within the East Devon boundary. This is just an example
of the level of importance officers are placing on Tenant Involvement.
The new Residents Involvement Strategy is being described as an EVOLUTION,
incidentally, a word I suggested before I became aware of the true nature of the strategy
being proposed I would now describe it as a Mutation.
Evolution suggests an improvement, a moving forward. In my opinion this strategy is a
giant step backwards.”

Members considered the contents of the refreshed Resident Involvement Strategy and
adopting it as fit for purpose for the period 2019/22. The purpose of the report was to
ensure our Resident Involvement Strategy is agreed at the highest level and recorded for
all to see. It was the result of 18 months of consultation with tenants.
It was noted that the movement to a more internet based approach was designed to
improvement the involvement of a younger resident demographic and those less
physically able and was essential if the Resident Involvement Strategy was to be fit for
the future.
Peter Sullivan, Vice Chairman reported that tenants had been consulted on this issue for
18 months. The younger age and disabled tenants were really struggling to be involved
and the new strategy presented a number of opportunities for this to be enhanced. These
days there were other ways to communicate other than face to face meetings and we
must all work harder at making this happen. The Council needs to modernise and use
technology. The new Resident Involvement Strategy would help make tenants more
involved.
RESOLVED that the Resident Involvement Strategy 2019/22 be adopted.
42

Public Health Strategic Plan
The Chairman welcomed Helen Wharam, Public Health Project Officer who gave a
presentation on the East Devon Public Health Strategic Plan 2019-2023.
Councillor Ian Hall reported that the east of the district was being cut off and that the
East Devon Public Health Strategic Plan 2019-2023 needed to ensure it was district
wide, which meant including the east of the district. He considered that the plan
contained nothing at all about issues around drugs and county lines.
Helen Wharam reported that the priorities in the Plan were based on statistical evidence
from Devon County and are intended to help focus resources. We will work across the
district, with a focus on those areas of most need. She advised that EDDC has an AntiSocial Behaviour and Community Safety Coordinator.

RESOLVED that the report be noted.
43

Consumer Regulation Review 2018-19
Members of the Board received details of the Consumer Regulation Review 2018-19.
This provided a summary of the Regulator’s consumer regulation work for the year 2018page 159

Housing Review Board 19 September 2019

19. It included case studies to demonstrate the approach to consumer regulation, as well
as key lessons the Regulator of Social Housing wished to share with the housing sector
and explained its current role and mandate as set by Parliament.
Amy Gilbert-Jeans reminded Members that as set out in the Forward Plan, a position
statement on our performance in relation to this report will be brought back to the
November meeting.
RESOLVED that the report be noted

44

Housing Revenue Account update to end of August 2019
Members receive a report from Rob Ward, Accountant which provided the Housing
Review Board with the current position to August 2019 and details of the year end
forecast of the draft Housing Revenue Account for 2019/20. This account shows the
main areas of anticipated income and expenditure on landlord activities for the year
ahead. Producing a Housing Revenue Account has been a statutory requirement for
Councils who manage and own their housing stock for some time, and therefore a key
document for the Board to influence.
Rob apologised that the report had been a late addition to the agenda.
The report also provides the position of the HRA capital programme for both affordable
housing and other capital items outside of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan.
Members requested that they receive a copy of the presentation.
RESOLVED that the Housing Revenue Account update to August 2019 be approved and
it be recommended Cabinet.

Attendance List
Board members present:
Councillor Tony McCollum (Chairman)
Peter Sullivan, Tenant (Vice-Chairman)
Christine Drew, Independent Community Representative
Pat Gore, Tenant
Alek Williams, Tenant
Councillor Ian Hall
Councillor Dan Ledger
Councillor Helen Parr
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting)
Megan Armstrong
Paul Millar
Officers in attendance:
Sue Bewes, Landlord Services Manager
Natalie Brown, Information and Analysis Officer (Housing)
Amy Gilbert-Jeans, Service Lead Housing
Christopher Lane
Paul Lowe, Housing Enabling and Allocations Manager
Andrew Mitchell, Housing Needs and Strategy Manager
Giles Salter, Solicitor
page 160

Housing Review Board 19 September 2019

John Taylor, Property and Asset Manager
Rob Ward, Accountant
Helen Wharam, Public Health Project Officer
Councillor apologies:
Cat Summers, Tenant
Councillor Kim Bloxham

Chairman

Date:

page 161

